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Except for the historical information presentedt thatters discussed in this Report, including aoedpct development and
commercialization goals and expectations, our plamg anticipated timing and results of clinical épment activities, potential market
opportunities, revenue expectations and the patkativantages and applications of our products pratluct candidates under development,
include forward-looking statements that involvéksignd uncertainties. Our actual results may difignificantly from the results discussed in
the forward-looking statements. Factors that cozddse or contribute to such differences include doe not limited to, those discussed under
the caption “Risk Factors.” Unless the context regs otherwise, references to “we,” “us,” “our” andVericel” refer to Vericel Corporatior

PART |
Item 1. Business
General Information

Vericel Corporation is a leader in developing patispecific expanded cellular therapies for usthéntreatment of patients with severe
diseases and conditions. We market two autologelisherapy products in the United States: Car®@d@utologous cultured chondrocytes), an
autologous chondrocyte implant for the treatmerdanfilage defects in the knee, and Epicel® (calfuepidermal autografts), a permanent skil
replacement for the treatment of patients with egepnal or full-thickness burns comprising grediten or equal to 30 percent of total body
surface area. We are also developing MACI™, a thederation autologous chondrocyte implant forttbatment of cartilage defects in the
knee, and ixmyelocel-T, a patient-specific mulfigielr therapy for the treatment of advanced healtife due to ischemic dilated
cardiomyopathy.

The following table summarizes our product porti@dind product candidate pipeline:

PORTFOLIO

PRODUCT PRECLRICAL

v

C:Carticel

FDA ORPHAN DESIGNATION

Acquisition of Sanofi's CTRM Business

On May 30, 2014, we completed the acquisition ef@ell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine (CTRM)rrss of Sanofi, a French
société anonyméSanofi), certain assets, including all of thestaniding equity interests of Genzyme Biosurgery fqu8v known as Astrém
BIOSCIENCES DK ApS), a wholly-owned subsidiary @fr®fi and over 250 patents and patent applicatbi@anofi and certain of its
subsidiaries and assumed certain liabilities fappses of acquiring the portion of the CTRM busineghich researches, develops,
manufactures, markets and sells Carticel, MACI Bpitel.
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Our Strategy

Our objective is to become the leading cell therapg regenerative medicine company by developiramufacturing and marketing best-in-
class therapies for patients with significant unmetlical needs that require the repair and regtéoeraf damaged tissues and organs.

To achieve this objective, we intend to:

*  Fully integrate the acquired commercial stage CTiRIdiness and improve efficiencies to reduce redurida and related costs, as
well as take advantage of complementary techngbbatjorms;

* Increase the operating income from the U.S. Cdréicd Epicel business and become profitable withaising additional capital
unless required for additional strategic transastior other events;

»  Lower the manufacturing costs for Carticel throaghimproved ratio of Carticel unit sales to biopsas well as other efficiencies;
e Assess and capitalize on opportunities to increagenue from Carticel in the U.S.;

» Develop and execute on a regulatory strategy ®apiproval of MACI in the U.S.;

* Implement a commercial strategy for a profitablatreduction of MACI in the European Union (EU);

»  Expand Epicel usage in the severely burned pateginent by increasing the level of commercial dedit to the product and
providers;

e Obtain U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) amyal to label Epicel for use in pediatric patieatsl a determination from the
FDA that Epicel meets the criteria to be sold faofiy; and

e Complete our Phase 2b ixCELL-DCM clinical study fioe treatment of advanced heart failure due toeisic DCM and, if
successful, progress ixmyelocel-T into pivotal ghaslinical studies for this orphan indication.

Our Marketed Products

We believe that our acquired CTRM business has hgsaneer in the development and commercializaifamutologous cell therapies. The
CTRM portfolio includes two autologous cell thergmpducts marketed in the U.S and a third whichbdesen approved in the EU, each of
which are further described below: Carticel (augolas cultured chondrocytes), a first-generatiomped for autologous chondrocyte
implantation (ACI) currently marketed in the U.BLACI (matrix-applied characterized autologous crdtlichondrocytes), a third-generation
ACI product, and Epicel (cultured epidermal autétgdaa permanent skin replacement for full thicknburns greater than or equal to 30% of
total body surface area (TBSA), which is curremtigrketed in the U.S. Our product candidate podfalso includes ixmyelocel-T, a patient-
specific multicellular therapy currently in devetopnt for the treatment of advanced heart failure tduischemic dilated cardiomyopathy
(DCM).

Background of Cartilage Defects

Damage to cartilage in the knee can occur fromeacatima or repetitive trauma from playing spatsrcising, working or performing
everyday activities. When damaged, cartilage irktieee does not usually heal on its own. If lefreated, cartilage defects can progress and
lead to degenerative joint disease, osteoartlaitis potentially require total knee replacemenbar pption for younger and more active
patients.

For patients diagnosed with cartilage defects etlage several treatment options, including arttopgcdebridement/chondroplasty, marrow
stimulation techniques such as microfracture, anmally invasive procedure that can be performedrdyuthe initial arthroscopic procedure,
osteochondral autografts for smaller cartilagerieg) allografts, and autologous chondrocyte imgléor larger injuries.

Carticel

Carticel, a first-generation ACI product for thedtment and repair of cartilage defects in the kisale first and currently the only FDA-
approved autologous cartilage repair product. €alris indicated for the repair of symptomatic itage defects of the femoral condyle (mec
lateral or trochlea) caused by acute or repettti@ema, in patients who have had an inadequatemsspto a prior arthroscopic or other surg
repair procedure such as debridement (the remdwdrmaged or defective cartilage), microfractuhe (¢reation of tiny fractures in the bone to
encourage new cartilage development, drilling/abraarthroplasty), or osteochondral allograft/augdg(transferring cartilage from one joint
to another). Carticel received a Biologics LiceAgplication (BLA) approval in 1997 and is currentharketed in the U.S. It is generally used
on patients with larger lesions (greater than F¢m
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Carticel is implanted by orthopedic surgeons afteaining a cartilage biopsy during an initial aocopic procedure. The patient’s
chondrocytes, which are the cells that producelage, are isolated and expanded in a manufactgriogess compliant with current Good
Manufacturing Practices (cGMP). During a secongjisal procedure, the cells are implanted in the¢ilage defect under a sutured periosteal
flap, where they produce new hyaline cartilage. fiteeapeutic advantage of this approach relativathier approaches, such as microfractui
that the autologous chondrocytes produce the hgalimtilage that is naturally present in the kmather than fibrous cartilage which lacks
durability and the wear characteristics of hyataetilage.

The Study of the Treatment of Articular Repair (SR)Avas designed to determine the safety and effiod€articel in patients who had an
inadequate response to a prior cartilage repagguhare. Completed in 2005, this FDA post-approeatmitment was a four-year, prospective,
multicenter study of 154 patients at 29 participgites. In a clinically challenging populatiomgarised of patients who suffered moderate-to
large chondral defects and who failed at leastpyia surgical cartilage repair treatment, Cartideinonstrated long-term durability up to four
years and statistically significant and clinicaiganingful reductions in pain and improvement imction.

Market Opportunity for Carticel

In the U.S. annually, there are approximately liamlarthroscopic procedures and more than 250c0@@@lage surgical procedures. In
addition, approximately 50,000 have full thicknds$ects greater than 2 cm(2). Patients seek retegdtfor the repair of larger, symptomatic
femoral condyle cartilage defects caused by aautep®titive trauma. In our experience, patienésaten frustrated by recurring symptoms, a:
they tend to be young, active and motivated tornetol a high level of activity.

Typical initial cartilage surgical procedures indduchondroplasty (debridement) and/or microfractlireese two procedures account for
98% of all cartilage surgical procedures. Althougjtial microfracture results demonstrate pain sdonprovement, generally, only patients
with Class 1, or the smallest, defects do not égpee deterioration after 18 months. Patientsingaietreatment account for about 2.5% of
cartilage surgical repair market and often receiteer allograft, autograft or ACI. Treatment wiflarticel provides an opportunity to replace
the damaged cartilage with native hyaline cartilage

In the U.S., the orthopedic physician target aucken very concentrated, with 60% of the currenti€a business originating from
approximately 110 physicians. Our target audies@group of physicians who self-identify as orénghe formal specialty of sports medicine
physicians. We believe this target audience is@pprately 450 physicians. We currently have a 2@@e field force calling on these sports-
injury targeted orthopedic physician audience. Mwstate payers have a medical policy that allowatiment with Carticel. The 15 largest
payers have a formal medical policy for Carticepresenting 132 million covered lives.

Including sales both prior to and after the acgigisiof the CTRM business, in 2014 approximatelyOD, Carticel implants were performed,
which generated net revenues of approximately $8ll&n. Carticel revenue is subject to seasohalttiations with stronger sales occurrin
the fourth quarter and second quarter due to a puwftfactors including insurance copay limits dinel time of year patients prefer to start
rehabilitation. Over the last four years, the patage of annual sales by quarter has rangedlas/$offirst quarter, 22% to 24%; second
quarter, 24% to 25%; third quarter, 21% to 23%; muith quarter, 29% to 33%.

Epicel

Epicel (cultured epidermal autografts) is a pernmaskin replacement for full thickness burns gretian or equal to 30% of TBSA. Epicel
is currently the only FDA-approved autologous epitk product available for large total surface arems. Currently, fewer than 100 patients
are treated with Epicel in the U.S. each yearhénytear ended December 31, 2014, including salibspdve and post transaction, net revenues
were $9.5 million for Epicel.

Epicel is produced by isolating and expanding keoattes, which are the predominant cell type mépidermis or outer layer of the skin,
obtained from a small biopsy of a patient’s heakkin. Epicel is an important treatment optiongatients with severe burns because these
patients are generally understood to need a kemtia-based epithelium and there is very littlenskihich is the only other source of
keratinocyte-based epithelium, available for awaftgrfor these patients.

Epicel is a cell-based product that is regulatethieyCenter for Biologics Evaluation and Resea@BER) under medical device
authorities. Epicel was designated as a Humaaitddise Device (HUD) in 1998 and a Humanitarian Beaxemption (HDE) application for
the product was submitted in 1999. HUDs are devibat are intended for diseases or conditionsatfi@tt or are manifested in fewer than
4,000 individuals annually in the United Statesader the current HDE approval of 2007, Epicel cafmeosold for an amount that exceeds the
cost of research and development, fabrication dstdlzlition. However, pursuant to the Pediatric MatiDevice Safety and Improvement Act
of 2007 and the FDA Safety and Innovation Act 012QFDASIA), a HUD can be sold for profit if cematonditions are met.
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Under current law as recently amended by FDASIAH&TE holder can make a profit on its HUD after iigitey HDE approval if the device is:
(a)(i) intended for the treatment or diagnosis dfsease or condition that occurs in pediatricguas or in a pediatric subpopulation, and (ii) is
labeled for use in pediatric patients or in a peigdubpopulation in which the disease or conditiccurs, or (b) is intended for the treatmel
diagnosis of a disease or condition that does ooiroin pediatric patients or that occurs in padigiatients in such numbers that the
development of the device for such patients is issfide, highly impracticable, or unsafe. If theAMakes a determination that a HUD meets
the eligibility criteria, the HUD is permitted teelsold for profit after receiving HDE approval aad as the number of devices distributed in
any calendar year does not exceed the Annual Buston Number (ADN) for the device. The ADN is daténed by the FDA when it approv
the original HDE application, or when the agencgrapes an HDE supplement for an HDE approved beafagrenactment of FDASIA, if the
HDE holder seeks a determination for the HUD irH®E supplement based upon the prafiiking eligibility criteria, and the FDA determir
that the HUD meets the eligibility criteria.

We are currently investigating Epicel’s eligibilitgr exemption from the profit prohibition and haegjuested a pre-submission meeting
with the FDA to discuss the process and required fits submitting an HDE supplement for pediatise @nd to obtain a determination from
FDA that Epicel meets the criteria for an exempfiam the profit prohibition. Epicel is currentlyelmg sold at a price that reflects the cost of
research and development, fabrication and distdhut

Market Opportunity for Epicel

Each year in the U.S., more than 40,000 peopléaspitalized for burns. More than 2,000 of thediepts are treated for burns covering
more than 30% of their TBSA, the labeled indicationEpicel. Of these patients, fewer than 100 gadr are treated with Epicel. Currently,
the mortality rate for this group is approximat84po, partially due to the lack of healthy tissumnirwhich to harvest autografts. Although age
can vary, the typical Epicel patient is young aad kuffered full thickness burns due to occupaltigrmsehold or auto accidents, trash bur
with gasoline, inappropriate use of space heatecar@lessness with flammable materials. Many efitiost severely burned patients are
medivac transported to one of the 128 specialized benters across the U.S. While the average @aumehospital has less than 3 admissions
for burns annually, these specialized burn cersteesage over 200 admissions per year.

Relative to clinical need, we believe Epicel is endilized due to lack of consistent promotiondbefand burn center support. We expect
Epicel’s utility to grow as commercial and cliniaforts are appropriately dedicated to the produnct providers. Currently more than 40% of
our Epicel business comes from a single 70 bed temter. The 127 specialized burn care facilitethe U.S. have a total of approximately
1,700 burn beds as of 2012. Up until September 20&%bnly used one sales representative for seliigel and two partially dedicated
Medical Scientific Liaisons supporting Epicel ingas. We have recently expanded the Epicel sakes fto three representatives and intend to
increase the number of burn centers called upon.

Epicel revenue is subject to seasonal fluctuatinastly associated with the use of heating elemduntisig the colder months, with stronger
sales occurring in the winter months of the firstl dourth quarters, and weaker sales occurringerhbt summer months of the third quarter.
However, in any single year, this trend can be @ibdee to the extreme variability inherent with &gis low patient volume of fewer than 100
patients per year. Over the last four years, gregntage of annual sales by quarter has rangedl@ss: first quarter, 28%; second quarter,
24%; third quarter, 20%; and fourth quarter, 28Phe variability between the same quarters in cansexyears has been as high as 10% c
annual volume. While the number of patients tregidyear remains low, we expect these large swings/enue in some quarters to contit
In the year ended December 31, 2014, includingdad¢h pre and post transaction net revenues vpar@xdmately $9.5 million for Epicel.

MACI

MACI, is a third-generation ACI product for theateent of focal chondral cartilage defects in theek MACI received marketing
authorization in Europe in August 2013 by meetimg tequirements of the Advanced Therapy and Meali¢inoduct (ATMP) guidelines based
on the results of the SUMMIT trial in which MACI wananufactured at, and supplied from, the Cambyibigessachusetts site. MACI has b
commercially available in the EU since 1998. Adiden a small number of currently pending proceduasspart of the June 2014 restructuring
marketing of MACI has been temporarily suspendedfasugust 2014 primarily due to low utilization dan unfavorable pricing environment.
We believe that MACI has strong revenue potentidghe U.S. and we are discussing the approval reaints with the FDA. The timing and
process to gain approval in the U.S. is the sulgkatType B meeting with the FDA which is schedufer the middle of the second quarter.
The timing and strategy for a possible reintrodutin select EU countries have not yet been deterthi

Similar to Carticel, during an initial surgical mexure, a surgeon obtains a biopsy of healthylagetiand the chondrocytes are isolated,
expanded and uniformly seeded onto a bioabsorl3gige I/llla collagen membrane to form the implamticGMP manufacturing process.
Unlike Carticel, MACI is implanted during a minitarotomy in which the implant is trimmed to theesif the defect and fixed in the defect
with fibrin glue and without sutures.

The pivotal clinical trial supporting MACI registran in Europe, Superiority of MACI Implant to Miafracture Treatment (SUMMIT), was
completed in 2012. Analysis of this 144 patientesigrity study demonstrated that there is a stasily significant
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and clinically meaningful improvement in the corpary endpoint of pain and function for those patidreated with a MACI implant
compared to microfracture which was the curremntddad of care.

MACI was obtained via the acquisition by Genzymep@oation, a subsidiary of Sanofi, of Verigen AGefigen) in 2005. As part of its
acquisition of Verigen, Genzyme Corporation agreechake cash payments to Verigen upon the achieveofielevelopmental milestones
relating to regulatory and commercialization of MIAG the United States. In connection with our dsijion of the CTRM business, we agre
that if we further developed MACI in the U.S., wewid be obligated to pay these milestone paymémtbe third quarter, at the request of the
Company, Sanofi entered into a settlement agreemigmthe former shareholders of Verigen wherelgsthshareholders agreed to discharge
all obligations related to these MACI milestone paynts in exchange for a one-time cash payment.&féfllion (approximately
$3.2 million). We accrued the liability in the tthiquarter and paid the amount in full in Octob@t£ This agreement was reached in full
settlement of any and all potential obligation&/&rigen related to future MACI developmental mitews.

Market Opportunity for MACI

MACI, if introduced in the U.S., should both reaCarticel and expand the market since we belied€Mhares the advantages of
Carticel, while being less invasive, shorteningcedure time, eliminating the need for a periostaavest, having a lower frequency of
subsequent surgical interventions and an improgedvery period.

Marrow Donation

Like many companies and academic institutions cotidg research on cell therapy, we require consistecess to high quality bone
marrow. As part of an effort to lower our costshee begun collecting bone marrow for researctussegy our bone marrow collection center
located in San Diego, CA and our wholly-owned sdiasy Marrow Donation, LLC. We initiated commercgalles of bone marrow in
June 2014. Based on the strong interest that weveedxists across the biopharmaceutical industtiié use of bone marrow and bone
marrow-derived cells as drug discovery tools, wieelie that this represents an opportunity for cmpany.

Ixmyelocel-T Technology Platform

Our preapproval stage portfolio also includes ixlogel-T, a unique patient-specific multicellulaethpy derived from an adult patient’s
own bone marrow, which utilizes our proprietanghiy automated and scalable manufacturing systamp@oprietary cell manufacturing
process significantly expands the mesenchymal stfoslls (MSCs) and M2-like anti-inflammatory maghages in the patient’s bone marrow
mononuclear cells while retaining many of the hexpatetic cells. These cell types are known to regulhe immune response and play a key
role in tissue repair and regeneration by resolpathologic inflammation, promoting angiogenesig] eemodeling ischemic tissue. We beli
the novelty and advantage of using ixmyelocel-thésexpansion of a unique combination of cell papahs, including MSCS and M2-like
macrophages, which secrete a distinct combinati@mgiogenic and regenerative factors, and pogkesability to remain anfihflammatory ir
the face of inflammatory challenge.

MSCs and M2-like macrophages have a wide rangétddical activities that promote repair and regatien of damaged tissues through
the paracrine effects of their secreted factorsyelbas their direct cell activities. These cgtsduce high levels of potent anti-inflammatory
and angiogenic factors, as well as factors involmegktracellular matrix remodeling. These cellsoahave direct activities such as phagocy
of cellular debris and apoptotic cells, which cohthe inflammatory response, uptake of LDL and@eai of cholesterol, and remodeling of
extracellular matrix.

The following illustration summarizes the multifdelogical activities of ixmyelocel-T that promatepair and regeneration of ischemic
tissue:
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Studies examining the impact of ixmyelocel-T on lamnumbilical vein endothelial celis vitro demonstrate the secretion of @ogiogenic
factors, enhanced migration of endothelial cellfaing injury, increased endothelial cell proliégion, and branch formation. Treatment with
ixmyelocel-T in a rat model of hind limb ischenmfavivo resulted in significantly increased blood flow pesibn and capillary density, gene
expression and plasma levels of the anti-inflammnyatgtokine. Our studies demonstrate that ixmydidcbkrings to bear a dynamic
combination of angiogenic and anti-inflammatoryeet§, which facilitate ischemic tissue repair.

Ixmyelocel-T has several features that we beligegpamarily responsible for success in treatinglapatients with severe ischemic
cardiovascular diseases such as advanced hearefdile to ischemic DCM:

Patient-specific (autologous)}— We start with the patient’s own cells, which aceepted by the patient’s immune system, allowing
the cells to integrate into existing functionabtiss. We believe that this characteristic of oarapy eliminates both the risk of
rejection and the need to use immunosuppressivaegigre- or post-therapy. Our data also suggkataxmyelocel-T may provide
the potential for long-term engraftment and tissepir.

Expanded— We begin with a small amount of bone marrow friva patient (up to 60 ml) and significantly expahne number of
certain cell types, primarily MSCs and M2-like aimfilammatory macrophages, to a substantially greatimber than are present in
the patient’s own bone marrow (up to 200 timesritimber of certain cell types compared with thetisigboone marrow).

Multicellular — We believe the multiple cell types in ixmyelodelwhich are normally found in bone marrow busmaller
guantities, possess the key functions requiredefducing chronic inflammation and promoting angioggs and tissue repair. By
reducing inflammation, we believe that ixmyelocepibvides the ideal conditions to allow for thegtio of new tissue and blood
vessels.

Minimally invasive — Our procedure for collectibgne marrow can be performed in an out-patieningesind takes approximately
15 minutes. Administration of ixmyelocel-T for titreatment of advanced heart failure due to ischelitited cardiomyopathy is
performed in the cardiac catheterization laborateing a cell injection catheter system in a omeetprocedure. Safe -Bone marroy
and bone marrow-derived therapies have been u$elgt aad efficaciously in medicine for over threscddes. Ixmyelocel-T leverages
this body of scientific study and medical experirend appears well tolerated in over 200 patigetted to date.

Ixmyelocel-T Clinical Development Programs

Our clinical development programs are focused ahves$ing areas of high unmet medical need in sggkrenic ischemic cardiovascular
diseases. We have completed our Phase 1/2 cliniaislin DCM, and we are currently running our &b ixCELL-DCM study, which is a
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clitial for patients with advanced heart failureedo ischemic DCM.

6




Table of Contents

Ixmyelocel-T has been granted a U.S. Orphan Drgggdation by the FDA for the treatment of DCM. Wsoahave an ongoing ixmyelocel-
T clinical study for the treatment of craniofadiatonstruction, for which we expect results byftrs half of 2016, and have conducted clini
studies for the treatment of CLI.

Heart Failure Due to Dilated Cardiomyopathy

Heart failure represents a significant unmet mediead and a growing public health problem. The Aca® Heart Association reports that
there are approximately six million patients cuthesuffering from heart failure in the United Statand an estimated 550,000 new cases in tl
U.S. each year. Current medical costs to treattpatients exceed $25 billion and this is expetdedore than triple to nearly $80 billion by
2030 as a result of a growing patient populatiodh e high cost of the limited treatment alternadivor advanced heart failure patients, as
described below.

DCM is a leading cause of heart failure and of thieansplantation in the United States. DCM issedse characterized by weakening of th
heart muscle, thinning of the heart walls, enlargenof the heart chambers, and the inability tdicehtly pump blood throughout the body.
Patients with DCM typically present with symptoniscongestive heart failure, including limitationsphysical activity and shortness of bre
Ischemic DCM is associated with atherosclerotidizarascular disease and prior heart attacks atietimmost common form of dilated
cardiomyopathy. Patient prognosis depends on #yesind cause of the disease, but is typicallyachenized by a very poor quality of life and
a high mortality rate.

Current treatments for ischemic DCM patients thatrafractory to further medical therapy such a&seription drugs, devices, and/or
further revascularization procedures including sgxsurgery and angioplasty, are limited to heartsiplantation and placement of left
ventricular assist devices (LVADS). There are thss 2,500 heart transplantations in the UniteteStaach year. Many refractory DCM
patients are not eligible for heart transplantatiod transplants are extremely expensive at amat&td cost of approximately $1 million.
LVADs are also expensive at an estimated cost ef $¢75,000 and have a mortality rate of 50% atytears.

We believe that the refractory ischemic DCM maregiresents a substantial market opportunity foyedmcel-T. These refractory ischen
DCM patients are currently the target patient papah for our clinical development of ixmyelocel-The estimated incidence of DCM is 148
cases per 100,000 persons, or 444,000 patientandhe severe or refractory (NYHA Class 111/1V) ismhic DCM patient population is diffict
to estimate, but we believe it to be approximatelg third of the overall DCM population. Ixmyelo¢ehas been granted a U.S. Orphan Drug
designation by the FDA for the treatment of DCM jethwe believe provides the potential for an eéfitiand cost-effective path to approval
for ixmyelocel-T in this heart failure indication.

We have conducted two phase 2a multicenter, rarmimimoperabel clinical studies in patients with ischemic @@nd nonischemic DC}
investigating surgical (IMPACT-DCM) and catheteisbd (Catheter-DCM) delivery of ixmyelocel-T. Sixdpe patients were randomized, and
of those, 59 received treatment in the phase 2hestuWe reported 12-month data for the surgic® ACT-DCM study at the Heart Failure
Society of America meeting in September 2011 amal fL2-month results from the Catheter-DCM studthatSociety for Cardiovascular
Angiography and Interventions (SCAI) 2012 ScientBiessions. The results have also been publish&eé journal Circulation Research in
August of 2014. Results from these studies dematest that ixmyelocel-T was well-tolerated in patgewith DCM. In the Catheter-DCM
study and post-surgery in the IMPACT-DCM study, ith@dence of adverse events was comparable bettheermyelocel-T groups and the
control groups.

While these exploratory Phase 2a studies wereoweped for determining differences in efficacy beéwn treatment groups, there were
consistent trends of clinically meaningful improvemhin clinical endpoints observed in the ischeB@M (IDCM) groups in both studies. In
these studies, fewer ischemic patients treatediwitlyelocel-T experienced a major adverse cardiovias event (MACE) during follow up
compared to control patients, representing grehser 50% reduction in the number of patients haaMgACE event. A similar benefit was r
seen in the non-ischemic patients. Heart failuscerbation was the most common MACE. In the contblB&£M groups across both studies,
major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) wereggpced by a lower percentage of ixmyelocel Tta@gatients compared to control
patients, representing greater than 50% reduatidhd number of patients having a MACE event. Lilsawpatients in the combined ischemic
DCM groups that were treated with ixmyelocel-T faagkduction in the average number of MACE eventgpptent. MACE is the
recommended endpoint (mortality and cardiovasdubapitalizations) in Phase 3 heart failure studm®stated in the FDA 2009 Somatic Cell
Therapy for Cardiac Diseases Draft Guidance. Ctargipositive trends also were observed in seweedndary efficacy measures in the
IDCM groups. The majority of ixmyelocel-T-treatedtjgnts with IDCM, but not control patients, hadtistically significant improvement in
New York Heart Association (NYHA) Class that wastsined over the 12 months following treatment.rowpment in NYHA Class i
considered clinically meaningful. Additionally, &yher percentage of ixmyelocel T-treated IDCM patseshowed a clinically meaningful
improvement in self-reported quality of life andtatistically significant increase in six-minuteliwdistance compared to the IDCM control
patients. Since the initiation of the trial, 2&atial trial sites have treated 114 patients.
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We completed enrolling and treating patients inangioing Phase 2b ixCELL-DCM study in February,20Patients will be followed for
12 months for the primary efficacy endpoint of MA@#ents, defined as all-cause deaths, all-caug@thalizations, and unplanned outpatient
or emergency department visits for IV treatmenaaite worsening heart failure. We expect to hapdite efficacy results around the end of
the first quarter of 2016. Secondary endpointsuitelclinical, functional, structural, symptomaticality of life, and biomarker measures at
and 9 months. We expect that patients will be fedld for an additional 12 months for safety.

Production
Cell Manufacturing and Cell Production Components

We acquired two cell manufacturing facilities astjpd the acquired CTRM business in Cambridge, Melasetts and Copenhagen,
Denmark. The Cambridge facility, which is approwsdthe FDA, is used for U.S. manufacturing andritistion of Carticel, Epicel
manufacturing and worldwide distribution and alsanufactured MACI for the SUMMIT study conducted &pproval in Europe and for a
small number of recent MACI implants following sesgion of sales in the EU. The Cambridge faciligpdouses our research and
development function, which is responsible for pEscdevelopment, release assay development, dnmtbtegy transfers between sites and
departments. The Copenhagen manufacturing facitych was approved by the Danish Medicines Agegid¢yMA), was responsible for
MACI manufacturing and distribution in Europe. Aarpof the June 2014 restructuring, MACI manufaagiwvas discontinued. All employees
were released via settled severance agreementh@eduipment was sold. We have already providéidenthat we intend to end the lease at
the earliest allowable date, which is October IL,28nd are actively marketing the facility for debse. If we can not sub-lease the facility we
are obligated to restore the building to its origjistate prior to occupation by Astrom BIOSCIENCES ApS. We expect that any future
clinical and commercial production of MACI will ogcat our Cambridge facility.

We also operate a centralized cell manufacturiagifigin Ann Arbor, Michigan. The facility suppathe current ixCELL-DCM clinical
trial being conducted in the United States and Garsand we believe it has sufficient capacity, wiinor modifications, to supply our early
commercialization requirements. We may establishaperate larger commercial-scale cell manufaafuid@gilities for the United States
market in the future to accommodate potential magkewth. We have reached agreement with the FD&loemistry, Manufacturing and
Control (CMC) which was completed as part of the@a Protocol Assessment process with the FDAHerPhase 3 REVIVE clinical trial.

Our ixmyelocel-T patient-specific multicellular tta@ies are manufactured using our proprietary AastReplicell System (ARS) cell
manufacturing system. Our manufacturing processmslucted in a highly-automated, fully-closed aigdnmously controlled system. Our
system is modular and thus both highly scalableraptbducible and is located in a 5,000-square-deatralized manufacturing facility in Ann
Arbor, Michigan. We believe the ARS based productconducted under cGMP guidelines required byRIDA and has a current annual
capacity to treat up to 1,500 patients. Upon apgdrere can scale-up to meet demand simply by adalildifional ARS modules into existing
and new clean rooms.

We have established relationships with variousitharties who manufacture and/or supply certaingmments, equipment, disposable
devices and other materials used in our cell manurfilng process to develop our cell products, dsageour final assemblies, component pi
subassemblies and associated spare parts usediirsttumentation platform of our cell productigrstem.

In October 2010, we entered into a contract marnufeny and supply agreement (Supply Agreement) WitliEK Medical, LLC (ATEK) for
the manufacture of our proprietary cell cassettauf® in our manufacturing process. In Novembell 20TEK was purchased by Vention
Medical, Inc. (Vention) and currently operates abvésion of Vention. There have been no changdkdderms of the Supply Agreement as a
result of this purchase.

Pursuant to the terms of the Supply Agreement, awe lgranted Vention the exclusive right to manufeebur proprietary cell cassette,
which includes assembly, labeling, packaging aedlgtation. Vention is responsible for obtainingat our approved components pertaining
to the cassettes and we are obligated to ordeparathase the cassettes from Vention on an agremusghedule and in agreed upon quanti
In addition, we provided Vention with reasonablgiarering support to initiate and ramp up manufiéictuof the cassettes and expect to
supply all manufacturing equipment.

Research & Development
The bulk of our ongoing research and developmetitiges are focused on exploring methods that imvprour ability to efficiently
manufacture high quality cell therapy productsfatients. We have performed an in depth analydiseocell culture processes used in the

manufacture of Epicel, Carticel, and Ixmyelocelaind have identified several areas for their poaénti
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betterment. Therefore, our research and developpregram is focused on the many facets of prodeselopment for all of our products
including, but not limited to, tissue procurementl @rocessing, cell culture surface and media nadibn, and other process efficiencies.

The bulk of our ongoing research is based on ixooah T, our unique multicellular product produceahfi a patient’s bone marrow using
our proprietary manufacturing system. We have destnated in the laboratory that the cells in ouradpg are capable of multiple biological
activities thought to play a critical role in repag diseased and damaged tissues. These activitiesle aspects of tissue remodeling,
promotion of angiogenesis and resolution of inflaattion. In addition to these properties demonstratedtro , we have also shown that the
therapy increases blood perfusion in both rat andse models of CLI. We have ongoing preclinicatiis designed to further characterize the
mechanism of action of our product in the treatntértardiovascular diseases as well as explore pitential disease states which may
benefit from the use of ixmyelocel-T.

In addition, our proprietary cell manufacturing t®&ys has demonstrated the capability to produce ¢ypes of cells. In the future, we may
continue to explore the application of our manufeiog technology for the production of other cgfpés where there are potential opportunitie
to collaborate in the development of new cell thera.

Patents and Proprietary Rights
Our success depends in part on our ability, andliigy of our licensors, to obtain patent protestfor our products and processes.

As part of the acquired CTRM business, we acquaretlitinational intellectual property estate. Thiellectual property estate includes
patents and patent applications directed to chayteamplants and related technologies. Althoughdar@ot own any patents or patent
applications relating to Epicel, many of the pr@assand techniques are trade secrets and wouléfibaltto replicate without significant
investment and time. We do own issued patentstdildo the combinations of chondrocytes and coflagembranes used in MACI, which are
scheduled to expire in August of 2016 in the Ur@l m August of 2017 abroad. In certain foreignrioies, selected patent rights covering
Carticel are scheduled to expire in 2022.

We also own a broadly filed trademark portfoliolwiegistrations for Carticel, MACI, and Epicel.

The processes and technologies related to the boegleT and ARS system platform include 17 unexgpissued United States patents.
Eleven of these patents are material patents tb&tgi our cellular therapy. We own ten of thestepiz and one has been licensed exclusively
from the University of Michigan. These patents pras/arious claims relating to (i) the compositafrour ixmyelocel-T cellular therapy,

(i) methods to manufacture or administer the ixtagel-T cellular therapy, and (iii) the ARS bioréaicdevice that is used to make ixmyelocel
T products. The number of United States patenesmoh type with expiration range is listed in thald@sbelow.

Patent

Type Number Expiry (Years)
Composition of Matte 2 1 and 1t

Methods 2 13

Bioreactor Device 7 1-2

Certain patent equivalents to the United Statesmsthave also been issued in other jurisdictinasidling Australia, United Kingdom, and
Canada, and under the European Patent Conventialdition, we have filed applications for patentthe United States and equivalent
applications in certain other countries claimingestaspects of our cell products and manufactyriogesses. Our most significant patent that
protects the composition of the cellular therappctily, “Mixed cell populations for tissue repaircaseparation technique for cell
processing” (US Patent 7,871,605), was issuedninalg 2011 and will expire in 2029. A divisionalpdipation of 7,871,605 for administration
of this compasition to patients was allowed by theted States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTQanuary 2012 and was issued in the
April 2012 and will expire in 2027. A second diwisial application of 7,871,605 directed to the mdthof manufacture of our cell
compositions was issued in March 2013 and will expi 2027. Patents that protect our automatecebimior device and culture system expire
in 2015, but we will continue to rely on trade sgsrand un-patentable know-how.

In 2007, the use of ixmyelocel-T for the treatmehDCM received an Orphan Drug Designation fromFms, which provides seven years
of market exclusivity, should ixmyelocel-T receivBA approval for this indication. The validity abdeadth of claims in medical technology
patents involve complex legal and factual questad, therefore, may be highly uncertain. No asmea&an be given that any patents base
pending patent applications or any future pateptieations by us, or our licensors, will be issued,
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that the scope of any patent protection will exeledmpetitors or provide competitive advantagasstahat any of the patents that have bet
may be issued to us or our licensors will be hallithif subsequently challenged or that others ndlt claim rights in or ownership of the
patents and other proprietary rights held or lieghisy us. Furthermore, there can be no assuraatettiers have not developed or will not
develop similar products, duplicate any of our pratd or design around any patents that have beerapibe issued to us or our licensors.
Since patent applications in the United Statesraitained in secrecy until they are published D3itins after filing, we also cannot be certain
that others did not first file applications for entions covered by our and our licensors’ pendetgmt applications, nor can we be certain that
we will not infringe any patents that may be issteedthers on such applications.

We rely on certain licenses granted by a numbdhiad parties, including Sanofi and the UniversifyMichigan for certain patent rights. If
we breach such agreements or otherwise fail to bowith such agreements, or if such agreementsrexgiare otherwise terminated, we may
lose our rights in such patents.

We also rely on trade secrets and un-patentable-mav that we seek to protect, in part, by configsity agreements. It is our policy to
require our employees, consultants, contractoraufaaturers, outside scientific collaborators apornsored researchers and other advisors tc
execute confidentiality agreements upon the comeraeat of employment or consulting relationshipswis. These agreements provide that
all confidential information developed or made kmotw the individual during the course of the indival's relationship with us is to be kept
confidential and not disclosed to third partieseptdn specific limited circumstances. We also megsigned confidentiality or material trans
agreements from any company that is to receiveonfidential information. In the case of employess)sultants and contractors, the
agreements generally provide that all inventionscetved by the individual while rendering servitesis shall be assigned to us as the
exclusive property of Vericel. There can be no emste, however, that these agreements will noréached, that we would have adequate
remedies for any breach, or that our trade seorais-patentable know-how will not otherwise becdmewn or be independently developed
by competitors.

Our success will also depend in part on our abititdevelop additional commercially viable produetthout infringing the proprietary
rights of others. We do not believe any of our appd products or our currently contemplated prosloctprocesses infringe any existing valid
issued patent. However, the results of patengliiisn are unpredictable, and no assurance carvba thiat patents do not exist or could not be
filed which would have an adverse effect on oulitgttio market our products or maintain our comipeti position with respect to our products.
If our technology components, designs, productscesses or other subject matter are claimed urtder existing United States or foreign
patents, or are otherwise protected by third-pairtprietary rights, we may be subject to infringatgctions. In such event, we may challenge
the validity of such patents or other proprietaghts or we may be required to obtain licenses fsoich companies in order to develop,
manufacture or market our products. There can besearances that we would be able to obtain saehdes or that such licenses, if available
could be obtained on commercially reasonable teFaghermore, the failure either to develop a comumadly viable alternative or obtain such
licenses could result in delays in marketing owppoised products or the inability to proceed with development, manufacture or sale of
products requiring such licenses, which could reweaterial adverse effect on our business, finanoiadition and results of operations. If we
are required to defend ourselves against chargeateht infringement or to protect our proprietaghts against third parties, substantial costs
will be incurred regardless of whether we are sssfted. Such proceedings are typically protractetth wd certainty of success. An adverse
outcome could subject us to significant liabilitteghird parties and force us to curtail or ceasedevelopment and sale of our products and
processes.

Certain of our and our licensors’ research has lbeéhbeing funded in part by the Department ofm@terce and by a Small Business
Innovation Research Grant obtained from the Depantraf Health and Human Services. As a result ofisunding, the United States
government has certain rights in the technologyetiped with such funding. These rights include a-arclusive, fully paid-up, worldwide
license under such inventions for any governmgnigbose. In addition, the United States governrhastthe right to require us to grant an
exclusive license under any of such inventionsttura party if the United States government deteas that: (i) adequate steps have not beer
taken to commercialize such inventions; (ii) suctica is necessary to meet public health or saiesds; or (iii) such action is necessary to
meet requirements for public use under federallegigms. Additionally, under the federal Bayh-Délet, a party which acquires an exclusive
license for an invention that was partially fundgda federal research grant is subject to theviollg government rights: (i) products using the
invention which are sold in the United States arbd manufactured substantially in the United Staialess a waiver is obtained; (i) the
government may force the granting of a licensetturd party who will make and sell the needed piaidf the licensee does not pursue
reasonable commercialization of a needed produegike invention; and (iii) the United States gawaent may use the invention for its own
needs.

Sales and Marketing

Both our marketed and development stage produetspacialty products with focused physician anttirt®nal call points. The U.S.
Carticel commercial organization is comprised gfragimately 27 employees, including Cell Therapy@&8alists and Regional
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Sales Directors. The target audience is a small gmder 1,000) set of sports medicine orthopsdigeons. We expect to utilize the same
sales force for MACI.

Reimbursement coverage for Carticel is widespréhd.15 largest payers, representing approxima®&4dy 6f commercial lives, have a
formal medical policy that allows treatment withr@zel within labeled indications. These 15 plaepresent approximately 132 million
covered lives and include the top five nationahpla-WellPoint, United Healthcare, Aetna, CIGNA anghihna.

US Bioservices Corporation (USB) is the exclusiigributor of Carticel in the United States. USBghases and takes title to Carticel u
shipment of the product. USB works with the pay@rdehalf of patients and surgeons to ensure membearage and to obtain reimbursemen
for Carticel implantation procedures. We retainrafiponsibility for shipment of the product to gwegical suite and may have certain
indemnification obligations to USB. USB would alse the exclusive distributor of MACI in the Unit&dates, if and when it is approved by
FDA.

Sales of Epicel are supported by three Cell The&mcialists. This represents an expansion overspaport levels. Since there are
approximately 128 specialized burn centers in ti hcreasing coverage to the majority of theg¢aegidience should be feasible with only a
small number of incremental Cell Therapy Specisiist

If and when ixmyelocel-T is approved, we anticipatgmenting our existing sales and marketing omgsioin to cover the expanded
physician audience. The target physician populatitiiikely be heart failure specialists and intentional cardiologists in secondary and
tertiary cardiac facilities, a specialty audiend@ch can be covered by a modest sized sales fdm&ever, we intend to explore other options,
including partnerships, to help minimize costs arwdease penetration if and when the product ismerialized.

Government Regulation

Our research and development activities and theufaaturing and marketing of our products are suhjethe laws and regulations of
governmental authorities in the United States ahdracountries in which our products will be maddtSpecifically, in the United States, the
FDA regulates drugs, biologics and medical devares requires new product approvals or clearancassore safety and effectiveness of thes
products. Governments in other countries have aiméquirements for testing and marketing. In tinitédl States, in addition to meeting FDA
regulations, we are also subject to other fedamas) such as the Occupational Safety and Healtladthe Environmental Protection Act, as
well as certain state laws.

While some human cell or tissue products thatr@ended for implantation, transplantation, infusiontransfer into a human recipient are
regulated as human cell, tissue, and cellular ssde-based products (HCT/Ps) and do not requer&BA’s premarket review, if these cell or
tissue products do not meet the FDA'’s requiremimteegulation as an HCT/P they require premarketew and a marketing authorization.
The type of marketing authorization required desena how the product is regulated by the FDA. it exception of Epicel (a medical
device), our cell products are regulated as bickigiroducts that require an approved BLA to beketad in the U.S. Commercial production
of these products needs to occur in FDA-registéetlities in compliance with cGMP requirements biologics. Epicel is a humanitarian use
medical device that has an approved HDE application

Regulatory Process

The FDA regulates biologics under the Federal FBwdg and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA) and the Public He&8ervice Act, and their
implementing regulations. Obtaining approval &laA for new biological products is a lengthy prosdsading from development of a new
product through preclinical and clinical testindnig process takes a number of years and the expendi significant resources. There can be
no assurance that our product candidates will aliihy receive approval.

The FFDCA and other federal and state statutesesqudations govern the research, testing, manufacsafety, labeling, storage, record-
keeping, approval, distribution, use, product répgr advertising and promotion of our productsnslempliance with applicable requirements
can result in civil penalties, recall, injunctionseizure of products, refusal of the governmemtprove our product approval applications ¢
allow us to enter into government supply contrawtt)drawal of previously approved applications &nidhinal prosecution.

Product Approval
In order to obtain FDA approval of a new biologipabduct, sponsors must submit proof of safetyeffettiveness. In most cases, such
proof entails extensive nonclinical, also knowrpeeclinical studies and clinical trials. The tegtipreparation of necessary applications and

processing of those applications by the FDA is espe, may take several years to complete and is
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uncertain as to outcome. There can be no assutiaaicthe FDA will act favorably or in a timely magmin reviewing submitted applications,
and we may encounter significant difficulties ost=in our efforts to obtain FDA approvals, in tunhich could delay or preclude us from
marketing any products we may develop. The FDA alag require post-marketing testing and surveikbanicapproved products, or place
other conditions on the approvals. These requirésnaould cause it to be more difficult or expendivaell the products, and could therefore
restrict the commercial applications of such praslueroduct approvals may be withdrawn if compleandth applicable regulations is not
maintained or if problems occur following commeliziation. For patented technologies, delays impdsethe governmental approval process
may materially reduce the period during which wé ave the exclusive right to exploit such teclomiés.

Clinical data are required by the FDA for approosgh BLA. To conduct a clinical trial the manufadr or distributor of a biologic will
have to submit an Investigational New Drug (INDpkgation to the FDA prior to commencing human idal trials. The submission must be
supported by data, typically including the resoltpreclinical and laboratory testing. The condafcthe preclinical tests must comply with
federal regulations, including good laboratory ficac(GLP), requirements. The results of preclihteating are submitted to the FDA as pal
an IND along with other information, including imfoation about product chemistry, manufacturing emctrols, and a proposed clinical trial
protocol. Long term preclinical tests, such as atirasts of reproductive toxicity and carcinogetyicnay continue after the IND is submitted.
Following submission of the IND, the FDA has 30 sl&y review the application and raise safety ahérotlinical trial issues. If we are not
notified of objections within that period, clinicdals may be initiated, and human clinical trislay commence at a specified number of
investigational sites with the number of patiergpraved by the FDA. We have submitted several I®ur cell products, and we have
conducted clinical trials under these INDs.

Carticel, MACI and Ixmyelocel-T are regulated bg tRDA as biologics, although there can be no asserthat the FDA will not choose to
regulate our products in a different manner infthare. For products that are regulated as biokyglee FDA requires: (i) preclinical laboratory
and animal testing; (ii) submission to the FDA ofl&lD application, which must become effective ptim the initiation of human clinical tria
(iii) adequate and well-controlled clinical tridgts establish the safety and effectiveness of tbdymt for its intended use; (iv) submission to the
FDA of a BLA; and (v) review and approval of the Blas well as inspections of the manufacturing figcby the FDA prior to commercial
marketing of the product.

For purposes of BLA approval, human clinical triate typically conducted in three sequential ph#isatsmay overlap:

e Phase 1—The biological product is initially intraeal into healthy human subjects and tested fotysdfethe case of some products
for severe or life-threatening diseases, espeaidtign the product may be too inherently toxic tacatlly administer to healthy
volunteers, the initial human testing is often aaetdd in patients. These trials may also providly ewvidence on effectiveness.

» Phase 2—These trials are conducted in a limitedbeurof patients in the target population to idgngibssible adverse effects and
safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the effigadf the product for specific targeted diseasestardbtermine dosage tolerance and
optimal dosage. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trialsynb@ conducted by the sponsor to obtain informapidor to beginning larger and
more expensive Phase 3 clinical trials.

 Phase 3—Phase 3 trials are undertaken to proatistatally significant evidence of clinical efficgand to further evaluate dosage,
potency, and safety in an expanded patient populati multiple clinical trial sites. They are perfeed after preliminary evidence
suggesting effectiveness of the product has betinal, and are intended to establish the oveealéfit-risk relationship of the
investigational product, and to provide an adeqbatgs for product approval and labeling.

Post-approval clinical trials, sometimes referr@as$ Phase 4 clinical trials, may be conducteda afigal marketing approval. These trials
may be required by the FDA as a condition of appfrawnd are used to gain additional experience ftmrtreatment of patients in the intended
therapeutic indication, particularly for long-tesafety follow-up. The FDA has express statutonhatrity to require post-market clinical trials
to address safety issues. All of these trials rhastonducted in accordance with good clinical peagcor GCP, requirements in order protect
the health and safety of human subjects and foddie to be considered reliable for regulatory pags.

During all phases of clinical development, regulat@gencies require extensive monitoring and auglitif all clinical activities, clinical
data, and clinical trial investigators. Annual pregp reports detailing the results of the clinidals must be submitted to the FDA. Written |
safety reports must be promptly submitted to thé\FBRd the investigators for serious and unexpeate@rse events; any findings from other
studies, tests in laboratory animals or in vitrgtiteg that suggest a significant risk for humanjects; or any clinically important increase in the
rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction loatligted in the protocol or investigator
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brochure. The sponsor must submit an IND safetgntepithin 15 calendar days after the sponsor deitess that the information qualifies for
reporting. The sponsor also must notify the FDA&§ unexpected fatal or life-threatening suspeatbatrse reaction within seven calendar
days after the sponsor’s initial receipt of theoinfiation.

Phase 1, Phase 2, and Phase 3 clinical trials mtayencompleted successfully or within any spedifieriod, if at all. Regulatory
authorities, a data safety monitoring board orsthensor may suspend a clinical trial at any tim@anous grounds, including a finding that
participants are being exposed to an unacceptaalhtrisk. Similarly, an Institutional Review BdafilRB) can suspend or terminate approval
of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinal trial is not being conducted in accordance Wit IRB's requirements or if the biological prod
has been associated with unexpected serious havatients.

Our ongoing and planned clinical trials for our gwot candidates may not begin or be completed lbadide, if at all. Clinical trials can be
delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays

e Obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;

* Reaching agreement with third-party clinical tséks and their subsequent performance in conduatiourate and reliable trials on a
timely basis;

Obtaining IRB approval to conduct a trial at a petive site;
* Recruiting patients to participate in a trial; and

e Obtaining supply of the biological product.

Typically, if a biological product is intended t@&t a chronic disease, safety and efficacy datt brigathered over an extended period of
time, which can range from six months to three y@amore. Success in early stage clinical triakssdhot ensure success in later stage clinice
trials. Data obtained from clinical activities aret always conclusive and may be susceptible tgimgiinterpretations, which could delay, lir
or prevent regulatory approval.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuatmplete additional animal studies and must alselde additional information about the
physical characteristics of the biological prodastwell as finalize a process for manufacturingatoeluct in commercial quantities in
accordance with GMP requirements. To help redueeisik of the introduction of adventitious agentthwhe use of biological products, the
PHS Act emphasizes the importance of manufactwamgrol for products whose attributes cannot beipety defined. The manufacturing
process must be capable of consistently produaiiadjty batches of the product candidate and, anmbher things, the sponsor must develop
methods for testing the identity, strength, qualitytency, and purity of the final biological pratduAdditionally, appropriate packaging must
be selected and tested and stability studies neusbbducted to demonstrate that the biological ygbdandidate does not undergo
unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life.

After completion of the required clinical testirgBLA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDAieavand approval of the BLA is
required before marketing of the product may bagithe United States. The BLA must include the Itssof all preclinical, clinical, and other
testing and a compilation of data relating to thedpct's pharmacology, chemistry, manufacture, @ntrols and must demonstrate the safety
and efficacy of the product based on these resthies. BLA must also contain extensive manufactunirigrmation. The cost of preparing and
submitting a BLA is substantial. Under federal lalae submission of most BLAs is additionally subjeca substantial application user fee, as
well as annual product and establishment user felsish may total several million dollars and arpitglly increased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of a BLA téedmine whether the application will be acceptadfifing based on the agency’s
threshold determination that it is sufficiently colete to permit substantive review. Once the subimisis accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an in-depth review. The FDA has agreed to certaifiopmance goals in the review of BLAs. Most supblaations for standard review
biologics are reviewed within ten months from tlagéedthe application is accepted for filing. AlthtugDA often meets its user fee performa
goals, the FDA can extend these timelines if nergssind FDA review may not occur on a timely basiall. The FDA usually refers
applications for novel biologics, or biologics whipresent difficult questions of safety or efficattyan advisory committee—typically a panel
that includes clinicians and other experts—for egyievaluation, and a recommendation as to whétlkeespplication should be approved. The
FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an adyisommittee, but it generally follows such reconmui&tions. Before approving a BLA,
the FDA will typically inspect one, or more, climicsites to assure compliance with GCP. Additignale FDA will inspect the facility or the
facilities at which the biologic is manufacturedhelFDA will not approve the product unless it viesfthat compliance with requirements for
current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP, ts&actory and the BLA contains data that providbstantial evidence that the biologic is
safe and effective in the indication studied.
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After the FDA evaluates the BLA and the manufaciyfacilities, it issues either an approval letiea complete response letter. A comg
response letter means that the BLA will not be aped in its present form and generally outlinesdbficiencies in the submission and may
require substantial additional testing, or inforimat in order for the FDA to reconsider the apgiima. If and when those deficiencies have
been addressed to the FDA'’s satisfaction, the FlAsgue an approval letter. The FDA'’s regulatigmevide that the agency will review such
resubmissions in two or six months depending ortytpe of information included. The FDA approvahesver guaranteed, and the FDA may
refuse to approve a BLA if applicable regulatoriferia are not satisfied.

An approval letter authorizes commercial markeththe biologic with specific prescribing informetti for specific indications. The
approval for a biologic may be significantly moimaited than requested in the application, includingtations on the specific diseases and
dosages or the indications for use, which coultticithe commercial value of the product. The FBAy also require that certain
contraindications, warnings, or precautions beuidet in the product labeling. In addition, as aditbon of BLA approval, the FDA may
require a risk evaluation and mitigation stratel§KS) to help ensure that the benefits of the lgicloutweigh the potential risks. REMS can
include medication guides, communication planshiealthcare professionals, and elements to assigreisa (ETASU). ETASU can include,
but are not limited to, special training or cedifiion for prescribing or dispensing, dispensinty amder certain circumstances, special
monitoring, and the use of patient registries. fidggirement for a REMS or use of a companion diaioavith a biologic can materially affect
the potential market and profitability of the biglo. Moreover, product approval may require, asrdition of approval, substantial post-
approval testing and surveillance to monitor ttadgic’'s safety or efficacy. Once granted, prodaymprovals may be withdrawn if compliance
with regulatory standards is not maintained or fots are identified following initial marketing.

Under current requirements, facilities manufactitimological products for commercial distributiorust be registered with the FDA. To
accomplish this, an establishment registration rbadiled with the FDA. In addition to the preckii studies and clinical trials, the BLA
includes a description of the facilities, equipmantl personnel involved in the manufacturing precés establishment registration/license is
granted on the basis of inspections of the appfiedacilities in which the primary focus is on cplimance with cGMP and the ability to
consistently manufacture the product in the facilitaccordance with the BLA. If the FDA finds thesults of the inspection unsatisfactory, it
may decline to approve the BLA, resulting in a gietaproduction of products.
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Humanitarian Device Exemption

Unless an exemption applies, each medical devioexarcially distributed in the United States regsiieéther a substantial equivalence
determination under a premarket notification sulsiois pursuant to Section 510(k) of the FFDCA, oapproval of a premarket approval
application (PMA). The FDA provides an incentive fbe development of certain devices intended tebepatients by treating or diagnosing
a disease or condition that affects or is manitestdewer than 4,000 individuals in the UnitedtSsaper year. These devices receive a HUD
designation and may be eligible for marketing apalainder an HDE application. An HDE applicatisrai premarket approval application t
seeks an HDE from the effectiveness requirementtbald otherwise apply to the application. FDApegval of an HDE application
authorizes the applicant to market the device.

To obtain approval for a HUD, an HDE applicatiorsigomitted to the FDA. An HDE application is simila both form and content to a
PMA application in that the applicant must demamistia reasonable assurance of safety, but in anapplication, the applicant seeks an
exemption from the PMA requirement of demonstratingasonable assurance of effectiveness. An HpEcagion is not required to contain
the results of scientifically valid clinical invégations demonstrating that the device is effectbrdts intended purpose. The application,
however, must contain sufficient information foetRDA to determine that the device does not poaenagasonable or significant risk of ilin
or injury, and that the probable benefit to healtiweighs the risk of injury or iliness from itsaygaking into account the probable risks and
benefits of currently available devices or alteireaforms of treatment. Additionally, the applicantist demonstrate that no comparable de
are available to treat or diagnose the diseaserdition, and that they could not otherwise bring tlevice to market.

Except in certain circumstances, HUDs approved uadd¢dDE cannot be sold for an amount that exctezlsosts of research and
development, fabrication, and distribution of trevide (i.e., for profit). Under the current HDE pision, as amended by FDASIA, a device is
eligible to be sold for profit after receiving HCdpproval if the device is intended for the treattr@rdiagnosis of a disease or condition that
occurs in pediatric patients or in a pediatric safagation, and such device is labeled for use digigc patients or in a pediatric subpopulation
in which the disease or condition occurs; or ismated for the treatment or diagnosis of a diseaseraition that does not occur in pediatric
patients or that occurs in pediatric patients ichsaumbers that the development of the deviceudoh patients is impossible, highly
impracticable, or unsafe. If the FDA makes a deteation that a HUD meets the eligibility critertag HUD is permitted to be sold for profit
after receiving HDE approval as long as the nundbelevices distributed in any calendar year doesroeed the ADN for the device. The
ADN is determined by the FDA when the agency appsahe original HDE application; or when the ageajggroves an HDE supplement for
an HDE approved before the enactment of FDASIAdf HDE holder seeks a determination for the HUBrHDE supplement based upon
profit-making eligibility criteria, and the FDA datmines that the HUD meets the eligibility criteria

FDA Post-Approval Requirements

Maintaining substantial compliance with applicaf@deral, state, local, and foreign statutes andlagigns requires the expenditure of
substantial time and financial resources. Rigoana extensive FDA regulation of biological produaitsl devices continues after approval,
particularly with respect to cGMP. We will rely,ciexpect to continue to rely, on third parties nurfacture or supply certain components,
equipment disposable devices and other material$ imsour manufacturing process for any produaswe commercialize or may
commercialize. Manufacturers of our products agaiired to comply with applicable requirements ia tGMP regulations, including quality
control and quality assurance and maintenancecofds and documentation. We cannot be certainstbair our present or future suppliers:
be able to comply with the cGMP and other FDA raguiy requirements. Other post-approval requiremapplicable to biological products
include reporting of cGMP deviations that may affibe identity, potency, purity and overall safefya distributed product, record-keeping
requirements, reporting of adverse effects, repontipdated safety and efficacy information, pexda@porting requirements and complying
with electronic record and signature requiremeisnilarly, there are a number of post-marketinguieements for devices, including medical
device reporting regulations that require manufaetuto report to the FDA if a device may have edusr contributed to a death or serious
injury or malfunctioned in a way that would liketpuse or contribute to a death or serious injuityifere to recur; and corrections and remi
reporting regulations that require manufacturepereto the FDA field corrections and product récal removals if undertaken to reduce a
to health posed by the device or to remedy a vaatf the FFDCA that may present a risk to health.

After a BLA is approved, the biological product@lmay be subject to official lot release. As pdrthe manufacturing process, the
manufacturer is required to perform certain testeach lot of the product before it is releasedifstribution. If the product is subject to
official release by the FDA, the manufacturer subreamples of each lot of product to the FDA togethith a release protocol showing a
summary of the history of manufacture of the lad #me results of all of the manufacturer’s test$qrened on the lot. The FDA also may
perform certain confirmatory tests on lots of squnaducts, such as viral vaccines, before releasiadots for distribution by the manufacturer.
In addition, the FDA conducts laboratory researihted to the regulatory standards on the safetytyp potency, and effectiveness of
biological products. After approval of biologicsanufacturers must address any safety issues ihaf are subject to recalls or a halt in
manufacturing, and are subject to periodic inspactfter approval.

Discovery of previously unknown problems or théuia to comply with the applicable regulatory reguaients, by us or our suppliers, may
result in restrictions on the marketing of a praducwithdrawal of the product from the market aadlvas possible civil or criminal sanctions
and adverse publicity. FDA sanctions could incluefeisal to approve pending applications, withdragfan approval, clinical hold, warning
untitled letters, product recalls, product seizptetal or partial suspension of production orritittion, injunctions, fines, refusals of
government contracts, mandated corrective advegtisi communications with doctors, debarment, tigtgtin, disgorgement of profits, or civil
or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial emd@ment action could have a material adverse effects.

Biological product and medical device mantifegrs and other entities involved in the manufiectind distribution of approved biological
products and devices are required to register fheilities with the FDA and certain state agencax are subject to periodic unannoun



inspections by the FDA and certain state agenoiesdmpliance with cGMP and other laws. In additidmanges to the manufacturing process
or facility generally require prior FDA approvalfbee being implemented and other types of changéset approved product, such as adding
new indications and additional labeling claims, @s® subject to further FDA review and approvathwertain exceptions.

U.S. Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclugy

Depending upon the timing, duration, and gjwscof the FDA approval of the use of our prodoahdidates, some of our U.S. patents may
be eligible for limited patent term extension untex Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restora\ct of 1984, commonly referred to
as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. Patent term réistoigan compensate for time lost during produeetigopment and the regulatory review
process by returning up to five years of pateetfiiir a patent that covers a new product or its ldegvever, patent term restoration cannot
extend the remaining term of a patent beyond & ¢6te4 years from the product’s approval date. pheod of patent term restoration is
generally one-half the time between the effectiaaf an IND (falling after issuance of the patemtd the submission date of a BLA, plus the
time between the submission date of the BLA andagiroval of that application, except that theeawperiod is reduced by any time during
which the applicant failed to exercise due diligen©nly one patent applicable to an approved bictédgroduct is eligible for the extension
and the application for the extension must be stibthprior to the expiration of the patent. Theleygpion for patent term extension is subject
to approval by the United States Patent and Trade@®#ice, or PTO, in consultation with the FDA.

A patent term extension is only available whenRB&# approves a biological product for the first @&nWe believe Ixmylocel-T and the
manner in which it is manufactured have not beewipusly approved by the FDA. However, we cannotdrtain that the PTO and the FDA
will agree with our analysis or will grant a patéetm extension.

A biological product can obtain pediatric marketlesivity in the United States. Pediatric exclusiyif granted, adds six months to exist
exclusivity periods and patent terms. This six-rhoetclusivity, which runs from the end of other keisivity protection or patent term, may be
granted based on the voluntary completion of agidgdistudy in accordance with an FDA-issued “WéntRequest” for such a study.

Biosimilars

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act sijimto law on March 23, 2010, includes the BiotsgPrice Competition and Innovation
Act of 2009. That Act created an approval pathwatharizing the FDA to approve biosimilars and icteangeable biosimilars. Biosimilars are
biological products which are “highly similar” topseviously approved biologic product or “referepreduct” and for which there are no
clinically meaningful differences between the bioisar product and the reference product in termthefsafety, purity, and potency as shown
through analytical studies, animal studies andracell study or studies. For FDA to approve a bigkir product as interchangeable with a
reference product, the agency must find that tbeiiilar product can be expected to produce the=sadimical results as the reference product
and, for products administered multiple times, the
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biosimilar and the reference biologic may be swétthfter one has been previously administered witimereasing safety risks or risks of
diminished efficacy relative to exclusive use df tieference biologic. However, complexities asdediavith the larger, and often more
complex, structures of biological products, as w@slthe process by which such products are manuéattpose significant hurdles to
implementation, which are still being worked outthg FDA.

A reference biologic is granted 12 years of exsitisifrom the time of first licensure of the refaee product. A biosimilar application may
be filed four (4) years after the first licensufetee reference biologic. Although the patentstfar reference biologic may be challenged by the
biosimilar applicant during that time period punsuigo the BPCIA statutory patent challenge framédwap biosimilar or interchangeable
product will be licensed by FDA until the end o&téexclusivity period. The first biologic productsnitted under the abbreviated approval
pathway that is determined to be interchangealtle the reference product has exclusivity againstiobiologics submitting under the
abbreviated approval pathway for the lesser adrfg year after first commercial marketing, (ii)h8nths after the initial application if there is
no legal challenge, (iii) 18 months after the ratioh in the applicant’s favor of a lawsuit chaligmg the biologicspatents if an application h
been submitted, or (iv) 42 months after the appbtoshas been approved if a lawsuit is ongoing iwithe 42-month period. At this juncture, it
is unclear whether products deemed “interchangeall&DA, in fact, will be readily substituted byrarmacies, which are governed by state
pharmacy law.

On April 10, 2013, President Obama released hipgeed budget for fiscal year 2014 which includettirog this twelve year period of
exclusivity down to seven years. The budget alsp@sed to prohibit additional periods of exclugiiir brand biological products due to
minor changes in product formulation, a practidemfeferred to as “evergreening.” The BPCIA is ptar and is only beginning to be
interpreted and implemented by the FDA. As a reéslultimate impact, implementation and meanirggsubject to uncertainty.

Pediatric Research Equity Act

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREBLA or BLA supplement must contain data to asskesafety and effectiveness of
biological product for the claimed indications ihralevant pediatric subpopulations and to supdoging and administration for each pediatric
subpopulation for which the product is safe andaife. The intent of PREA is to compel sponsorssehproducts have pediatric applicability
to study those products in pediatric populatioather than ignoring pediatric indications for adattications that could be more economically
desirable. FDA may grant deferrals for submissibdada or full or partial waivers. By its terms, PR does not apply to any biological prod
for an indication for which orphan designation baen granted, unless the FDA issues regulatiorisgatherwise. Because the FDA has not
issued any such regulations, submission of a pgdagsessment is not required for an applicattoméarket a product for an orphan-designate:
indication, and waivers are not needed at this.tifdewever, if only one indication for a producshaphan designation, a pediatric assessme
may still be required for any applications to martkat same product for the non-orphan indicatipn(s

Advertising and Promotion

Once an FDA-regulated product is approved, theycbwill be subject to continuing post-approvajukatory requirements. For instance,
the FDA closely regulates the post-approval mankesind promotion of biologics and devices includstandards and regulations for direct-to-
consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industponsored scientific and educational activitied promotional activities involving the
internet. Failure to comply with these regulaticas result in significant penalties, including tbguance of warning letters directing a
company to correct deviations from FDA standardgcmirement that future advertising and promotionaterials be pre-cleared by the FDA,
and federal and state civil and criminal invesiiyad and prosecutions.

Biologics and devices may be marketed only forapgroved or cleared indications and may only maéiens for the product that are
consistent covered by the approval or cleararieer BLAS, changes to some of the conditions esthbtl in an approved application, includ
changes in indications, labeling, or manufactupnacesses or facilities, require submission and Bpgroval of a new BLA or BLA
supplement before the change can be implement&d.AAsupplement for a new indication typically recgs clinical data similar to that in the
original application, and the FDA uses the samegutares and actions in reviewing BLA supplements dses in reviewing BLAs. Similarl
changes to approved or cleared devices may refDifés premarket review.

While doctors are free to prescribe any productayxd by the FDA for any use, a company can onliggr@daims relating to safety and
effectiveness of a biological product that are &ieat with the FDA approval or clearance, andatmpany is allowed to actively market and
promote a biological product or device only for fraticular use and treatment approved or cleayatiddFDA. In addition, any claims we
make for our products in advertising or promotionstrbe appropriately balanced with important saifeftyrmation and otherwise be
adequately substantiated. Failure to comply widséhrequirements can result in adverse publicidynimg letters, corrective advertising,
injunctions and potential civil and criminal perrdt

Orphan Drug

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to biologics intended to treera disease or conditiongenerally
a disease or condition that affects fewer than@@®Dindividuals in the United States. Orphan dragighation
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must be requested before submitting a BLA. AfterBDA grants orphan drug designation, the gendentity of the biologic and its potential
orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Onpthaig designation does not necessarily conveyadmgntage in, or shorten the duratior
the regulatory review and approval process. Thee BELA applicant to receive FDA approval for a jpautar product to treat a particular dise
with FDA orphan drug designation is entitled teeaenyear exclusive marketing period in the United $tdte that product, for that indicatic
During the seven-year exclusivity period, the FDAynmot approve any other applications to markestdme drug for the same disease, excey
in limited circumstances, such as a showing ofi@insuperiority to the product with orphan druglesivity. Orphan drug exclusivity, which
would most likely run concurrently with the exchasgy, if any, received from the time of first liceare of a reference product, does not prever
the FDA from approving a different biologic for teame disease or condition, or the same biologia fiifferent disease or condition. Among
the other benefits of orphan drug designation axectedits for certain research and a waiver oBtha application user fee.

Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, the research, manufactudisgibution, sale and promotion of biological puots and devices are subject to regule
by various federal, state and local authoritieaddition to the FDA, including the Centers for Meatie & Medicaid Services, other divisions of
the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, (he Office of Inspector General), the U.S. &réipent of Justice, state Attorneys
General, and other federal, state and local govenbiagencies. For example, sales, marketing aedt#fat/educational grant programs must
comply with the Anti-Kickback Statute, as amendéé, False Claims Act, as amended, the privacy atiguis promulgated under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, orBHA, and similar state laws. If products are madklable to authorized users of the Feders
Supply Schedule of the General Services Administnatdditional laws and requirements apply. Altlegse activities are also potentially
subject to federal and state consumer protectidruafair competition laws.

As noted above, in the United States, we are sutjemmplex laws and regulations pertaining toltheare “fraud and abuse,” including,
but not limited to, the Anti-Kickback Statute, tfegleral False Claims Act, and other state and &d@ws and regulations. The Anti-Kickback
Statute makes it illegal for any person, includingiological product manufacturer (or a party agtim its behalf) to knowingly and willfully
solicit, receive, offer, or pay any remuneratioattis intended to induce the referral of busingsguding the purchase or order of an item for
which payment may be made under a federal heaétimragram, such as Medicare or Medicaid. Violatiohthis law are punishable by up to
five years in prison, criminal fines, administratigivil money penalties, and exclusion from papition in federal healthcare programs. In
addition, many states have adopted laws simil#@ndoAnti-Kickback Statute. Some of these state ibibbns apply to the referral of patients
for healthcare services reimbursed by any insmarjust federal healthcare programs such as Mezlenad Medicaid. Due to the breadth of
these federal and state anti-kickback laws angbdiential for additional legal or regulatory charigéhis area, it is possible that our future
sales and marketing practices and/or our futuggiogiships with physicians might be challenged wraaiéi-kickback laws, which could harm
us. Because we intend to commercialize productscthidd be reimbursed under a federal healthcargram and other governmental
healthcare programs, we plan to develop a compsareoompliance program that establishes intermadrols to facilitate adherence to the
rules and program requirements to which we wilinaty become subject.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits anyone frampng other things, knowingly presenting, or cagiso be presented, for payment to
federal programs (including Medicare and Medicald)ms for items or services, including biologipabducts, that are false or fraudulent.
Although we would not submit claims directly to pay, manufacturers can be held liable under tlaage if they are deemed to “cause” the
submission of false or fraudulent claims by, foale, providing inaccurate billing or coding infoation to customers or promoting a proc
off-label. In addition, our future activities relatitmthe reporting of wholesaler or estimated rgidies for our products, the reporting of pr
used to calculate Medicaid rebate information atheicinformation affecting federal, state, anddkparty reimbursement for our products, anc
the sale and marketing of our products, are sulgestrutiny under this law. For example, pharméicalicompanies have been prosecuted
under the federal False Claims Act in connectiothwheir offlabel promotion of drugs. Penalties for a Falsar@$aAct violation include thre
times the actual damages sustained by the govetnpiea mandatory civil penalties of between $5,88 $11,000 for each separate false
claim, the potential for exclusion from particigatiin federal healthcare programs, and, althoughidtieral False Claims Act is a civil statute,
conduct that results in a False Claims Act violatioay also implicate various federal criminal stasgu If the government were to allege that
were, or convict us of, violating these false clilaws, we could be subject to a substantial fiwteraay suffer a decline in our stock price. In
addition, private individuals have the ability torfy actions under the federal False Claims Act@arthin states have enacted laws modeled
after the federal False Claims Act.

There are also an increasing number of state lastg¢quire manufacturers to make reports to statgwicing and marketing information.
Many of these laws contain ambiguities as to whaeguired to comply with the laws. In additiorsimilar recent federal law, referred to as
Sunshine Act, requires biological product manufestuto track and report to the federal governnsertain payments or other transfers of
value made to physicians and teaching hospitalsrrathe previous calendar year. These laws magtfiur sales, marketing, and other
promotional activities by imposing administrativedacompliance burdens on us. In addition,
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given the lack of clarity with respect to thesedaand their implementation, our reporting actioosld be subject to the penalty provisions of
the pertinent state, and soon federal, authorities.

International Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United Statesadety of foreign regulations govern clinical tdiacommercial sales, and distribution of
product candidates. The approval process vari@s fmuntry to country and the time to approval maydmger or shorter than that required for
FDA approval.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing, and Reimbursement

In the United States and other countries, salempfproducts for which we receive regulatory apptder commercial sale will depend in
part on the availability of reimbursement from thjparty payers, including government health adrraitve authorities, managed care
providers, private health insurers, and other amgdions. Third-party payers are increasingly exdang the medical necessity and cost
effectiveness of medical products and servicesldition to safety and efficacy and, accordinglgngiicant uncertainty exists as to the
reimbursement status of newly approved therapeufitsd-party reimbursement adequate to enable usalize an appropriate return on our
investment in research and product developmentnmoape available for our products.

Competitive Environment For Cell Therapy and Regengative Medicine

The biotechnology and medical device industriescheracterized by rapidly evolving technology ameémnse competition. Our competitors
include major multinational medical device companjgharmaceutical companies, biotechnology compaarid stem cell companies operating
in the fields of tissue engineering, regeneratieglitine, cardiac, vascular, orthopedics and neunedlicine. Many of these companies are well
established and possess technical, research astbpgment, financial, and sales and marketing ressusignificantly greater than ours. In
addition, many of our smaller potential competitbase formed strategic collaborations, partnersaipsother types of joint ventures with
larger, well established industry competitors tifédrd these companies potential research and deweint and commercialization advantages
in the technology and therapeutic areas curremigdopursued by us. Academic institutions, govemmiadeagencies and other public and pri
research organizations are also conducting andding research activities which may produce pragldeiectly competitive to those being
commercialized by us. Moreover, many of these cditgpe may be able to obtain patent protectionawbEDA and other regulatory approvals
and begin commercial sales of their products baisre

For patients diagnosed with cartilage defectsetlaee several treatment options, including arttopiecdebridement/chondroplasty, marrow
stimulation techniques such as microfracture, a$tendralautografts for smaller cartilage injurigdografts, and autologous chondrocyte
implants for larger, more complex injuries.

The main competitor for Carticel in the U.S. is thierofracture procedure. Microfracture is a miniipavasive procedure that can be
performed during the initial arthroscopic procedB8Rort term results are generally considered goadhaller cartilage defects. Other
competitive treatments in the U.S. include autdéaldgraft procedures and a juvenile donor-derigéograft product DeNovo NT from
Zimmer Holdings Inc. (Zimmer).
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Carticel is the only FDA-approved ACI product oe tlnarket in the United States. We are aware ofA@bproducts in development.
Histogenics Corporation began a Phase 3 studg dfgbcart implant in February 2010. Neocart isw@nlagous chondrocyte tissue implant
under development for treatment of symptomaticaldir cartilage lesions on the femur. Aesculagdjes, LLC initiated a Phase 3 study in
2014 of NovoCart 3@ , a matrix induced autologousndrocyte product designed to repair articulatilegie defects of the knee.

The competitive treatment alternatives to MAClhie £EU are the same as those for Carticel in the th&uding
debridement/chondroplasty, microfracture, and astendralautografts. Although there is very littkewf allografts or allograft-derived
products, the competitive product environment i€imonore robust. Competitors include microfracturgraentation products such as
ChondroGide® from Geistlich Pharma AG and directl A&@mpetitors including ChondroCelect® from TiGeMm¥.

Patients suffering catastrophic burns over a sicanit portion of total body surface area have f@tams for permanent skin coverage.
When undamaged skin is available, a procedure kramymeshed split-thickness agi@fting can be considered. However, this optiotobmes
less viable as the percentage of total body sudaea burn increases. Epicel is a lifesaving theeaqu represents the only option for patients
with TBSA burns greater than 70%.

We are investigating ixmyelocel-T, an autologoustberapy, in ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy kismic heart failure) and is currently
in a fully enrolled Phase 2b clinical trial. Contipsr cell (autologous and allogeneic) and geneapies are currently under clinical
development in phases 1, 2 and 3 in heart failatepts. Examples are, Mesoblast Ltd., which idaeting a Phase 3 trial with allogeneic cell
therapy and Cardio3 Biosciences which completedliement in an EU based Phase 3 trial with a boneomaderived autologous therapy with
stated plans to initiate a US Phase 3 trial. Ghampies are being evaluated in Phase 2 trialsisnias Therapeutics, Inc. and Celladon
Corporation.

Our potential commercial products address a braade of existing and emerging therapeutic marketshich cell-based therapy is a new
and as of yet, unproven, commercial strategy.large part, we face primary competition from exigtmedical devices and drug products.
Some of our competitors have longer operating histand substantially greater resources. Thesedecompanies such as Arthrex Inc.
(Arthrex), Zimmer, Baxter International, Inc. (Bax}, Biomet, Inc., Johnson & Johnson, Inc. (Johr&dohnson), Medtronic, Inc.
(Medtronic), and others.

In the general area of cell-based therapies, wengiatly compete with a variety of companies, mafsvthom are specialty medical products
or biotechnology companies. Some of these, suérthsex and Zimmer, Baxter, Johnson & Johnson, vedt and Miltenyi Biotec Inc. are
well-established and have substantial technicalfimashcial resources compared to ours. Howeveceldased products are only just emer
as viable medical therapies, many of our most tivtempetitors are smaller biotechnology and spicrakdical products companies. These
include Ocata Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly Advan€adl Technology, Inc.), Cytomedix, Inc. (formedydagen, Inc.), Arteriocyte Medical
Systems, Inc., Athersys, Inc., Cytori Therapeufias,, International Stem Cell Corporation, Neostéms., Terumo Medical Corporation
(formerly Harvest Technologies Corporation), MessblLtd., Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., Pluristem, &tem Cells, Inc., Tengion, Inc., and
others.

Employees

As of Decmber 31, 2014, we employed approximat@ly full-time employees. A significant number of snanagement and professional
employees have had prior experience with pharmaadubiotechnology or medical product companiesndlof our employees are covered by
collective bargaining agreements, and managemasiaers relations with our employees to be good.

Executive Officers and Key Employees

The following table presents our executive officansl key employees and their respective ages asitigns as of December 31, 2014:

Executive

Name Position Age Officer Since
Dominick C. Colangelo(1 President and Chief Executive Offic 52 2013
Daniel R. Orlando(1 Chief Operating Office 49 2012
David Recker, MC Chief Medical Officel 57 2013
Gerard Michel(1) Chief Financial Officer & Vice President of

Corporate Developmel 51 2014
Ross Tubo, Phl Chief Scientific Officel 55 2014

(1) Denotes Executive Officer.
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Dominick C. Colangelo —Mr. Colangelo joined Vericel Corporation in 2013kvimore than twenty years of executive managentaht a
corporate development experience in the biopharoteat industry, including nearly a decade with Elly and Company. Most recently, he
was President and Chief Executive Officer of Proimednc. from 2009 to 2012. During his careerhas held a variety of executive positions
of increasing responsibility in product developmetitarmaceutical operations, sales and marketirycarporate development. He has
extensive experience in the acquisition, develograed commercialization of therapies to treat filarscular, metabolic and cardiovascular
diseases. During his tenure at Eli Lilly and Compéae held positions as Director of Strategy andiBess Development for Lilly’s Diabetes
Product Group and also served as a founding Magdgjirector of Lilly Ventures. Mr. Colangelo receiy his B.S.B.A. in Accounting, Magna
Cum Laude, from the State University of New YorlBaiffalo and a J.D. degree, with Honors, from the&k® University School of Law.

Daniel R. Orlando —Mr. Orlando joined Vericel as Chief Commercial ©ff in August of 2012. Mr. Orlando served as inteChief
Executive Officer of Vericel from December 2012March 2013. He has more than 20 years of commgnmduct preparation and launch
experience including leadership roles in saleskatarg and most recently as a vice president oifless development for North and South
America at Takeda Pharmaceuticals. As an earlyia@rap at Takeda North America, he served as tiggnadi brand director for Actos, which
became the #1 branded anti-diabetic agent in theetdStates. Mr. Orlando’s initial pharmaceutiegperience came in progressively
expanding roles in sales and marketing at Abbadtiotatories. He holds an MBA from Florida Atlantioiversity and a BA in Economics wi
Honors from the University of Florida.

David Recker, MD —Br. Recker joined Vericel in April 2014 and has mdtinan 20 years of experience in drug developmest necently
at Takeda Global Research & Development, Inc. wherserved as Senior Vice President for Clinica&e from 2002 to 2012. Dr. Recker
has had responsibility for multiple developmentgreans in a variety of therapeutic areas in hisararéle is a Fellow of the American College
of Physicians as well as a Fellow of the Americatiégie of Rheumatology. He holds an M.D. with Bistion from the University of
Michigan where he conducted his internship anddezsiy and was Chief Resident in Internal Medicike. did his fellowship in training at the
National Institutes of Healtl

Gerard Michel —Mr. Michel joined Vericel in June of 2014 with ov@5 years of experience in the pharmaceutical imgasross multiple
functional areas. He has considerable experienbasiness development, raising capital and exagsticcessful financial transactions.

Mr. Michel was formerly chief financial officer drvice president, corporate development of Biodmhf November 2007 to May 2014, where
he oversaw strategic development, fundraising apita structure management, marketing effortse@ter relations, and financial reporting
and internal controls. Prior to his role at Bigdedm August 2002 to November 2007, Mr. Michehsaf as chief financial officer and vice
president of corporate development of NPS Pharntimeds; where he led the first syndicated royaltynetization. Prior to that, Mr. Michel
was a Principal at Booz Allen Hamilton Inc. andoaheld a variety of commercial roles at both Leeléibs and Wyeth Labs. Mr. Michel
holds an M.S. in Microbiology from the University Rochester School of Medicine, an M.B.A. from 8ienon School of Business, and a B.S.
in both Biology and Geology from the UniversityRéchester.

Ross Tube— Dr. Tubo joined Vericel in April 2014 with morban twenty years of experience in cell therapyenegative medicine, and
stem cell biology. Dr. Tubo was a pioneer in theearch, development, and commercialization ofitsieautologous cell therapy for articular
cartilage repair, known as Carticel. As Vice Riest of Stem Cell and Chemokine Biology for Genzy@uoeporation, a position he held from
1998 to 2010, he developed a world-class reseaganization designed to understand the underlyitigagnd molecular mechanism(s) of
action of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in autoimendisease and cancer. These efforts led to #mifidation of specific therapeutic
targets for treatment of these diseases. He lzoRIsD. in Cell and Molecular Biology from the Statniversity of New York at Buffalo and
completed post-doctoral studies at Harvard Medicdlool.

Available Information

Additional information about Vericel is containedoair website, www.vcel.com. Information on ourbsge is not incorporated by
reference into this report. We make available onveebsite free of charge our Annual Reports omTd8-K, Quarterly Reports on Form -
and Current Reports on Form 8-K as soon as realopedzticable after those reports are filed with Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). Our reports filed with the SEC are also enadailable to read and copy at the SEC’s Publfef@ace Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain informatidiout the Public Reference Room by calling the SEG800-SEC-0330. Reports filed
with the SEC are also made available on its welsitevw.sec.gov. The following Corporate Goverreadocuments are also posted on our
website: Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, @béthics for Senior Financial Officers, Board MeenlAttendance at Annual Meetings
Policy, Director Nominations Policy, Shareholdem@ounications with Directors Policy and the Charferssach of the Committees of the
Board of Directors.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our operations and financial results are subjecvéwious risks and uncertainties, including thossatibed below, that could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, result®perations, cash flows, and trading price of ctommon stock. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones we facereTimay be additional risks and uncertainties thiag aot known to us or that we do not
consider to be material at this time. If the egathéscribed in these risks occur, our businesantiral condition, and results of operations
would likely suffer.

Risks Related to our Business
We have incurred losses, anticipate continuing teur losses and may not achieve or maintain profithty for some time or at all.

While we are a commercial-stage biopharmaceutwalpany following our acquisition of the cell theyagnd regenerative medicine
(CTRM) business of Sanofi, a Frendlociété anonymégSanofi) , we have not yet generated significamenues. We have incurred net losses
each year since our inception in 1989, includinglosses of $19.9 million and $15.6 million for thears ended December 31, 2014 and 20173
respectively. As of December 31, 2014, we had actated a deficit of approximately $308 million amald $30.3 million of cash. On
September 17, 2014, we sold 15,784,313 sharesrafomomon stock in a public offering resulting irt peoceeds of approximately $37.5
million. Based on our current plan, we expect that cash will be sufficient to sustain our opinas until we achieve profitability.

Although we believe we will achieve profitabilityithrout the need to raise additional capital, we m@mgtinue to incur significant operating
losses over the next several years despite salesaging and margins improving, due to continuixgeases related to our research and
development programs, and the expense associdatedavitinuing the commercialization of our approypedducts. We cannot predict with
any certainty the amount of future losses. Ouiitglitd maintain profitability will depend, amonghar things, increasing sales of our current
products, improving gross margins, successfully mentializing our new products, completing the depeient of our product candidates,
timely initiation and completion of clinical triglebtaining regulatory approvals, establishing nfacturing, sales and marketing arrangement:
with third parties, maintaining supplies of key mfatturing components and the possible acquisdéimhdevelopment of complementary
products. Therefore, we may not be able to achieseistain profitability.

In the longer term, we may need to raise additifuradls in order to continue to complete productaliggment programs and complete
clinical trials needed to market and commerciatize current product candidates. We cannot beiodtiat actual results will not differ
materially from our current projections and thatreat capital will be sufficient to achieve profiihty nor that funding will be available on
favorable terms, if at all. Some of the factord thiél impact our ability to raise additional cagplitand our overall success include:

. Our ability to successfully integrate the acquibediness with our existing business and strearitbneperations;

. The rate and degree of progress for our produaldpment;

. Our ability to maintain our facility as an U.S. Eband Drug Administration (FDA) compliant and validd product manufacturing
facility;

. The rate of regulatory approval to proceed withichl trial programs;

. The level of success achieved in clinical trials;

. The requirements for marketing authorization fragulatory bodies in the United States and otheniri@s;

. The liquidity and market volatility of our equitgeurities;

. Regulatory and manufacturing requirements and tsiogies; and

. Technological developments by competitors.

While we have access to certain amounts of finanttirough an agreement with Lincoln Park Capitaid5lLLC (Lincoln Park) and an at-
the-market sales agreement (ATM) with MLV & Co., LLC [M) (formerly McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak), there are e&in factors, such as volur
of trading in our common stock and our stock pene the ability to terminate the agreement withagotwhich limit the amount that can be
raised in a short period of time through these ements with Lincoln Park and the ATM. We anticegttat we will incur certain norecurring
charges in connection with the integration of tHeR® business; however, we cannot identify the topimature and amount of all such
charges. These costs could materially affect cault® of operations in the period in which suchrgba are recorded. If funding is needed and
we cannot raise such funds, we will not be abldeteelop, manufacture or enhance products, takendatya of future opportunities, or respond
to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirgsyevhich would have a material adverse impaawrbusiness, financial condition and
results of operations.
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The failure to successfully integrate the acquirbdsiness and operations in the expected time frameey adversely affect the combined
company’s future results.

We believe that the acquisition of the acquiredrmss will result in certain benefits, includingteén manufacturing, sales and distribution
and operational efficiencies. However, to realleese anticipated benefits, Vericel's existing hass and the acquired business must be
successfully combined. We may be unable to effeltiintegrate the acquired business into our dmgaion, make the acquired business
profitable, and may not succeed in managing theiesd business or the larger company that resudta this acquisition. The process of
integration of an acquired business may subjetd asnumber of risks, including:

. Failure to successfully manage relationships wli#mts, distributors and suppliers;

. Demands on management related to the increasedrobthe company after the acquisition;
. Diversion of management attention;

. Potential difficulties integrating and harmonizifigancial reporting systems;

. Difficulties in the assimilation and retention ahployees;

. Inability to retain the management, key personnel aher employees of the acquired business;
. Inability to establish uniform standards, contrelgstems, procedures and policies;

. Inability to retain the customers of the acquiredibess;

. Exposure to legal claims for activities of the acgd business prior to acquisition; and

. Incurrence of additional expenses in connectioh e integration process.

If the acquired business is not successfully irgtsgt into our company, our business, financial ¢@rand results of operations could be
materially adversely affected, as well as our psienal reputation. Furthermore, if we are unabkuccessfully integrate the acquired
business and operations, or if there are delagsnmbining the businesses, the anticipated berddfitse acquisition may not be realized fully
at all or may take longer to realize than expect&liccessful integration of the acquired busimeBsiepend on our ability to manage these
operations, to realize opportunities for revenuangh presented by our products and eliminate aegacess costs of the acquired business.

The acquisition has resulted in the expansion ofraarganization, and we may experience difficultissmanaging this growth, which could
disrupt our operations.

As a result of our acquisition of the CTRM busineesMay 30, 2014, our employee base increasedfisignily from 38 employees as of
March 31, 2014 to approximately 190 full-time enydes as of December 31, 2014. We expect that eettlywill impose significant
additional responsibilities on our management.oAtair management may need to divert a disprop@téoamount of its attention away from
our day-toelay activities and devote a substantial amounittd to managing these growth activities. We matybeoable to effectively mana
the expansion of our operations, which may resultéaknesses in our infrastructure, give rise grafonal mistakes, loss of business
opportunities, loss of employees and reduced ptodiycamong remaining employees. The effectivenagement of the acquired business
could require significant capital expenditures amal divert financial resources from other projestsh as the development of our existing or
future product candidates. In connection with theration of the acquired business we expect torekpar internal sales and marketing
capabilities as we build an internal sales and etarg organization and hire additional manufacigyiguality control, pharmacovigilance,
regulatory affairs, quality assurance, and managépersonnel as necessary to maintain or expangroaessing operations. If our
management is unable to effectively manage our trosur expenses may increase more than expeatedpdity to generate and/or grow
revenue could be reduced, and we may not be aliieplement our business strategy. Our future fimerperformance and our ability to
commercialize our products and our other productichates, if approved, and compete effectively dépend, in part, on our ability to
effectively manage our current growth.

We may not be able to raise the required capitattmduct our operations, develop and commercialize product candidates and otherwise
growand expand our business.

Notwithstanding the net proceeds of approximat&ly.$ million we received from our September 201H8liowffering and our current
projections that we can achieve profitability withoaising additional capital, we will require stdostial additional capital resources in order to
complete the development of ixmyelocel-T for theatment of advanced heart failure due to ischem@iMDFurther, while we believe we have
adequate capital to conduct a confirmatory trialMACI as well as a pediatric trial for Epicel iegiatric patients, if the trials requested are
larger or more costly than anticipated, we may rteadise additional capital.

In order to grow and expand our business, to intcecdbur new product candidates into the marketplaeanay need to raise additional
funds. We may also need significant additionabifuor a collaborative partner, or both, to finatieeresearch and development activities of
our cell therapy product candidates for additiandications.
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Our future capital requirements will depend upomyntactors, including:

. Continued scientific progress in our researchjcdiihand development programs;

. Costs and timing of conducting clinical trials as®kking regulatory approvals;

. Competing technological and market developments;

. Avoiding infringement and misappropriation of thipdrty intellectual property;

. Obtaining valid and enforceable patents that gsva sompetitive advantage;

. Our ability to establish additional collaborativaationships;

. Our ability to scale up our production capabilitieslarger quantities of our products;

. The effect of commercialization activities and fiéigiexpansions, if and as required; and
. Complementary business acquisitions or developmgmbrtunities.

We may direct Lincoln Park to purchase up to $1Bioniworth of shares of our common stock over end3@nth period generally in amou
up to 50,000 shares of our common stock on cebasmess days under a Purchase Agreement (thed2erélyreement) we entered into with
Lincoln Park on January 21, 2014 (the Lincoln Fgkiity Line). As of December 31, 2014, we had €8d7 million worth of shares to
Lincoln Park. However, there are certain factoughsas volume of trading in our common stock andstack price, which limit the amount
that can be raised in a short period of time. &ktent to which we rely on the Lincoln Park Equitgie as sources of funding will depend on a
number of factors, including the prevailing margate of our common stock and the extent to whiehane able to secure working capital fi
other sources. If obtaining sufficient funding franmcoln Park were to prove impracticable or pratiely dilutive, we may need to secure
other sources of funding in order to satisfy ourkirtg capital needs. Even if we sell the maximunoant we are eligible to sell to Lincoln
Park the Purchase Agreement, we may need additbapéhl to fully implement our business, operatmgl development plans. Should the
financing we require to sustain our working capiteéds be unavailable or prohibitively expensiveuthwe require it, the consequences may
have a material adverse effect on our businessatipg results, financial condition and prospegiditionally, during the year ended
December 31, 2014, the Company raised net proac#e®is 1 million utilizing our ATM with MLV. The ATM which as of December 31, 2014
had remaining capacity of approximately $7.8 milliallowed the Company to sell its common stocknftone to time under a registration
statement on Form S-3 filed in June 2011, pursteawhich the Company registered $100 million ofsiégurities for public sale. The Form S-3
registration statement filed in June 2011 expireduly 2014.

We may try to access the public or private equitirkats if conditions are favorable to completenafiicing, even if we do not have an
immediate need for additional capital at that timrewhenever we require additional operating capita addition, we may seek collaborative
relationships, incur debt and access other availasiding sources. This additional funding may mtvailable to us on reasonable terms, or
at all. Some of the factors that will impact obiligy to raise additional capital and our oversliccess include:

. Our ability to successfully integrate the acquibediness and further commercialize our products;

. The rate and degree of progress for our produaldpment;

. The rate of regulatory approval to proceed withichl trial programs;

. The level of success achieved in clinical trials;

. The requirements for marketing authorization fragulatory bodies in the United States and otheniri@s;

. The liquidity and market volatility of our equitgeurities; and

. Regulatory and manufacturing requirements and tsiogies, and technological developments by cortgrsti

If adequate funds are not available in the futwemay not be able to develop or enhance our ptediake advantage of future
opportunities, or respond to competitive pressaramanticipated requirements and we may be redjireelay or terminate research and
development programs, curtail capital expendituaes, reduce business development and other opgwadtivities , which would have a
material adverse impact on our business, finaoiatition and results of operations.

Failure to obtain and maintain required regulatorgpprovals would severely limit our ability to sellir products and product candidates.

We must maintain our domestic and foreign regwasqprovals to continue to commercialize our praslu@ addition, we must obtain the
approval of the FDA before commercial sales of @it therapy product candidates may commence ittlited States, which we believe will
ultimately be the largest market for our produdfée anticipate that we will also be required toaitbiadditional approvals from various foreign
regulatory authorities to initiate sales activittell therapy product candidates in those jucisohs. If we cannot demonstrate the safety,
purity and potency of our product candidates, iditig our cell therapy product
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candidates, produced in our production systemi-iv& or other regulatory authorities could delayathhold regulatory approval of our
product candidates.

Even after granting regulatory approval, the FDA aggulatory agencies in other countries contimueview and inspect marketed
products, manufacturers and manufacturing fadiljtiehich may create additional regulatory burddrater discovery of previously unknown
problems with a product, manufacturer or facilitgymresult in restrictions on the product or mantufeer, including a withdrawal of the prod
from the market. Further, regulatory agencies esgblish additional regulations that could prewerdelay regulatory approval of our proc
candidates or adversely affect the regulatory agdsoof our products.

Any changes in the governmental regulatory classé#tions of our products and product candidates abgirevent, limit or delay our abilit
to market or develop our products and product caaties.

The FDA establishes regulatory requirements basgti@regulatory status of a product. Becausemduct development programs are
designed to satisfy the standards applicable todical licensure for our cell therapy productsy @hange in the regulatory classification or
designation would affect our ability to obtain F@proval of our product candidates. As each ofcellrtherapy product candidates is, under
current regulations, regulated as a biologic, ddgjies License Application (BLA) is required to bebmitted and approved by the FDA prio
the marketing of any of our product candidates.

Our product candidate, ixmyelocel-T, is still ininical development. If we do not successfully cimoie or complete the clinical development
of ixmyelocel-T, our ability to finance our operaths may be adversely affected.

Our near-term prospects depend in part upon olityatai successfully continue and complete clinigéls of our product candidate,
ixmyelocel-T, and to demonstrate its safety andatifeness, as well as its superiority over exgstirerapies and standards of care, if any. W«
are conducting an ongoing Phase 2b ixCELL DCM chéhtrial in which we are following patients whouveabeen treated with ixmylocé&l- Oul
ability to finance our company and to generate mees will depend in part on our ability to obta@wvdrable results in the ongoing and plannec
clinical trials of ixmyelocel-T, including the onipgy ixCELL-DCM Phase 2b clinical trial, and to sessfully develop and commercialize
ixmyelocel-T. Ixmyelocel-T could be unsuccessfut:i

. Does not demonstrate acceptable safety and efficadinical trials, or otherwise does not meetlaggble regulatory standards for

approval,

. Does not offer sufficient, clinically meaningfuldifapeutic or other improvements over existing turiidrugs used to treat advanced
heart failure due to ischemic DCM;

. Is not capable of being produced in commercial Gtias at acceptable costs; or

. Is not accepted as safe, efficacious, cost-effectass costly and preferable to current therapi#ise medical community and by

third-party payers.

If we are not successful in developing and comnadizing ixmyelocelT or are significantly delayed in doing so, ourafiitial condition an
future prospects may be adversely affected and swearperience difficulties in raising the substalrgidditional capital required to fund our
business.

Our products and product development programs aasé&d on novel technologies and are inherently risky

We are subject to the risks of failure inherernthi@ development of products based on new techredodgihe novel nature of our
therapeutics creates significant challenges inrcetgaproduct development and optimization, manuwfi@cg, government regulation, thigghrty
reimbursement and market acceptance. For exarhpdgulatory agencies have limited experiencegpraving cellular therapies for
commercialization, the development and commercaitibn pathway for our therapies may be subjeatt¢oeiased uncertainty, as compared to
the pathway for new conventional drugs.

Further, when manufacturing autologous cell thexsypihe number and the composition of the cell [atjon varies from patient to patient,
in part due to the age of the patient, since tkeaihy is dependent on patient specific physiolo@uch variability in the number and
composition of these cells could adversely affertability to manufacture autologous cell therapirea cost-effective manner and meet
acceptable product release specifications formsediinical trial or, if approved, for commercglle. As a consequence, the development an
regulatory approval process for autologous celiahg products could be delayed or may never be taiath

Our products represent new classes of therapy that marketplace may not understand or accept. Fuatimore, the success of our products
is dependent on wider acceptance by the medicalroomity.

While our acquired products have had some comniexeizess to date, the broader market may not atahel or accept our products. Our
products represent new treatments or therapies@mgete with a number of more conventional prodants
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therapies manufactured and marketed by others.n&wenature of our products creates significantlehges in regards to product
development and optimization, manufacturing, gorent regulation, and third-party reimbursement.aAssult, the commercialization of our
current products and development pathway for otemi@l products may be subject to increased soruéis compared to the pathway for more
conventional products.

The degree of market acceptance of any of our nedkar potential products will depend on a numbdactors, including:

. The clinical safety and effectiveness of our pradand their perceived advantage over alternateagrhent methods;

. Our ability to convince health care providers tihet use of our products in a particular procedsiradre beneficial than the standard
of care or other available methods;

. Our ability to explain clearly and educate otherglte autologous use of patient-specific humandisg® avoid potential confusion

with and differentiate ourselves from the ethicahtroversies associated with human fetal tissueeaigiheered human tissue;

. Adverse reactions involving our products or thedoieis or product candidates of others that are huiesue based;

. Our ability to supply a sufficient amount of oupguct to meet regular and repeated demand in todbavelop a core group of
medical professionals familiar with and committedhe use of our products; and

. The cost of our products and the reimbursementigsliof government and third-party payers.

If patients or the medical community do not acaaptpotential products as safe and effective fgrafrthe foregoing reasons, or for any
other reason, it could affect our sales, havingagenial adverse effect on our business, finan@atiion and results of operations. While
acceptance by the medical community may be fosteydztoad evaluation via peer-reviewed literatwe may not have the resources to
facilitate sufficient publication.

Our inability to complete our product developmenttiities successfully would materially limit ourtdlity to operate or finance our
operations.

In order to commercialize our cell product candédan the United States, we must complete subatatithical trials and obtain sufficient
safety, purity and potency results to support nexfliregulatory approval and market acceptance iof@uproduct candidates. We may not be
able to successfully complete the development opoaduct candidates, or successfully market othirielogies or product candidates. We,
any of our potential collaborators, may encountebfgems and delays relating to research and derslap regulatory approval and intellect
property rights of our technologies and productidaites. Our research and development programswotaye successful, and our cell culture
technologies and product candidates may not fatglithe production of cells outside the human heidly the expected results. Our
technologies and cell product candidates may rmtepto be safe and effective in clinical trialsgdame may not obtain the requisite regulatory
approvals for our technologies or product candslated the cells produced in such products. If drifiese events occur, we may not have
adequate resources to continue operations fordhiedprequired to resolve any issues delaying coroig@éation and we may not be able to
raise capital to finance our continued operatiaming the period required for resolution of anylsigsues.

We must successfully complete our clinical triatsthe able to market certain of our products and guet candidates. Clinical trial failures
can occur at any stage of the testing and we magezience numerous unforeseen events during, or agsult of, the clinical trial process
that could delay or prevent the continued commelization of our products or future therapeutic praat candidates.

To be able to market therapeutic cell producthieninited States, we must demonstrate, througmeixe preclinical studies and clinical
trials, the safety and effectiveness of our proeessid product candidates. If our clinical treds not successful, our products may not be
marketable. The results of early stage clinidaldrdo not ensure success in later clinical triael interim results are not necessarily predi
of final results.

With respect to any clinical trials affecting oungducts or product candidates, failures or delaysarcur at any stage of the trials, and may
be directly or indirectly caused by a variety afttas, including but not limited to:

. Delays in securing clinical investigators or ts#kes for our clinical trials;
. Delays in obtaining Institutional Review Board (IR&nd other regulatory approvals to commence écallittrial;

. Slower than anticipated rates of patient recruitinaga enrollment in our clinical trials, or failing reach the targeted number of
patients due to competition for patients from ottiais;

. Limited or no availability of coverage, reimburserhand adequate payment from health maintenan@nizafions and other third
party payers for the use of biological productspigg for use in our clinical trials;
. Negative or inconclusive results from clinical ksia
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. Unforeseen side effects interrupting, delayindhalting clinical trials of any future therapeutimguct candidates, and possibly
resulting in the FDA or other regulatory authostienying approval of any future therapeutic prodaadidates;

. Unforeseen safety issues;

. Approval and introduction of new therapies or chemip standards of practice or regulatory guiddhatrender our clinical trial
endpoints or the targeting of our proposed indicetiobsolete;

. Inability to monitor patients adequately duringafter treatment or problems with investigator aiigr& compliance with the trial
protocols;

. Inability to replicate in large controlled studeafety and efficacy data obtained from a limitechber of patients in uncontrolled
trials;

. Inability or unwillingness of medical investigatdrsfollow our clinical protocols; and

. Unavailability of clinical trial supplies.

Moreover, our ability to complete the clinical teador our product candidates in a timely manngresels on additional factors such as rate
of patient enrollment. Patient enroliment can waith the size of the patient population, the pnoity of suitable patients to clinical sites,
perceptions of the utility of cell therapy for thheatment of certain diseases, and the eligibdlitieria for the study. For example, patients
enrolling in future studies of ixmyelocel-T needptmvide an adequate amount of bone marrow to psoaed expand for injection and some
patients may not be able to provide sufficienttstgrmaterial despite our study inclusion and esidn criteria designed to prevent this. Bone
marrow is an inherently variable starting materile have experienced delays in patient accrualirprevious clinical trials. On March 27,
2013, we announced that we were stopping enrollimethie Phase 3 REVIVE clinical trial due to thewvglpatient accrual rate for the study anc
to optimize the use of our financial resourcesvdfexperience similar delays in patient enrollnfenbther clinical trials, we could experience
increased costs and delays associated with thatse which would impair our product developmentgrnams and our ability to market our
products.

Furthermore, the FDA monitors the progress of clhtrials and it may suspend or terminate clintgals at any time due to patient safety
or other considerations.

Our research programs are currently directed atdmipg product functionality for certain clinicaldications, improving product shelf life,
and decreasing the cost of manufacturing our ptisduthese production process changes may altéumicgonality of our cells and require
various additional levels of experimental and ciaitesting and evaluation. Any such testing céerfdjthen the time before these products
would be commercially available.

Even if successful clinical results are reportedaf@roduct from a completed clinical trial, thized not mean that the results will be
sustained over time, or will be sufficient for anketable or regulatory approvable product.

We may rely on third parties to conduct some of alinical trials, and their failure to perform theiobligations in a timely or competent
manner may delay development and commercializatibour product candidates.

We may use clinical research organizations (CR@sapsist in conduct of our clinical trials. There aumerous alternative sources to
provide these services. However, we may face delaigde of our control if these parties do noffiguen their obligations in a timely or
competent fashion, or if we are forced to changeice providers. Any third party that we hire toncluct clinical trials may also provide
services to our competitors, which could comprontigeperformance of their obligations to us. Ifexerience significant delays in the
progress of our clinical trials, the commercialgpects for product candidates could be harmed andhility to generate product revenue
would be delayed or prevented. In addition, we amgl provider that we retain will be subject to Ga&lahical Practice (GCP) requirements. If
GCP and other regulatory requirements are not adrterby us or our third-party providers, the depetent and commercialization of our
product candidates could be delayed.

Any failure of such CRO to successfully accomptishical trial monitoring, data collection, safatyonitoring and data management and
the other services it provides for us in a timegrmer and in compliance with regulatory requiremeould have a material adverse effect on
our ability to complete clinical development of qaroducts and obtain regulatory approval. Probleiitis the timeliness or quality of the work
of a CRO may lead us to seek to terminate theioalstiip and use an alternate service provider. Wewenaking such changes may be costly
and may delay our trials, and contractual restmictimay make such a change difficult or impossitiglitionally, it may be difficult to find a
replacement organization that can conduct ourstifahn acceptable manner and at an acceptable cost

Failure of third parties, including Vention Medicalto manufacture or supply certain components, eguient, disposable devices and other
materials used in our ixmyelocel-T cell manufactmg process would impair our cell product developren

We rely on third parties, including Vention Medichdc. (Vention), to manufacture and/or supply arof our devices/manufacturing
equipment and to manufacture and/or supply cedainponents, equipment, disposable devices and other
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materials used in our cell manufacturing procesteteelop our marketed cell therapy products ancoanluct candidates. Vention is our sole
supplier of cell cassettes used in the ixmyelocetdnufacturing process, and it would be difficolbbtain alternate sources of supply on a
short-term basis. If any of our manufacturersuppdiers fails to perform its respective obligagpor if our supply of certain components,
equipment, disposable devices and other matesdilsited or interrupted, it could impair our abjlto manufacture our products, which would
delay our ability to conduct our clinical trials wrarket our product candidates on a timely and-costpetitive basis, if at all.

In addition, we may not be able to continue ousprd arrangements with our suppliers, supplemaestieg relationships, establish and
maintain new relationships or be able to identifg abtain the ancillary materials that are necgssadevelop our product candidates in the
future. Our dependence upon third parties foistipgply and manufacture of these items could adiyeasfect our ability to develop and deli
commercially feasible products on a timely and cetitpe basis.

Failure by our third-party manufacturers, including/ention, to comply with the regulatory guidelinegt forth by the FDA with respect to
our products could delay or prevent the completiofclinical trials, the approval of any product calidates or the commercialization of our
products.

Third-party manufacturers, such as Vention, musghbpected by the FDA for current Good Manufactyfiractice, or cGMP, compliance
before they can produce commercial product. We bgaiyn competition with other companies for acceshese manufacturers’ facilities and
may be subject to delays in manufacture if the rfesturers give other clients higher priority thaey give to us. If we are unable to secure
maintain third-party manufacturing capacity, theelepment and sales of our products and our firrdparformance may be materially
affected.

Manufacturers are obligated to operate in accomlavith FDA-mandated requirements. A failure of afiypur third-party manufacturers to
establish and follow cGMP requirements and to damrtheir adherence to such practices may leaignifisant delays in the availability of
material for clinical trials, may delay or prevéitihg or approval of marketing applications forrquroducts, and may cause delays or
interruptions in the availability of our products ftommercial distribution following FDA approvdihis could result in higher costs to us or
deprive us of potential product revenues.

Complying with cGMP and non-U.S. regulatory requoissts will require that we expend time, money, effidrt in production,
recordkeeping, and quality control to assure thatgroduct meets applicable specifications andratgrirements. We, or our contracted
manufacturing facility, must also pass a pre-apgarospection prior to FDA approval. Failure to paspre-approval inspection may
significantly delay FDA approval of our productswile fail to comply with these requirements, we Vdolle subject to possible regulatory
action and may be limited in the jurisdictions ihieh we are permitted to sell our products. Assailte our business, financial condition, and
results of operations may be materially harmed.

The manufacture of cell therapy products is charadized by inherent risks and challenges and hasy@o to be a costly endeavor relative
manufacturing other therapeutics products. We haimited experience in manufacturing products foommercial purposes and we cannot
assure you that we will be able to successfully aificiently manage the manufacturing of our prodts; either ourselves or through third-
party contractors with whom we may enter into stgic relationships

The manufacture of cell therapy products, suchuapmducts and product candidates, is highly cemphd is characterized by inherent
risks and challenges such as autologous raw miitec@nsistencies, logistical challenges, significquality control and assurance
requirements, manufacturing complexity, and sigaifit manual processing. Unlike products that oalghemicals for efficacy, such as most
pharmaceuticals, cell therapy products are diffitucharacterize due to the inherent variabilitpiological input materials. Difficulty in
characterizing biological materials or their inttians creates greater risk in the manufacturinggss. We attempt to mitigate risk associatec
with the manufacture of biologics by continuingrgprove the characterization of all of our inputteréls, utilizing multiple vendors for
supply of qualified biological materials, and maaxtfiring some of these materials ourselves. Horyévere can be no assurance that we will
be able to maintain adequate sources of biologiedérials or that biological materials that we nteimin inventory will yield finished produc
that satisfy applicable product release critefar inability to obtain necessary biological maésior to successfully manufacture cell therapy
products that incorporate such materials could lraveterial adverse effect on our results of opmrat

Additionally, we have limited experience in manutaing products for commercial purposes and coxfibaence difficulties in the
continued manufacturing of our products. Becausesgperience in manufacturing, sales, marketirdydistribution is limited, we may
encounter unforeseen difficulties in our efforteticiently manage the manufacturing, sale anttitistion of our products or have to rely on
third-party contractors over which we may not hdirect control to manufacture our products. Morpthere can be no assurance that we o
any third-party contractors with whom we enter ist@ategic relationships will be successful inatnéning manufacturing operations and
implementing efficient, low-cost manufacturing chitiies and processes that will enable us to nie@guality, price and production standards
or production volumes to achieve profitability. iQailure to develop these
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manufacturing processes and capabilities in a yimgnner could prevent us from achieving our groartt profitability objectives as projec
or at all.

We intend to obtain assistance to market our prisdared some of our future cell products throughabalrative relationships with
companies with established sales, marketing aridldision capabilities. Our inability to developémaintain those relationships would limit
our ability to market, sell and distribute our puots. Our inability to enter into successful, lelegm relationships could require us to develop
alternate arrangements at a time when we need sadeketing or distribution capabilities to meeisting demand. We may market one or
more of our products through our own sales foi©@er inability to develop and retain a qualifiedesaforce could limit our ability to market,
sell and distribute our cell products.

We have limited manufacturing capacity and our corangsial manufacturing operations in the U.S. depend one facility. Similarly,
manufacturing of our lead product candidate, ixmylel-T, is conducted at one facility. If either faity is destroyed or we experience any
manufacturing difficulties, disruptions or delayshis could limit supply of our products or adverseffect our ability to conduct our clinica
trials and our business would be adversely impacted

We presently conduct all of our commercial manuféng operations in the U.S. at one facility lochile Cambridge, Massachusetts. As a
result, all of the commercial manufacturing of awarketed products, Epicel and Carticel, for the. th8rket takes place at a single U.S.
facility. In addition, clinical trials for certaiproduct candidates would primarily depend uponmtla@ufacturing of such product candidates in
the same Cambridge facility. Similarly, manufaatgrof our product candidate ixmyelocel-T takes @latone facility located in Ann Arbor,
Michigan. If regulatory, manufacturing or otheoplems require us to discontinue production ateeithcility, we will not be able to supply
our products to our patients or have supplies igr@inical trials, which would adversely impactrdwsiness. If either facility or the
equipment in it is significantly damaged or destdyy fire, flood, power loss or similar events, mvay not be able to quickly or inexpensiv
replace our manufacturing capacity or replace adilify at all. In the event of a temporary or peated loss of this facility or equipment, we
might not be able to transfer manufacturing toiedtparty. Even if we could transfer manufacturirgm one facility to the other or to a third
party, the shift would likely be expensive and tiotsuming, particularly since an alternative fagivould need to comply with the applica
regulatory and quality standard requirements wheveltidation and FDA approval would be requireddsefany products manufactured at that
facility could be made commercially available.

Currently, we maintain insurance coverage totaid@ million in Denmark and $33.7 million in theSJ.against damage to our property
and equipment, an additional $33 million to covesibess interruption and extra expenses, and $illibrmo cover research and development
restoration expenses. If we have underestimatethsurance needs, we will not have sufficient nasie to cover losses above and beyon
limits on our policies.

We are subject to significant regulation with resgiego the manufacturing of our products.

All of those involved in the preparation of a cédiutherapy for clinical trials or commercial salegluding our existing supply contract
manufacturers and clinical trial investigators, subject to extensive and continuing governmentleggns by the FDA and comparable
agencies in other jurisdictions. Components ohiglied therapeutic product approved for commeszé or used in late-stage clinical trials
must be manufactured in accordance with cGMP. d@hegulations govern manufacturing processes amkgures and the implementation
and operation of quality systems to control andii@sthe quality of investigational products anddercts approved for sale. Our facilities and
quality systems and the facilities and quality eyt of some or all of our third party contractard auppliers must pass inspection for
compliance with the applicable regulations as ait@n of FDA approval of our products. The FDAalmay, at any time following approval
of a product for sale, audit our manufacturinglfaes or those of our third party contractors. alidition, the FDA may, at any time, audit or
inspect a manufacturing facility involved with theeparation of our products or our other potemtraducts or the associated quality systems
for compliance with the regulations applicablefte activities being conducted.

Our manufacturing facility in Cambridge, Massachisseas inspected by the FDA in 2014. On March2Dd,4, the FDA issued a Form 4
List of Inspectional Observations. A Form 483sisuied when, in an investigator's judgment, the mteskeconditions or practices observed
during an FDA inspection of the manufacturing filgiindicate that an FDA-regulated product may teiblation of FDA'’s requirements. We
have completed remedial measures to improve ouufaairing process and have responded to all FDsetations. Generally, if any such
inspection or audit identifies a failure to complith applicable regulations or if a violation ofrquroduct specifications or applicable
regulation occurs independent of such an inspedtii@udit, we or the FDA may require remedial measthat may be costly and/or time
consuming for us or a third party to implement #mat may include the temporary or permanent sugpers a clinical trial or commercial
sales, recalls, warning letters, market withdraywsagézures or the temporary or permanent closueefafility. Any such remedial measures
imposed upon us or third parties with whom we caettcould materially harm our business.
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We could incur significant costs complying with enenmental and health and safety requirements, & a result of liability for
contamination or other harm caused by hazardous evéls that we use.

Our research and development and manufacturingepses involve the use of hazardous materials. réd/sudject to federal, state, local
and foreign environmental requirements, includiegulations governing the use, manufacture, handéittgage and disposal of hazardous
materials, discharge to air and water, the clearfgontamination and occupational health and safediters. We cannot eliminate the risk of
contamination or injury resulting from hazardougenals, and we may incur liability as a resulofy contamination or injury. Under some
environmental laws and regulations, we could alstdid responsible for costs relating to any coirtation at our past or present facilities anc
at third party waste disposal sites where we hantwastes. These could include costs relatimpmdamination that did not result from any
violation of law, and in some circumstances, coration that we did not cause. We may incur sigaift expenses in the future relating to
any failure to comply with environmental laws. Asych future expenses or liability could have ai§icant negative impact on our financial
condition. The enactment of stricter laws or regjohs, the stricter interpretation of existing asnd regulations or the requirement to
undertake the investigation or remediation of auttyeunknown environmental contamination at our awrthird party sites may require us to
make additional expenditures, which could be materi

In order to market any of our product candidatesicdluding MACI and ixmyeloce-T, in the United States, the FDA requires us toefih BLA

The FDA approved Carticel as a biological prodtatwhich we currently hold a biologics license. @Band ixmyelocelf are also subje
to the FDA's biological product requirements, whighi require us to submit a new BLA for each pratiprior to being granted marketing
approval. To the extent the FDA regulates each Af0Mand ixmyelocel-T as a biological product anduiges us to file a BLA, we would be
unable to sell MACI or ixmyelocel-T unless and unie receive BLA approval from the FDA, which rergs that we conduct clinical trials in
support of approval of a BLA, which would be expgasand time consuming, and uncertain as to outcémeexample, the FDA may require
that we conduct one or more clinical trials in sopmf approval of a BLA, which would result in te@penditure of additional financial
resources and extended timelines to commerciaizati

Our business, financial condition, results of opdaian and cash flows could be significantly and netgeely affected by substantial
governmental regulations

Our products are subject to rigorous regulatiomheyFDA and numerous other federal, state andgorgovernmental authorities. Overall,
there appears to be a trend toward more stringgntation worldwide, and we do not anticipate thésd to dissipate in the near future.

In general, the development, testing, labeling, ufacturing and marketing of our products are suligextensive regulation and review
numerous governmental authorities both in the WnBtates and abroad. The regulatory process reqhieeexpenditure of significant time,
effort and expense to bring new products to market. example, the FDA approved Epicel as a HUBpant to an HDE application. A HUI
is a medical device intended to benefit patienthéntreatment or diagnosis of a disease or camditiat affects or is manifested in fewer than
4,000 individuals in the United States per yearHWD with an approved HDE is approved by the FDArf@arketing.

However, Investigational Review Board (IRB) appragaequired before a HUD can be used at a fgciliith the exception of emergency u
The HDE holder is responsible for ensuring that#DHapproved under an HDE is administered only ailitees having an IRB constituted and
acting in accordance with the agency’s regulationegning IRBs, including continuing review of udetlee device. HUDSs are also subject to
additional FDA requirements, such as adverse aepuirting and the submission of updated informatiora periodic basis to demonstrate tha
the HUD designation is still valid. Failure to m&&A requirements pertaining to a HUD could regulthe suspension or revocation of the
HDE.

If the HDE is suspended or revoked, marketing apgdrfor Epicel would require the submission andrappl of a premarket approval
application (PMA) in order to be made commercialsilable. The PMA process is costly, lengthy andeutain. A PMA must be supported
extensive data, including, but not limited to, teicll, preclinical, clinical trial, manufacturingn@ labeling data, to demonstrate to the FDA's
satisfaction the safety and efficacy of the de¥irdts intended use. If the HDE approval for Epieas withdrawn, and we were unable to
obtain approval of a PMA, we could not market Epfoe sale in the U.S.

We are also required to implement and maintaimgént reporting, labeling and record keeping pracesl More specifically, in the United
States, both before and after a product is comm@lgreeleased, we have ongoing responsibilitiesenDA regulations. Compliance with the
FDA's requirements, including the FDA’s cGMP redkedping regulations, labeling and promotional rezmients and adverse event reporting
regulations, is subject to continual review anch@nitored rigorously through periodic inspectiogstive FDA. Our failure to comply with U.S.
federal, state and foreign governmental regulatgmad lead to the issuance of warning lettersrtitled letters, the imposition of injunctions,
suspensions or loss of regulatory clearance oroapfs, product
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recalls, termination of distribution, product se&sior civil penalties. In the most extreme casesiinal sanctions or closure of our
manufacturing facility are possible.

In addition, the pharmaceutical, biologic and mabindustries also are subject to many complex lamgregulations governing Medicare
and Medicaid reimbursement and targeting healthitauel and abuse, with these laws and regulatieirgtsubject to interpretation. In many
instances, the industry does not have the berfedigaificant regulatory or judicial interpretatiaf these laws and regulations. In certain
public statements, governmental authorities hakerntaositions on issues for which little officiatérpretation was previously available. Some
of these positions appear to be inconsistent withraon practices within the industry but have netusly been challenged.

Various federal and state agencies have becomesisiagly vigilant in recent years in their inveatign of various business practices, such
as the federal Anti-kickback Statute and the feldeatse Claims Act. Governmental and regulatotjoas against us can result in various
actions that could adversely impact our operatiorduding:

. The recall or seizure of products;

. The suspension or revocation of the authority reargsfor the production or sale of a product;

. The suspension of shipments from particular manufang facilities;

. The imposition of fines and penalties;

. The delay of our ability to introduce new product® the market;

. Our exclusion or the exclusion of our products frle@ing reimbursed by federal and state healthaagrams (such as Medicare,

Medicaid, Veterans Administration, or VA, healtlograms and Civilian Health and Medical Program bimifed Service, or
CHAMPUS); and
. Other civil or criminal prosecution or sanctions#gt us or our employees, such as fines, penaltissprisonment.

Any of these actions, in combination or alone,wwmrea public announcement that we are being inyastil for possible violations of these
laws, could have a material adverse effect on asirless, financial condition, results of operatiand cash flows.

In the United States, if the FDA were to conclulig tve are not in compliance with applicable lawsegulations or that any of our
products are ineffective or pose an unreasonalalkihhisk, the FDA could ban such products, detaigeize adulterated or misbranded
products, order a recall, repair, replacementefimd of payment of certain products, refuse togpending approval applications, refuse to
provide certificates to foreign governments foramg, and/or require us to notify healthcare praifasals and others that the products present
unreasonable risks of substantial harm to the puigalth. The FDA may also impose operating r&gtris on a companywide basis, enjoin
and restrain certain violations of applicable laavtpining to our products and assess civil or grahpenalties against our officers, employees
or us. The FDA may also recommend prosecutiohédJnited States Department of Justice (DOJ). Agdvesgulatory action, depending on
its magnitude, may restrict us from effectively keting and selling our products.

In many of the foreign countries in which our protiuare marketed, we are subject to regulatiorsfiy, among other things, clinical
efficacy, product standards, packaging requireméaitling requirements, import/export restrictiotasiff regulations, duties and tax
requirements. Many of the regulations applicableur products in these countries, such as the ditediProducts Directive and the ATMP
guidelines, governing products in the EU, are simib those of the FDA. In addition, in many caigs the national health or social security
organizations require our products to be qualifietbre they can be marketed with the benefit ahbeirsement eligibility. Failure to receive
delays in the receipt of relevant foreign qualifiocas also could have a material adverse effedwrbusiness, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

As both the U.S. and foreign government regulatense become increasingly stringent, we may be stitjemore rigorous regulation by
governmental authorities in the future. Our prdadund our operations are also often subject toutes of industrial standards bodies, such a:
the International Standards Organization, or I$Qve fail to adequately address any of these @#gpis, our business will be harmed.

Changes to our products or product candidates maguire new regulatory approvals or may require asrecall or cease marketing our
products until approvals are obtaine

Modifications to our products or product candidatesy require new regulatory approvals, includingmements to any of our
Investigational New Drug applications (INDs) rediirgg FDA authorization to administer our investigagl biological product to humans or
supplements to our BLA or Humanitarian Device Exéorp(HDE) application, or require us to recallosase marketing the modified prodt
until these approvals are obtained. We may nobleta obtain those additional approvals for thargjes or additional indications in a timely
manner, or at all. Obtaining approvals can be & tansuming process, and delays in obtaining
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required future approvals would adversely affectathility to introduce new or improved productsaitimely manner, which in turn would
harm our future growth .

If we or our suppliers fail to comply with ongoingDA or other foreign regulatory authority requirenms, or if we experience unanticipate
problems with our products, these products coulddubject to restrictions or withdrawal from the mieat.

The manufacturing processes, reporting requirempoi-approval clinical data and promotional dtigs for each of our products is
subject to continued regulatory review, oversigid periodic inspections by the FDA and other doiestd foreign regulatory bodies. In
particular, we and our suppliers are required tomy with cGMP and Good Tissue Practice (GTP) ratjohs for the manufacture of our
products and other regulations which cover requareiisuch as the methods and documentation padamiproduction controls, labeling,
packaging, storage and shipment of any produatfoch we obtain clearance or approval. Regulabmgies, such as the FDA, enforce the
cGMP, GTP and other regulations through periodépattions. For example, the holder of an appr@ted or HUD is obligated to monitor
and report adverse events and any failure of aystdd meet its specifications. The holder of ppraved BLA or HDE device must also
submit new or supplemental applications and olf&iA approval for certain changes to the approvedipet, product labeling or
manufacturing process. Advertising and promotionaterials must comply with FDA rules and are scibje FDA review, in addition to other
potentially applicable federal and state laws.

In addition, product manufacturers and their fieli are subject to payment of user fees and amaitieview and periodic inspections by
FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliamdth cGMP and to confirm that the manufactureddouats conform with the description in
the PMA. If we or a regulatory agency discovemvously unknown problems with a product such aseesk events of unanticipated severity
or frequency, or problems with the facility whehe product is manufactured, a regulatory agencyimapse restrictions relative to that
product or the manufacturing facility, includingytering recall or withdrawal of the product fronetimarket or suspension of manufacturing.

The failure by us or one of our suppliers to compith applicable statutes and regulations admirestdy the FDA and other regulatory
bodies, or the failure to timely and adequatelypoesl to any adverse inspectional observationsadymt safety issues, could result in, among
other things, any of the following enforcement @it

. Untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctsy consent decrees and civil penalties;
. Unanticipated expenditures to address or defenldl acitons;

. Client notifications for repair, replacement, redisn

. Recall, detention or seizure of our products;

. Operating restrictions or partial suspension altshutdown of production;

. Refusing or delaying our requests for approvalesf products or modified products;

. Operating restrictions;

. Withdrawing product approvals that have alreadynlgranted;

. Refusal to approve a pending marketing applicasoch as a BLA or supplements to a BLA submittedi &y
. Refusal to grant export approval for our produots;

. Criminal prosecution.

If any of these actions were to occur it would hawm reputation and cause our product sales arfdaiitity to suffer and may prevent us
from generating revenue. Furthermore, our key Beiigomay not currently be or may not continue édarbcompliance with all applicable
regulatory requirements which could result in ailuire to produce our products on a timely basiiarthe required quantities, if at all. In
addition, we may be required to conduct costly faggiroval studies, and post-market surveillanaaaaitor the safety or effectiveness of our
products. We also must comply with adverse evarinting requirements, which require that we regertain adverse events involving patient
use or treatment with our products. Later discpwdpreviously unknown problems with our produdt&luding unanticipated adverse events
or adverse events of unanticipated severity onuieegy, manufacturing problems, or failure to compith regulatory requirements such as
cGMP or GTP, may result in changes to labelingric®ns on such products or manufacturing proegswithdrawal of the products from the
market, voluntary or mandatory recalls, fines, sumson of regulatory approvals, product seizurganictions or the imposition of civil or
criminal penalties which would adversely affect business, operating results and prospects.

Our marketed products may be used by physiciansifidications that are not approved by the FDA. He FDA finds that we marketed our
products in a manner that promoted elabel use, we may be subject to civil or criminnalties.

Under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FAp&hd other laws, we are prohibited from promoting products for off-label uses.
This means, for example, that we may not make dabout the use of our marketed products, CauicEbicel, outside
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of their approved indications, and we may not ptiwaty discuss or provide information on off-laheles of Carticel or Epicel, with very
specific and limited exceptions. The FDA does hotyever, restrict physicians from prescribing prctdidor off-label uses in the practice of
medicine. Should the FDA determine that our agégitonstitute the promotion of dfibel uses, the FDA could bring action to prevenfram
distributing Carticel or Epicel for the off-labes@ and could impose fines and penalties on us anexacutives. In addition, failure to follow
FDA rules and guidelines relating to promotion andertising can result in, among other things RB&'s refusal to approve a product, the
suspension or withdrawal of an approved produchfte market, product recalls, fines, disgorgenoémoney, operating restrictions,
injunctions or criminal prosecutions.

If the Office of Inspector General within the Deptment of Health and Human Services, the DOJ, or dher federal or state agenc
determines that we have promoted off-label use of products, we may be subject to various penaltiasluding civil or criminal penalties,
and the off-label use of our products may resultimuries that lead to product liability suits, wbh could be costly to our business.

In addition to the FDA restrictions on our markepedducts, several other types of state and fedieathcare laws have been applied by
DOJ and state attorneys general to restrict cemtairketing practices in the pharmaceutical indudtfizile physicians may prescribe products
for off-label uses and indications, if other fedemastate regulatory authorities determine thatharee engaged in off-label promotion through
remuneration, kickbacks or other monetary ben#giysrescribers, we may be subject to civil or cniatipenalties and could be prohibited from
participating in government healthcare program$ siscMedicaid and Medicare. In addition, governnagr@ncies or departments could
conclude that we have engaged in off-label pronmogiod, potentially, caused the submission of falaens. Even if we are successful in
resolving such matters without incurring penaltiesponding to investigations or prosecutions hkiélly result in substantial costs and could
significantly and adversely impact our reputation @ivert management’s attention and resourceghwdvuld have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results, financial disrdiand ability to finance our operations. In diddi, the off-label use of our products may
increase the risk of injury to patients, and, imtuhe risk of product liability claims. Produd@bility claims are expensive to defend and could
divert our management’s attention and result irsguitial damage awards against us.

The price and sale of any of our products may hbaited by health insurance coverage and governmeggulation.

Maintaining and growing sales of our products wépend in large part on the availability of adequaiverage and the extent to which
third-party payers, including health insurance cames, health maintenance organizations (HMOs) ganvérnment health administration
authorities such as Medicare and Medicaid, priiregarance plans and managed care programs willquaiie cost of the products and related
treatment. Hospitals and other healthcare prowtients that purchase our products typically Wéditious third-party payers to cover all or a
portion of the costs and fees associated with thegalures in which such products are used, inciuttia cost of the purchase of these
products. Third-party payers are also increasiaggmpting to contain healthcare costs by demagngliitce discounts or rebates and limiting
both coverage and the amounts that they will pagéotain products, and, as a result, they mayxoet¢r or continue to provide adequate
payment for our products. We might need to congost-marketing studies in order to demonstratetst-effectiveness of our products and
product candidates to such payers’ satisfactiamchStudies might require us to commit a signift@mount of management time and financia
and other resources. Our products and future pteduight not ultimately be considered cost-effexti Adequate third-party reimbursement
might not be available to enable us to maintainephkevels sufficient to realize an appropriate metan investment in our products and future
product development. If coverage and adequatebgisement are not available, reimbursement isaailonly to limited levels, or if our
costs of production increase faster than increimsesmbursement levels, we may not be able toesgfally grow the sales of our products or
commercialize any product candidates for which ratiny approval is obtained.

Coverage decisions and payment amounts are esdblig the discretion of the individual third-papgyer, and the regulations that govern
pricing, coverage and reimbursement vary widelyfiountry to country. Many private payers in thated States, however, use coverage
decisions and payment amounts determined by theetdior Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), asdglines in setting their coverage ¢
reimbursement policies. As the portion of the Uh&oulation over the age of 65 and eligible for Made continues to grow, we may be more
vulnerable to coverage and reimbursement limitatiomposed by CMS. While certain procedures usimgpooducts are currently covered by
Medicare and other third-party payers, future achig CMS or other government agencies may dimipayments to physicians, outpatient
centers and/or hospitals for covered servicesa fesult, we cannot be certain that the proceduedsrmed with our products will be
reimbursed at a cost-effective level or reimburaedll.

Furthermore, the healthcare industry in the Unf&ates has experienced a trend toward cost containas government and private insu
seek to control healthcare costs by imposing Igragment rates and negotiating reduced contract veite service providers. Therefore, we
cannot be certain that the procedures performeu auit products will be reimbursed at a cost-effectevel. Nor can we be certain that third-
party payers using a methodology that sets amdastsd on the type of procedure performed, suchose twtilized by Medicare and in many
privately managed care systems, will view the odstur products to be justified so as
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to incorporate such costs into the overall coshefprocedure. Moreover, we are unable to prediett changes will be made to the
reimbursement methodologies used by third-partemain the future.

There are no assurances that we will be able tomitta Humanitarian Device Exemption supplement f&picel or obtain FDA approval in
order to sell Epicel for profit.

Epicel was designated as a Humanitarian Use DékU®) in 1998 and a Humanitarian Device ExemptiBiDE) application for the
product was submitted in 1999. HUDs are devicesdtmintended for diseases or conditions thatatieare manifested in fewer than 4,000
individuals annually in the United States. Under HDE approval of 2007, Epicel cannot not be sotdah amount that exceeds the cost of
research and development, fabrication and distabhutHowever, pursuant to the Pediatric Medical ibesafety and Improvement Act of 2C
and the Food and Drug Administration Safety anaUation Act of 2012 (FDASIA), a HUD can be sold foofit if certain conditions are met.
Under current law, an HDE holder can make a pmfitts HUD after receiving HDE approval if the dewiis intended for the treatment or
diagnosis of a disease or condition that occupethiatric patients or in a pediatric subpopulatenmd such device is labeled for use in pediatri
patients or in a pediatric subpopulation in whicé tisease or condition occurs; or is intendedherreatment or diagnosis of a disease or
condition that does not occur in pediatric patiemtthat occurs in pediatric patients in such nursieat the development of the device for suc
patients is impossible, highly impracticable, osafe. HUD devices are assigned an Annual Distdouiumber (ADN) by the FDA that caps
the number of devices that can be distributed.

We are currently investigating Epicel’s eligibilitgr exemption from the profit prohibition and hanegjuested a pre-submission meeting
with the FDA to discuss the process and requiréd fia submitting an HDE supplement to obtain aenegtion from the profit prohibition.
Even if we submit an HDE supplement, there candassurance that the FDA will approve our applicatn a timely manner, or at all. If we
are unable to submit an HDE supplement, or if tipgement is not approved by the FDA, we will bahie to sell Epicel for profit. The FDA
can and does reject requests for an exemption tinerprofit prohibition if the required eligibilitgriteria are not met. If we are unable to sell
Epicel for profit, we will not be able to attaingfitability for Epicel and may be forced to discionte sales of Epicel, which could have an
adverse impact on our business.

We face intense competition in the markets targebsdour products. Many of our competitors have stétially greater resources than we
do, and we expect that all of our products will faintense competition from existing or future prodis.

All of our products face intense competition froriséing and future products marketed by large camgsm These competitors may
successfully market products that compete withppaducts, successfully identify product candidatedevelop products earlier than we do, ol
develop products that are more effective or cast than our products. These competitive factortda@guire us to conduct substantial new
research and development activities to establishpreduct targets, which would be costly and timasuming. These activities would
adversely affect our ability to effectively commiatize products and achieve revenue and profits.

If we do not keep pace with our competitors andhwiiéchnological and market changes, our productdlwiecome less attractive or obsole
and our business may suffer.

The markets for our products are highly competjtsuebject to rapid technological changes, and f@rdifferent candidates and processes
that directly compete with our products. Our coritpet in the medical and biotechnology industriesyrhave superior products, research and
development, manufacturing, and marketing cap#slitand financial resources or marketing positiGisthermore, our competitors may have
developed, or could in the future develop, new netbgies that compete with our products or evedeeour products obsolete. As an
example, in the past, published studies have stegj#isat hematopoietic stem cell therapy use foebnarrow transplantation, following
marrow ablation due to chemotherapy, may havedindinical benefit in the treatment of breast enwhich was a significant portion of the
overall hematopoietic stem cell transplant markitis resulted in the practical elimination of thisirket for our cell-based product for this
application.

Our cell manufacturing system for ixmyelocel-T es@ned to improve and automate the processesdduping cells used in therapeutic
procedures. Even if we are able to demonstrateavagl or equivalent results, the cost or proceseeatment and other factors may cause
researchers and practitioners to not use our ptedun we could suffer a competitive disadvantab@the extent that others develop new
technologies that address the targeted applicédioour products, our business will suffer. Finalfywe are unable to continue to develop and
market new products and technologies in a timelpmea, the demand for our products may decreasargrroducts could become obsolete,
and our revenue may decline.

Ethical, legal, social and other concerns surroumdj the use of human tissue in synthetic biologiga#ngineered products may negativi
affect public perception of us or our products, oray result in increased scrutiny of our products @gany future product candidates from a
regulatory perspective, thereby reducing demand dar products, restricting our ability to market @yproducts, or adversely affecting the
market price for our common stock.

The commercial success of our products dependartrop general public acceptance of the use of huresue for the treatment of human
diseases and other conditions. While not as ceetsial as the use of embryonic stem cells and tiskue, the use of adult tissue has been th
subject of substantial debate regarding relateidadtiegal and social issues. We do not use eartticystem cells or fetal tissue, but the public
may not be able to, or may fail to, differentiate autologous use of adult tissue from the usetbgre of embryonic stem cells or fetal tissue.
This could result in a negative perception of aumpany or our products.

Future adverse events in the field of cellular daberapy or changes in public policy could alsulein greater governmental regulatior



our products and potential regulatory uncertaimtgeday relating to any required testing or apptova
Use of animal-derived materials could harm our pnact development and commercialization efforts.

Some of the manufacturing materials and/onponents that we use in, and which are criticainbplementation of our technology involve
the use of animal-derived products, including fe@aline serum. Supplier changes or regulatory astioay limit or restrict the availability of
such materials for clinical and commercial useafamariety of reasons including contamination orcpefed risk of contamination with
an adventitious agent, such as bovine spongiforme@mlopathy (BSE), in one of our suppliers’ her@lkis may lead to a restricted supply of
the serum currently required for our product maotufiang processes. Any restrictions on these maltewould impose a potential competitive
disadvantage for our products or prevent our gtititmanufacture our cell products. The FDA hasédsregulations for controls over bovine
material in animal feed. These regulations do ppear to affect our ability to purchase the manufaeg materials we currently use. Howe\
the FDA may propose new regulations that couldcaféer operations. Our inability to develop or dbtalternative compounds would harm
product development and commercialization effdrtgere are certain limitations in the supply of agrtanimal-derived materials, which may
lead to delays in our ability to complete clinitdls or eventually to meet the anticipated madernand for our cell products.
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Carticel, MACI or any other product candidate forhich we seek approval as a biologic, may face cotitipg sooner than anticipated.

With the enactment of the Biologics Price Competitand Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCI Act, as parthe PPACA, an abbreviated
pathway for the approval of biosimilar and inteneg@able biological products was created. The aldgiel/regulatory pathway establishes
legal authority for the FDA to review and approvedimilar biologics, including the possible desitioa of a biosimilar as “interchangeable”
based on its similarity to an existing brand pradunder the BPCI Act, an application for a biodanproduct cannot be approved by the FDA
until twelve years after the original branded prctduas approved under a BLA. The law is complexiarsdill being interpreted and
implemented by the FDA. As a result, its ultimatgact, implementation, and meaning are subjechoemtainty. While it is uncertain when
such processes intended to implement the BPCI Agtime fully adopted by the FDA, any such processesd have a material adverse effect
on the future commercial prospects for our biolagmroducts. While the BCPI Act provides for a lweeyear period of exclusivity, there is a
risk that this exclusivity could be shortened duedngressional action or otherwise, or that thé Rl not consider any of our future product
candidates to be a reference product for competiaducts, potentially creating the opportunity fompetition sooner than anticipated.

Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar productce approved, will be substituted for any onewfreference products in a way that is
similar to traditional generic substitution for rbiological products is not yet clear, and will degeon a number of marketplace and regula
factors that are still developing.

Health care reform measures and changes in poligifunding, staffing and leadership at the FDA and ath agencies could hinder or
prevent the commercial success of our produ

In the United States, there have been a numbegidlative and regulatory changes to the healtheygstm in ways that could affect our
future results of operations and the future resfltgperations of our potential customers.

Furthermore, there have been and continue to lerdoer of initiatives at the federal and state It seek to reduce healthcare costs. Ir
March 2010, President Obama signed into law theefta®Protection and Affordable Health Care Act 612, as amended by the Health Care
and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act 0020 (jointly, the PPACA), which includes measum@significantly change the way health
care is financed by both governmental and privasarers. Among the provisions of the PPACA of intaoce to the pharmaceutical industry
are the following:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that uf@ctures or imports certain branded prescriptiags and biologic agents,
apportioned among these entities according to thaiket share in certain government healthcarerprog;

»  Expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid progms by, among other things, allowing states terdffedicaid coverage to
additional individuals and by adding new mandagligibility categories for certain individuals withcome at or below 133% of the
Federal Poverty Level, thereby potentially incregdioth the volume of sales and manufacturers’ Madirebate liability;

*  Expansion of the entities eligible for discountslenthe Public Health Service pharmaceutical pgigirogram;

New requirements to report certain financial areangnts with physicians and teaching hospitalsgfiset in the PPACA and its
implementing regulations, including reporting atgahsfer of value” made or distributed to teachingpitals, prescribers, and other
healthcare providers and reporting any ownershipiavestment interests held by physicians and theirediate family members and
applicable group purchasing organizations durirgpteceding calendar year, with data collectiomireg and reporting to the Cent
for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) requiredthg 90th day of each calendar year;

*  Expansion of health care fraud and abuse lawgjdirg the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickbackt8te, new government
investigative powers, and enhanced penalties focompliance;

» Alicensure framework for follow-on biologic prods¢

* A new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Instiuteersee, identify priorities in, and conduct gamative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such research;

»  Creation of the Independent Payment Advisory Baeegnith, beginning in 2014, has authority to recomtheertain changes to the
Medicare program that could result in reduced paysfor prescription products and those recommémuaatould have the effect of
law even if Congress does not act on the recomntiemdaand

e  Establishment of a Center for Medicare Innovatibtha CMS to test innovative payment and servidivelsy models to lower
Medicare and Medicaid spending.

In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted since the PPACA was enactedu@ust 2, 2011, the Budget Cont
Act of 2011, among other things, created measwrespgending reductions by Congress. This includgsemate reductions to Medicare
payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal y€ar.January 2, 2013, President Obama signed intehaw
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American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, amatier things, reduced Medicare payments to sepeoaiders, including hospitals,
imaging centers and cancer treatment centers,naneidased the statute of limitations period forgheernment to recover overpayments to
providers from three to five years. These laws memylt in additional reductions in Medicare andeothealth care funding, which could have &
material adverse effect on our customers and aggyd our financial operations.

Additionally, individual states have become inciegly aggressive in passing legislation and impletimg regulations designed to control
product pricing, including price or patient reimbement constraints, discounts, restrictions orateproduct access, and marketing cost
disclosure and transparency measures, and dedigmedourage importation from other countries amét purchasing. Legally-mandated price
controls on payment amounts by third-party payemstioer restrictions could harm our business, tesfloperations, financial condition and
prospects.

In addition, regional healthcare authorities ardhildual hospitals are increasingly using biddimggedures to determine what products
which suppliers will be included in their healthegrograms. This can reduce demand for our proauqist pressure on our product pricing,
which could negatively affect our business, resofitsperations, financial condition and prospects.

Additionally, given recent federal and state goweent initiatives directed at lowering the total toShealthcare, Congress and state
legislatures will likely continue to focus on hdealare reform and the reform of the Medicare andib&d programs. While we cannot predict
the full outcome of any such legislation, it mayrhaur ability to market our products and generateenues.

Furthermore, regulatory authorities’ assessmetti@fiata and results required to demonstrate safetyeffectiveness can change over time
and can be affected by many factors, such as tleegemce of new information, including on other prag, changing policies and agency
funding, staffing and leadership. We cannot be sirether future changes to the regulatory envirarimél be favorable or unfavorable to ¢
business prospects.

Tissue-based products are regulated differentlydifferent countries. These requirements may be tpand result in delay or otherwise
preclude the distribution of our products in somergign countries, any of which would adversely affeour ability to generate operatin
revenues.

Tissue based products are regulated differenttlifferent countries. Many foreign jurisdictions leea different and may have a more
difficult regulatory pathway for human tissue bagedducts, which may prohibit the distribution bése products until the applicable
regulatory agencies grant marketing approval,c@ngsure. The process of obtaining regulatory agrieMengthy, expensive and uncertain,
we may never seek such approvals, or if we do, @ mever gain those approvals. Any adverse evardariclinical trials for a future product
under development could negatively impact our petglu

Competitor companies or hospitals may be able ketadvantage of the EU rules permitting sales oflieensed medicines for individual
patients to sell competing products without a matikg authorization.

The EU medicines rules allow individual memberesab permit the supply of a medicinal product witha marketing authorization to
fulfill special needs, where the product is supplie response to a bona fide unsolicited ordemfdated in accordance with the specifications
of a healthcare professional and for use by arviddal patient under his direct personal respotigibi

This may, in certain countries, also apply to pidumanufactured in a country outside the EU ambited to treat specific patients or
small groups of patients. In addition, AdvanceerBipy Medicinal Products do not need a marketirigaaization if they are prepared on a
non-routine basis and are used within the same Ehlver state in a hospital under the exclusive psid@al responsibility of a medical
practitioner and in accordance with a medical pipgon for a custom-made product for an individpatient (hamed-patient basis).

These exemptions could allow our competitors toenses in the EU without having obtained a mankegiuthorization and without
undergoing the expense of clinical trials, espgciathose competitors have cell processing féiesi in the relevant EU member state.
Similarly, certain hospitals may be able to compeith us on the basis of these rules. Becausesacly sales would be made without a
marketing authorization, there would be no needHercompetitor company or hospital to refer todlgical data in our marketing
authorization dossiers, and so any data exclusprityection that we may obtain for our products ldawot prevent such competing sales.

The current credit and financial market conditionmay exacerbate certain risks affecting our business

We rely upon third parties for certain aspectswflausiness, including collaboration partners, whale distributors, contract clinical trial
providers, contract manufacturers and third-panfypdiers. Because of the recent tightening of dlabadit and the
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volatility in the financial markets, there may bdeday or disruption in the performance or satitiacof commitments to us by these third
parties, which could adversely affect our business.

We are dependent on our key manufacturing, quakityd other management personnel and the loss of ahthese individuals could harm
our business.

Our success depends in large part upon the effbdar key management and manufacturing and qustitff. The loss of any of these
individuals, or our inability to attract and retdimghly qualified scientific and management perssmin a timely manner, could materially and
adversely affect our business and our future prispdn the future, we may need to seek additiomiufacturing and quality staff members.
There is a high demand for highly trained manufaetuand quality personnel in our industry. Weg@ompetition for such personnel from
other companies, research and academic institudindother entities. We do not know whether wé lvdlable to attract, train and retain
highly qualified manufacturing and quality personinethe future, which could have a material adeezffect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. A loss of onenore of our key personnel could severely arghtieely impact our operations. Our key
personnel are employed “at-will,” and any of themynelect to pursue other opportunities at any tivie have no present intention of
obtaining key man life insurance on any of our keanagement, manufacturing, quality or other persbnn

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
We have no patent protection for Epicel.

We have no issued patents or pending patent apiphsarelating to Epicel. While we attempt to padteur proprietary information as trade
secrets through certain agreements with our empgy@nsultants, agents and other organizationbitth we disclose our proprietary
information, we cannot give any assurance thaetlagseements will provide effective protectiondar proprietary information in the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of such informatibother cultured epidermal autografts are appdoaed marketed, we will be unable to
prevent them from competing with Epicel in the nedpkace. We expect that the presence of one or owmgeting products would reduce our
market share and could negatively impact pricelsegrd third party reimbursement policies for Epieay of which would materially affect
our business.

Our issued patents relating to Carticel and MACI lvéxpire soon and may be insufficient to proteatrobusiness.

We have issued patents in the United States acelriain foreign countries that relate to the coratians of chondrocytes and collagen
membranes used in Carticel and MACI. However, $saéd patents relating to Carticel are scheduledpoe by August of 2016 in the U.S.
and by 2022 in Europe. Furthermore, the issuechfmatelating to MACI are scheduled to expire by Astgof 2016 in the U.S. and by
August of 2017 in Europe. When these patents expgrenay be subject to increased competition andpportunity to establish or maintain
product revenue could be substantially reducedimireated.

The patents we own may not be of sufficient scapgtrength to provide us with significant commekgigtection or commercial advanta
and competitors may be able to design around dengsor develop products that provide outcomesatesimilar to ours without infringing
on our intellectual property rights. In additione wannot be certain that any of our pending patpplications will be issued or that the scop
the claims in our pending patent applications ndt be significantly narrowed or determined to finealid

If our patents and proprietary rights do not provédsubstantial protection, then our business and qaetitive position will suffer.

Our success depends in large part on our abilitdetelop or license intellectual property rightgtotect our proprietary products and
technologies. This involves complex legal, sciemtand factual questions and uncertainties. @i upon patent, trade secret, copyright and
contract laws to protect proprietary technology trademark law to protect brand identities. Howewes cannot assure you that any patent
applications filed by, assigned to, or licensedsavill be granted, and that the scope of any ofigsued or licensed patents will be sufficiently
broad to offer meaningful protection. In additionyr issued patents or patents licensed to us dcmikliccessfully challenged, invalidated, helc
to be unenforceable, or circumvented so that oterpaights would not create an effective compegitbarrier. We also cannot assure you tha
the inventors of the patents and applicationsweabwn or license were the first to invent or thistfto file on the inventions, or that a third
party will not claim ownership in one of our pateor patent applications. We cannot assure yduathadrd party does not have or will not
obtain patents that dominate the patents we oviicerse now or in the future.

Patent law relating to the scope of claims in tieédzhnology field is evolving and our patent rigiiti this country and abroad are subject t«
this uncertainty. For example, from time to tinfee tJ.S. Supreme Court (Supreme Court), other féderats, the U.S. Congress or the Unitec
States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) maygshtire standards of patentability and any suchgesan
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could have a negative impact on our business. Tiere been several cases involving “gene patent$tdagnostic claims that have been
considered by the Supreme Court. A suit broughniitiple plaintiffs, including the American Civiliberties Union (ACLU) against Myriad
Genetics (Myriad) and the USPTO, could impact lubtelogy and diagnostic patents. That case invaleesin of Myriad’s U.S. patents
related to the breast cancer susceptibility geiR6A&L and BRCA2. The Federal Circuit court issuedristen decision on July 29, 2011 that
reversed the decision of the U.S. District Courttfee Southern District of New York that Myriad’sraposition claims to “isolated” DNA
molecules cover unpatentable subject matter. Theraé Circuit court instead held that the breasteagenes are patentable subject matter.
Subsequently, on March 20, 2012, the Supreme Gssuéd a decision in Mayo Collaborative v. Promashieaboratories (Prometheus) a case
involving patent claims directed to optimizing thmount of drug administered to a specific pati@otording to that decision, Prometheus’
claims failed to add enough inventive content ®muhderlying correlations to allow the processey tescribe to qualify as patent-eligible
processes that apply natural laws. The SupremetGohsequently granted certiorari in the Myriadecascated the judgment, and remanded
the case back to the Federal Circuit court foeiriconsideration in light of their decision in fRlmmetheus case. The Federal Circuit court
heard oral arguments on July 20, 2012, and issuktigion on August 16, 2012. The Federal Cironitrtreaffirmed its earlier decision and
held that composition of matter claims directedstdated nucleic acids are patent-eligible subjeatter, but that method claims consisting of
only abstract mental processes are not patenbligdn September 25, 2012, the ACLU filed a pmtitior a writ of certiorari asking the
Supreme Court to review the Federal Circuit cout&sision with respect to the composition of mattaims. On November 30, 2012, the
Supreme Court granted the petition and agreedviewethe case. On June 13, 2013, the Supreme @surd a decision in the Myriad case.
According to the decision, claims directed to geimoBNA cover unpatentable subject matter. Howegkaims directed to cDNA are patent
eligible subject matter .

On March 4, 2014, the USPTO issued a memoranduitheeli?2014 Procedure For Subject Matter Eligilyil&nalysis Of Claims Reciting
Or Involving Laws Of Nature/Natural Principles, Nedl Phenomena, And/Or Natural Product®iis memorandum provides guidance to p:
examiners for examining claims reciting laws ofunatnatural principles, natural phenomena, anddtural products for patent eligibility in
view of the Supreme Court decisions in PromethadsMyriad. The guidance indicates that claims iegisuch natural subject matter, read as
a whole, that do not significantly differ from suehtural subject matter should be rejected as tetotery subject matter. We cannot assure
you that our patent portfolio or our efforts to ls@atent protection for our technology and prodwgtsnot be negatively impacted by ti
guidance issued by the USPTO, the decisions destabove, rulings in other cases, or changes otagae or procedures issued by the
USPTO.

Congress directed the USPTO to study effective waysovide independent, confirming genetic diagicdgst activity where gene patents
and exclusive licensing for primary genetic diagimoests exist. This study will examine the imptat independent second opinion testing
on providing medical care to patients; the efflet providing independent second opinion genetigmstic testing would have on the existing
patent and license holders of an exclusive gemetic the impact of current practices on testirsylits and performance; and the role of
insurance coverage on the provision of geneticraiatic tests. The USPTO was directed to reporfitiséings of the study to Congress and
provide recommendations for establishing the aldity of independent confirming genetic diagnogsst activity by June 16, 2012. On
August 28, 2012, the Department of Commerce séattex to the House and Senate Judiciary Comniligaership updating them on the sti
of the genetic testing report. The letter stategdart: “Given the complexity and diversity of thgimions, comments, and suggestions provided
by interested parties, and the important policysaerations involved, we believe that further rewidiscussion, and analysis are required
before a final report can be submitted to Congtddse USPTO issued a Request for Comments and &lofi®ublic Hearing on Genetic
Diagnostic Testing on January 25, 2012, and hetdiitiadal public hearings in February and March 201 & unclear whether the results of t
study will be acted upon by the USPTO or resufangressional efforts to change the law or proteasmanner that could negatively impact
our present or future patent portfolio.

There can be no assurance that the Supreme Cdad'sion in either the Myriad or Prometheus cadkenet have a negative impact on
biotechnology patents generally or the ability mitbchnology companies to obtain or enforce thatepts in the future. Such negative
decisions by the Supreme Court could have a mhtatieerse effect on our existing patent portfolna @ur ability to protect and enforce our
intellectual property in the future.

We also rely on trade secrets and un-patentable-mav that we seek to protect, in part, by configsity agreements with our employees,
consultants, suppliers and licensees. These agrésmmay be breached, and we might not have aderpraedies for any breach. Our
competitors may also independently develop teclgietosubstantially equivalent or superior to oufghis were to occur, our business and
competitive position would suffer.

37




Table of Contents

Given our patent position in regard to our produci§we are unable to protect the confidentiality our proprietary information and know-
how related to these products, our competitive fiosiwould be impaired and our business, financiedndition and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Some of our technology, including our knowledgearegng the processing our products, is unpatermedsamaintained by us as trade
secrets. In an effort to protect these trade $&one require our employees, consultants, colktbos and advisors to execute confidentiality
agreements upon the commencement of their reldtijpsisvith us. These agreements require that afidential information developed by the
individual or made known to the individual by ugidg the course of the individualtrelationship with us be kept confidential and distlosec
to third parties. These agreements, however, roapnovide us with adequate protection against appr use or disclosure of confidential
information, and these agreements may be breachdmleach of confidentiality could affect our conipiee position. In addition, in some
situations, these agreements may conflict withheosubject to, the rights of third parties with whour employees, consultants, collaborators
or advisors have previous employment or consultitationships. Also, others may independently tgysubstantially equivalent proprietary
information and techniques or otherwise gain actessir trade secrets.

Adequate remedies may not exist in the event ofithwaized use or disclosure of our confidentiabmfation. The disclosure of our trade
secrets would impair our competitive position andld have a material adverse effect on our busjrissicial condition and results of
operations.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmissions, fee payment and
other requirements imposed by governmental pategecies, and our patent protection could be reducectliminated for non-compliance
with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patemiugréo be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent@geiin several stages over the
lifetime of the patent. The USPTO and variousifymegovernmental patent agencies require compligritea number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other similar promsiduring the patent application process. Whileadvertent lapse can in many cases be
cured by payment of a late fee or by other meamgd@ordance with the applicable rules, there dvatsbns in which noncompliance can result
in abandonment or lapse of the patent or paterlicapipn, resulting in partial or complete losspaftent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-
compliance events that could result in abandonmelatpse of a patent or patent application inclimg,are not limited to, failure to respond to
official actions within prescribed time limits, ngrayment of fees and failure to properly legalimd aubmit formal documents. If we fail to
maintain the patents and patent applications cogerur products or product candidates, our compefgosition would be adversely affected.

With respect to MACI and ixmyelocel-T, if we are able to obtain and enforce patents and to proteot trade secrets, others could use our
technology to compete with us, which could limitpaptunities for us to generate revenues by licergsiour technology and selling products.

Our success will depend in part on our ability bbain and enforce patents and maintain trade seicréthe United States and in other
countries. If we are unsuccessful in obtaining enfibrcing patents, our competitors could use ecinriology and create products that compet
with our products, without paying license feesaymaities to us.

The preparation, filing, and prosecution of patglications can be costly and time consuming. litnited financial resources may not
permit us to pursue patent protection of all of mahnology and products throughout the world.

Even if we are able to obtain issued patents cogesur technology or products, we may have to iscilostantial legal fees and other
expenses to enforce our patent rights in orderdtept our technology and products from infringires. We may not have the financial
resources to finance the litigation required tespree our patent and trade secret rights.

A successful challenge to our trademarks could feras to rebrand Epicel, Carticel, or MAC

We rely on our trademarks to distinguish our prasifiom the products of our competitors, and haggistered or applied to register a
number of these trademarks. Third parties maylehgé our use of the trademarks. In the eventahatrademarks are successfully
challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our prtsguvhich could result in loss of brand recogmitésd could require us to devote resources
to advertising and marketing these new brands.

Intellectual property litigation could harm our busess. We may be subject to patent infringemeniraksithat could be costly to defen
which may limit our ability to use disputed techroglies, and which could prevent us from pursuing eesch and development or
commercialization of some of our products, requiss to pay licensing fees to have freedom to opeegatd/or result in monetary damages or
other liability for us.

The success of our business will depend signifigant our ability to operate without infringing jgaits and other proprietary rights of
others. Our cell processing system and cell coitipos utilize a wide variety of technologies and wan give no assurance that we have
identified or can identify all inventions and patethat may be infringed by development and manufa®f our cell
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compositions. If the technology that we use infes a patent held by others, we could be sued dmetary damages by the patent holder or it
licensee, or we could be prevented from continu@sgarch, development, and commercialization ayets that rely on that technology,
unless we are able to obtain a license to useatemp The cost and availability of a license fmtent cannot be predicted, and the likelihood
of obtaining a license at an acceptable cost wbaltbwer if the patent holder or any of its liceesés using the patent to develop or market a
product with which any of our existing product catades or our products would compete. If we cowdtiobtain a necessary license, we wouls
need to develop or obtain rights to alternativéatedogies, which could prove costly and could cadeays in product development, or we
could be forced to discontinue the development arketing of any products that were developed uirgechnology covered by the patent.

Although we have not been subject to any filedimgfement claims, patents could exist or could kel fivhich would prohibit or limit our
ability to market our products or maintain our catitve position. In the event of an intellectpabperty dispute, we may be forced to litige
Such litigation is typically protracted and theuks are unpredictable. Intellectual propertyghtiion would divert managemestattention fror
developing our products and would force us to irstbbstantial costs regardless of whether we amesstul. An adverse outcome could
subject us to significant liabilities to third piag including treble damages and the opposing jgaatjorney fees, and force us to pay significan
license fees and royalties or cease the developamehsale of our products and processes.

We have hired and expect to continue to hire imligls who have experience in cell culture andlzzdled therapeutics and may have
confidential trade secret or proprietary informataf third parties. We caution these individuat$ to use or reveal this thigghrty informatior
but we cannot assure you that these individuallsnetluse or reveal this third-party informatiofhus, we could be sued for misappropriation
of proprietary information and trade secrets. Stlaims are expensive to defend and could diverattention and could result in substantial
damage awards and injunctions that could have arrabadverse effect on our business, financiatld@n or results of operations.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our intellectual property, which could be eapsive, time consuming and
unsuccessful and have a material adverse effectlom success of our business.

Competitors may infringe our patents or misappatpror otherwise violate our intellectual propeights. To counter infringement or
unauthorized use, litigation may be necessaryarfuture to enforce or defend our intellectual gy rights, to protect our trade secrets or to
determine the validity and scope of our own inteliel property rights or the proprietary rightsottiers. Also, third parties may initiate legal
proceedings against us to challenge the validitycope of intellectual property rights we own ontrtol. These proceedings can be expensive
and time consuming. Many of our current and péénbmpetitors have the ability to dedicate sultiadly greater resources to defend their
intellectual property rights than we can. Accogiyn despite our efforts, we may not be able tovpré third parties from infringing upon or
misappropriating our intellectual property.

Litigation could result in substantial costs andedsion of management resources, which could hambesiness and financial results. In
addition, in an infringement proceeding, a couryrdacide that a patent owned by or licensed t@ usvialid or unenforceable, or may refusi
stop the other party from using the technologsiié on the grounds that our patents do not chedethnology in question. An adverse
result in any litigation proceeding could put omevmre of our patents at risk of being invalidateeld unenforceable or interpreted narrowly.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amourisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatiohhere could also be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motiowsher interim proceedings or developments. ¢usigies analysts or investors perceive
these results to be negative, it could have a maatatverse effect on our business, financial cidoior results of operations.

If we infringe the rights of third parties we coulte prevented from selling products, forced to pimages, and defend against litigation

If our products, methods, processes and other tdodies infringe the proprietary rights of othertpes, we could incur substantial costs
we may have to: obtain licenses, which may notaél@le on commercially reasonable terms, if htaeddandon an infringing product; redes
our products or processes to avoid infringemenp ssing the subject matter claimed in the pateeld by others; pay damages; and/or defen
litigation or administrative proceedings which nisy/costly whether we win or lose, and which coeklit in a substantial diversion of our
financial and management resources.
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Intellectual property rights do not necessarily agds all potential threats to our competitive advage.

The degree of future protection afforded by oueliettual property rights is uncertain becausdlagttual property rights have limitations,
and may not adequately protect our business, onipas to maintain our competitive advantage. fidilewing examples are illustrative:

e Others may be able to make products that are the sa or similar to our products or product cartdslebut that are not covered by
the claims of the patents that we own or have ekohly licensed;

*  We or any strategic partners might not have beetiitst to make the inventions covered by the idguaents or pending patent
applications that we own or have exclusively licahs

*  We might not have been the first to file patentlimgions covering certain of our inventions;

»  Others may independently develop similar or altéweaechnologies or duplicate any of our techn@sgvithout infringing our
intellectual property rights;

» ltis possible that our pending patent applicatiaiisnot lead to issued patents;

e Issued patents that we own or have exclusivelynied may not provide us with any competitive adages, or may be held invalid
unenforceable as a result of legal challenges;

e Our competitors might conduct research and devedoprmactivities in the U.S. and other countries titavide a safe harbor from
patent infringement claims for certain research @enelopment activities, as well as in countriegerehwe do not have patent rights
and then use the information learned from suclvisies to develop competitive products for sal®im major commercial markets;

We may not develop additional proprietary technmedhat are patentable; and

The patents of others may have an adverse effeatiohusiness.

Others may challenge our patent or other intellgtooperty rights or sue us for infringement.

The government maintains certain rights in techn@y that we develop using government grant money amdmay lose the revenues from
such technology if we do not commercialize and iagl the technology pursuant to established governhguidelines.

Certain of our and our licenson®search have been or are being funded in parbbgrgment grants. As a result of such funding,Uhéed
States government has established guidelines andentain rights in the technology developed whith grant. These rights include a non-
exclusive, fully paid-up, worldwide license undeck inventions for any governmental purpose. Iritamig the United States government has
the right to require us to grant an exclusive Isgennder any of such inventions to a third partiiéf United States government determines tha
(i) adequate steps have not been taken to comrtizecsaich inventions; (ii) such action is necessamneet public health or safety needs; or
(iii) such action is necessary to meet requiremfatpublic use under federal regulations. Addititty, under the federal Bayh Dole Act, a
party which acquires an exclusive license for aeimion that was partially funded by a federal agsk grant is subject to the following
government rights: (x) products using the inventidrich are sold in the United States are to be rfzamtwred substantially in the United States
unless a waiver is obtained; (y) the government foege the granting of a license to a third parhowvill make and sell the needed product if
the licensee does not pursue reasonable commeatiati of a needed product using the invention;(@pthe United States government may
use the invention for its own needs. If we faihteet these guidelines, we would lose our exclusgtes to these products, and we would lose
potential revenue derived from the sale of theselyts.

The use of our products and product candidates nexpose us to product liability claims, and we magt he able to obtain adequate
insurance. As a result, such claims could affectreearnings and financial condition.

We face an inherent business risk of exposuredduyat liability claims in the event that the maratfae and/or use of our products during
clinical trials, or after commercialization, resuih adverse events. Moreover, we derive the raterals for our products from patients
serving as their own donors, the production progesemplex, and the handling requirements areipeall of which increase the likelihood
of quality failures and subsequent product liapititaims. We may not be able to obtain or mainpaduct liability insurance on acceptable
terms with adequate coverage or at all. If weusnable to obtain insurance, or if claims againstulsstantially exceed our coverage, then our
business could be adversely impacted. Excesssugdance costs or uninsured claims would increasemerating loss and adversely affect oul
financial condition. Whether or not we are ultiglgtsuccessful in any product liability litigatiosiich litigation could consume substantial
amounts of our financial and managerial resouroédscauld result in, among other things:

. Significant awards against us;
. Substantial litigation costs;

. Recall of the product;

. Injury to our reputation;
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. Withdrawal of clinical trial participants; or
. Adverse regulatory action.

Any of these results could have a material adveffeet on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.
Risks Related to an Investment in our Common Stock

We have identified a material weakness in our irmat control over financial reporting. If we fail taoemediate this material weakness and
implement and maintain proper and effective interineontrol over financial reporting in the future, or ability to produce accurate and
timely financial statements could be impaired, whicould harm our operating results, investors’ viewf us and, as a result, the value of
our common stock.

We identified a material weakness in the operadioour internal controls over financial reporting @ June 30, 2014. A material weakness
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficienciesinternal control over financial reporting, sutifat there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of our annual or interimficial statements will not be prevented or deteoted timely basis. The material weakness
relates to the evaluation of significant transattiand the financial close process. Specifically did not have a sufficient level of accounting
and supervisory personnel nor did we have the gypjate level of technical accounting experience @aithing necessary for our financial
reporting requirements during this period. Thisenat weakness contributed to adjustments identifig our independent registered public
accounting firm during the quarter ended June 8Q42and still existed as of December 31, 2014. Aleeltommenced efforts to remediate thi
material weakness through process and internatadntprovements. However, if we cannot correctregerial weakness we have identified,
or if we experience other material weaknesses tovesnfidence and our stock price could be adWigected. Further, if material
weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal conggist and go undetected, our financial statememitd contain material misstatements that,
when discovered in the future, could cause usikedaneet our future reporting obligations and sathe price of our common stock to decl

The market price of the common stock of the comldreompany may be affected by factors different frtimose affecting the market price
for our common stock in recent histor

Our business in recent history differs from thatref CTRM business, and our current combined basidéfers from recent history, and
accordingly, the results of operations for the comatd company may be affected by factors differemfthose affecting our results of
operation in recent history. As a result, the mapkiee for our stock may be impacted differentiyttie future by those factors than it is
currently .

Our common stock price has been volatile and futwaes of shares of common stock could have an eslveffect on the market price of
such shares

The market price of shares of our common stockieas volatile, ranging in closing price betweeré%2and $6.49 during the year ended
December 31, 2014. The price of our common stoak continue to fluctuate in response to a numbewvehts and factors, such as:

*  Clinical trial results;

e Ourinability to successfully integrate the acqdibaisiness with our existing business;

»  The amount of our cash resources and our abiligbtain additional funding;

* Announcements of research activities, businessldewents, technological innovations or new prodibgtsis or our competitors;
»  Entering into or terminating strategic relationship

*  Regulatory developments in both the United Stateisadoroad,;

» Disputes concerning patents or proprietary rights;

* Changes in our revenues or expense levels;

»  Seasonal or other variations in patient deman&#oticel and Epicel;

»  Public concern regarding the safety, efficacy beotspects of the products or methodologies weeareloping;
*  News or reports from other stem cell, cell therapyegenerative medicine companies;

*  Reports by securities analysts;

»  Status of the investment markets;

»  Concerns related to management transitions; and

»  Delisting from The NASDAQ Capital Market.
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Any of these events may cause the price of oureshtarfall, which may adversely affect our busireass financing opportunities. In
addition, the stock market in general and the ntgrkiees for biotechnology companies in particiilave experienced significant volatility
recently that often has been unrelated to the dipgrperformance or financial conditions of sucimg@nies. These broad market and industry
fluctuations may adversely affect the trading po€eur common stock, regardless of our operatigrgpmance or prospects.

Our failure to meet the continued listing requiremts of The NASDAQ Capital Market could result inde-listing of our common stock.

If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requinents of The NASDAQ Capital Market, such as theomte governance requirements ol
minimum closing bid price requirement, NASDAQ maé steps to de-list our common stock. Such astiedi would likely have a negative
effect on the price of our common stock and wouigdair your ability to sell or purchase our commtatk when you wish to do so. In the
event of a de-listing, we would take actions tdaesour compliance with NASDAQ's listing requirentg, but we can provide no assurance
that any such action taken by us would allow oumemn stock to become listed again, stabilize theketaorice or improve the liquidity of our
common stock, prevent our common stock from drogppi@ow the NASDAQ minimum bid price requiremenfpoevent future non-
compliance with NASDAQ's listing requirements.

The sale of our common stock through future equifferings may cause dilution and could cause theqgar of our common stock to decline.

In the yearended December 31, 2014, we sold (i) an aggregass gmount of approximately $7.1 million worthsbfres of common sto
pursuant to our At-the-Market Sales Agreement (AWith MLV (ii) an aggregate of approximately $3.7llimn worth of shares of our
common stock to Lincoln Park pursuant to the Lind®dark Equity Line, and (iii) on September 17, 2044@ sold 15.8 million shares of
common stock under a Form S-1 registration statémngh pursuant to a prospectus first made availabi®eptember 11, 2014. During 2013,
we sold (i) an aggregate of approximately $5.2iamlbf shares of common stock pursuant to our ATMtigh December 31, 2013, and (ii) in
August 2013, we sold 1.5 million shares of commimals and warrants to purchase up to 1.5 milliorresaf common stock under a Form S-1
registration statement and pursuant to a prospsciuslement first made available on August 14, 2013 ATM, which as of December 31,
2014 had remaining capacity of approximately $7ilion, allowed us to sell our common stock frommé to time under a registration
statement on Form S-3 filed in June 2011, pursteawhich we registered $100 million of our secestfor public sale. The Form S-3
registration statement filed in June 2011 expireduly 2014. Additionally, pursuant to the Linc®#ark Equity Line we may direct Lincoln
Park to purchase up to $15 million worth of shariesur common stock over a 30-month period gengralamounts up to 50 thousand shares
of our common stock. As of December 31, 2014, wkreanaining capacity of approximately $11.3 milliworth of shares under the Lincoln
Park Equity Line. However, there are certain fagtsuch as volume of trading in our common stoakstock price and the ability to terminate
the agreement with notice, which limit the amounattcan be raised in a short period of time thrathghLincoln Park Equity Line.

Sales of our common stock offered through futungitgepfferings may result in substantial dilutianthe interests of other holders of our
common stock. The sale of a substantial numbshafes of our common stock to investors, or argtwp of such sales, could make it more
difficult for us to sell equity or equity-relatedcurities in the future at a time and at a priad the might otherwise wish to effect sales.

We do not anticipate paying dividends on our commstock, and accordingly, shareholders must relgtook appreciation for any return
their investment.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock and do not expect to do so in theskeable future. The declaration of
dividends is subject to the discretion of our boafrdirectors and will depend on various factongjuding our operating results, financial
condition, future prospects and any other facteented relevant by our board of directors. You sthook rely on an investment in our
company if you require dividend income from yowastment in our company. The success of your invest will likely depend entirely upon
any future appreciation of the market price of cmmmon stock, which is uncertain and unpredictalitere is no guarantee that our common
stock will appreciate in value.

We expect that our quarterly results of operationdl fluctuate, and this fluctuation could cause awstock price to decline.

Our quarterly operating results are likely to fluete in the future. These fluctuations could causestock price to decline. The nature of
our business involves variable factors, such asiithiag of the research, development and regulgbatiways of our product candidates, wi
could cause our operating results to fluctuate.
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Due to the possibility of fluctuations in our rewms and expenses, we believe that quarter-to-guameparisons of our operating results
are not a good indication of our future performance

Efforts to comply with recently enacted changessiecurities laws and regulations will increase oursts and require additional
management resources, and we still may fail to cdynp

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, the Securities and Exchange Commis$&C() adopted rules requiring
public companies to include a report of manageroartheir internal controls over financial reportimgheir annual reports on Form 10-K. In
addition, in the event we are no longer a sma#lporting company, the independent registered pualsiiounting firm auditing our financial
statements would be required to attest to the @ffress of our internal controls over financigdaging. If we are unable to conclude that we
have effective internal controls over financialegjng or if our independent registered public ao@ng firm is required to, but is unable to
provide us with a report as to the effectivenessusfinternal controls over financial reportingyéstors could lose confidence in the reliability
of our financial statements, which could resuladidecrease in the value of our securities.

If our common stock becomes subject to the £s penny stock rules, broker-dealers may experieddculty in completing customer
transactions and trading activity in our securitienay be adversely affected.

If at any time our securities are no longer listeda national securities exchange, including Th&RAQ Stock Market, or we have net
tangible assets of $5.0 million or less and our mmm stock has a market price per share of less#hd®, transactions in our common stock
will be subject to the SEC’s “penny stock” rulesolir common stock becomes subject to the “penogkstrules promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, brdéalers may find it difficult to effectuate custentransactions and trading activity in our
securities may be adversely affected. For any &etitm involving a penny stock, unless exempt rthes require:

*  That a broker or dealer approve a person’s acdoumtansactions in penny stocks; and
*  The broker or dealer receives from the investorittem agreement to the transaction, setting firéhidentity and quantity of the
penny stock to be purchased.

In order to approve a person’s account for tran@astn penny stocks, the broker or dealer must:

e Obtain financial information and investment expece objectives of the person; and
 Make areasonable determination that the transactiopenny stocks are suitable for that persontla@gerson has sufficient
knowledge and experience in financial matters todmable of evaluating the risks of transactionsenny stocks.

The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior tg ansaction in a penny stock, a disclosure sdeeuhescribed by the SEC relating to the
penny stock market, which, in highlight form:

»  Sets forth the basis on which the broker or deakie the suitability determination; and
e  That the broker or dealer received a signed, wrigigreement from the investor prior to the trarisact

Generally, brokers may be less willing to execrdi@gactions in securities subject to the “penngldtaules. This may make it more diffic
for investors to dispose of our common stock angean decline in the market value of our stock.

Disclosure also has to be made about the risksvekting in penny stocks in both public offeringsl @ secondary trading and about the
commissions payable to both the broker-dealer haddgistered representative, current quotationth&securities and the rights and remedie
available to an investor in cases of fraud in pestogk transactions. Finally, monthly statemenigeha be sent disclosing recent price
information for the penny stock held in the accoamd information on the limited market in pennyc&

Our corporate documents and Michigan law containguisions that may make it more difficult for us twe acquired.

Our Board of Directors (Board) has the authoritithaut shareholder approval, to issue additionates of preferred stock and to fix the
rights, preferences, privileges and restrictionthebe shares without any further vote or actionuryshareholders. Michigan law contains a
provision that makes it more difficult for a 10%asbholder, or its officers, to acquire a comparisauthority, together with certain
provisions of our charter documents, may have tfeeteof making it more difficult for a third party acquire, or of discouraging a third-party
from attempting to acquire, control of our companlis effect could occur even if our shareholdenssider the change in control to be in theil
best interest. We have adopted a shareholder nidgus the purpose of which is, among other thitggnhance our Board's ability to protect
shareholder interests and to ensure that shargbalgieeive fair treatment in the event any coertakeover attempt of our company is made ir
the future. The shareholder rights plan could miakeore difficult for
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a third party to acquire, or could discourage edtparty from acquiring, our company or a largecklof our company’s common stock.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties

We lease approximately 26,000 square feet in ArioArMichigan and 50,000 square feet in Cambritidgssachusetts. In conjunction
with the acquisition of the CTRM Business, the campalso assumed the leases for the facility irtiips Denmark. The Ann Arbor lease
agreement expires in April 2018 and the Cambridgkkastrup leases expire in February 2017. Théitfesiinclude clean rooms, laboratories
and office space. We believe that our facilities alequate to meet our current needs. We beliaveti facilities are adequate for our current
needs. Additional facilities may be required topson expansion for research and development aiesviir to assume manufacturing operation:
that are currently fulfilled through contract maactiuring relationships.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are currently not party to any material legalgeedings, although from time to time we may becomelved in disputes in connection
with the operation of our business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stednolder Matters and Issuer Purchase of Equity Seitigs
Our common stock is currently quoted on the NASDB&pital Market under the symbol “VCEL”. The follawg table sets forth the high
and low closing prices per share of common stoalepsrted on the NASDAQ Stock Market. Prices pers of our common stock have been

adjusted for the twenty-for-one reverse stock gpliDctober 16, 2013 on a retroactive basis.

Price Range of Common Stock

High Low
Year ended December 31, 2C
First Quarte! $ 28.2( % 14.0C
Second Quarte 16.0( 8.0z
Third Quatrtel 15.4¢ 5.4(C
Fourth Quarte 5.8( 3.21
Year ended December 31, 2C
First Quarte! $ 6.4¢ $ 3.31
Second Quarte 5.0t 3.51
Third Quartel 4.0¢ 2.61
Fourth Quarte 3.04 2.6¢

As of February 28, 2015 there were approximately A@ders of record of the common stock. We haxgenpaid any cash dividends on
our common stock and we do not anticipate paying ®ash dividends in the foreseeable future. Weently anticipate that we will retain all
future earnings, if any, for use in the developrmardur business.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2014

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2014 with respect to compensation glankiding individual compensation
arrangements) under which equity securities areoaized for issuances:
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Weighted Average Number of Securities
Number of Securities Exercise Price of Remaining Available
to be Issued upon Exercise Outstanding for Future Issuance
of Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants Under Equity
Warrants and Rights and Rights Compensation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders (employees and directors) 477,530 $ 21.7¢ 4,011,60!

(1) The material features of these securities are iestin Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Staets.
(2) Shares issuable under the 2009 Omnibus Incentam Pl
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The following is a summary of all securities tha have sold within the past three years withoustegfion under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended.

On March 9, 2012, the Company entered into a SiesifPurchase Agreement with Eastern Capital LishigeCayman exempted company
(“ECL™), to sell 12,308 shares of Series B-1 Nontivig Preferred Stock in a private placement to E&l ;accredited investor” (as defined in
Regulation D) under the Securities Act, at a pat#3,250.00 per share. The Series B-1 Sharesexeteanged on a one-for-one basis for
shares of the Series B-2 Voting Preferred Stodk@fCompany. The sales of the shares of Serigef@rped stock were made only to a select
number of accredited investors in reliance uporettamptions from registration afforded by Rule 8®®&egulation D as promulgated by the
SEC under the Securities Act and/or Section 4(2hefSecurities Act.

On June 27, 2012, the Company entered into sepaeatant exchange agreements with each of certdders of the Company’s
outstanding warrants to purchase the Company’s aamstock, issued in connection with the Companyésémnber 2010 public offering, with
an exercise price of $64.40 and an expiration daRecember 15, 2015. Pursuant to such warrartasge agreements, on June 27, 2012, th
Company issued an aggregate of 191,667 sharesrohoa stock to Great Point Partners and its affiiahvestment funds, Heights Capital
Management and its affiliated investment funds,rbield Capital and its affiliated investment fundsd Millenium Management and its
affiliated investment funds in exchange for thaender of an aggregate of 383,333 warrants.

On July 30, 2012, the Company announced the resilits previously announced offer to exchange {Ewchange Offer”) any warrant to
purchase shares of common stock, no par valuehpee sof the Company issued in connection withGbmpany’s December 2010 public
offering, which was tendered and accepted, foreshaf the Company’s common stock. Such Exchanfgr @as made upon the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in the Comparffer to exchange, dated June 28, 2012, anceinelated Exchange Offer materials filed as
exhibits to the Tender Offer Statement on Sche@@eoriginally filed with the Securities and Excha@ommission on June 28, 2012, as
amended. The Exchange Offer expired at 5:00 feastern Standard Time, on Friday, July 27, 2012.

The issuance of shares of Common Stock in the waerechanges was made pursuant to the exemptiontfre registration requirements
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, provide8dxtion 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act. No proceegre received and no commissions wer
paid by the Company in connection with the Excha@ger.

On January 21, 2014, we completed a private plasetod.incoln Park Capital Fund, LLC pursuant toiegthwe have the right to sell to
Lincoln Park up to $15.0 million in shares of commutock, subject to certain limitations, from titeetime over the 30-month period
commencing on the date that a registration stateowering the resale of the shares is declaregt®fe by the SEC. In connection with the
private placement, we issued to Lincoln Park, 48 §i6ares of common stock as an initial commitmensitleration. The issuance and sale of
common shares by us to Lincoln Park was made wittegistration under the Securities Act in relianoethe exemptions provided by
Section 4(2) of the Act and Regulation D promuldateereunder based on the offering of such seesriti one investor, the lack of any gen
solicitation or advertising in connection with suskuance, the representation of such investotitthaats an “accredited investor” (as defined ir
Regulation D) under the Securities Act and thatais purchasing the shares for its own account atbut a view to distribute them.

45




Table of Contents
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
There were no repurchases of shares of common stadk during the year ended December 31, 2014.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Not applicable.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations
Overview

Vericel Corporation is a leader in developing patigpecific expanded cellular therapies for usth@ntreatment of patients with severe
diseases and conditions. We market two autologelisherapy products in the United States: Car®@d@utologous cultured chondrocytes), an
autologous chondrocyte implant for the treatmerdasfilage defects in the knee, and Epicel® (celluepidermal autografts), a permanent skil
replacement for the treatment of patients with déegmnal or full-thickness burns comprising grediean or equal to 30 percent of total body
surface area. We are also developing MACI™, a thederation autologous chondrocyte implant fortteatment of cartilage defects in the
knee, and ixmyelocel-T, a patient-specific mulfigielr therapy for the treatment of advanced healtife due to ischemic dilated
cardiomyopathy.

Acquisition of Sanofi's CTRM Business

On May 30, 2014 , we completed the acquisitionai@i’'s Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine (GMRusiness, certain assets ,
including all of the outstanding equity interest&G@nzyme Biosurgery ApS (now known as Astr ém BOIENCES DK ApS)(the Danish
subsidiary), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sanofilaver 250 patents and patent applications ofeélersand certain of its subsidiaries and
assumed certain liabilities for purposes of acqgia portion of the CTRM business, which researatb@selops, manufactures, markets and
sells Carticel , MACI and Epicel (the CTRM Transan}. In consideration for the acquisition of th€RM business, we paid a total purchase
price of approximately $6.5 million, as follows) @4 million was paid in cash on the closing ddtthe CTRM Transaction, and (b) a
$2.5 million promissory note which was paid on J8ly 2014.

Concurrent with the closing of the CTRM Transactime and Sanofi entered into (i) certain IP assigminand license agreements to effect
the transfer and license of the intellectual propeglated to the CTRM Business assigned and/en$ied to us, (ii) certain assignment and
assumption of lease agreements for each of th@repérty leases being assigned to us, and @iisition services and transition supply
agreements.

In consideration for the acquisition of the CTRMdhess, we paid a total purchase price of appraeiyn&6.5 million, as follows: (a) $4.0
million was paid in cash on the closing date of @¥%&RM Transaction, and (b) a $2.5 million promigsoote which we repaid on July 30, 20
In accordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States of America (U.S. GAARe recorded the assets and liabilities
of the CTRM Business at fair value. The net assktse CTRM Business were preliminarily valued&0.0 million, which is in excess of the
$6.5 million purchase price, which resulted in &5%8illion bargain purchase gain. The primary ghgvfactor for the bargain purchase gain
was the structure of the CTRM Transaction. As pathe CTRM Transaction, Sanofi funded the Dasishsidiary with $5.0 million in cash
order to fund the restructuring of the Denmark atiens and close the facility. Under U.S. GAAP rastructuring actions were taken by
Sanofi prior to our purchase of the CTRM Businesg] accordingly, there were no restructuring relatecruals in the opening balance sheet.
Additionally, there were no restrictions on the oé¢he cash in the Danish subsidiary. We impleeeiour restructuring plans for the Danish
subsidiary after the consummation of the CTRM Taatisn, and accordingly, have recorded restruaucimarges in our current period results
of operations. As of December 31, 2014, we hawerded restructuring charges of $3.0 million anchdbexpect to incur additional costs.
Note 5,“Restructuring” of the Consolidated Financial Staéats for additional information.

Manufacturing

We acquired two cell-manufacturing facilities astpd the acquisition of the CTRM Business in Caitfpe, Massachusetts and
Copenhagen, Denmark. The Cambridge facility, wischpproved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administra{ieDA), is used for U.S.
manufacturing and distribution of Carticel, Epioghnufacturing and also manufactured MACI for theVBlIT study conducted for approval
in Europe. The Copenhagen manufacturing faciliyiclv was approved by the Danish Medicines AgendyNIB.), was responsible for MACI
manufacturing and distribution in Europe. As pdrthe June 2014 restructuring, we discontinued MA@hufacturing at the Copenhagen
manufacturing facility. Going forward, we expecatkany clinical and commercial production of MACillwccur at our Cambridge facility. V
also operate a centralized cell manufacturingifgdgit Ann Arbor, Michigan. The
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facility supports the current ixCELL-DCM clinicalial being conducted in the United States and Caradl we believe we have sufficient
capacity, with minor modifications, to supply oarly commercialization requirements.

Product Portfolio

Our approved and marketed products were acquiredgh the CTRM Transaction and include three apguicautologous cell therapy
products, each of which are further described bel®articel (autologous cultured chondrocytes)rs-eneration product for autologous
chondrocyte implantation (ACI) currently marketedhe U.S., MACI (matrix-applied characterized dafous cultured chondrocytes), a third-
generation ACI product, and Epicel (cultured epidarautografts), a permanent skin replacementubtHickness burns greater than or equal
to 30% of total body surface area. Our productizdate portfolio also includes ixmyelocel-T, a pat-specific multicellular therapy currently
in development for the treatment of advanced Hadure due to ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM

Carticel

Carticel, a first-generation ACI product for thedtment and repair of cartilage defects in the kisae first and only FDA-approved
autologous cartilage repair product. Carticehiiégated for the repair of symptomatic cartilagéedes of the femoral condyle (medial, latere
trochlea) caused by acute or repetitive traumaairents who have had an inadequate responseritoraghroscopic or other surgical repair
procedure such as debridement, microfracturejrdgithbrasion arthroplasty, or osteochondral allfigratograft. Carticel received a Biologics
License Application (BLA) approval in 1997 and isently marketed in the U.S. It is generally usedbatients with larger lesions (greater
than 3 cn? ).

In the U.S., we focus net sales of Carticel onsih@rts-injurytargeted orthopedic physician target audience, wisizery concentrated, wi
60% of the current Carticel business originatiranfr25% of this audience, or approximately 110 ptigisis. We currently have a 21-person
field force calling on this sports-injury targetedhopedic physician audience.

Epicel

Epicel is a permanent skin replacement for fultithiess burns greater than or equal to 30% of botdy surface area (TBSA). Epicel is
regulated by the CBER under medical device auflegriand is the only FDA-approved autologous epidéproduct available for large total
surface area burns. Epicel was designed as a HUB98 and a HDE application for the product wagtted in 1999. HUDs are devices t
are intended for diseases or conditions that affeere manifested in fewer than 4,000 individeadaually in the United States. Currently,
approximately less than 100 patients are treatéd Epicel in the U.S. each year. In the year eridecember 31, 2014, net revenues were
million for Epicel which represents the entire yaat sales pre and post the Transaction.

Under the HDE approval of 2007, Epicel cannot resbld for an amount that exceeds the cost of relsead development, fabricatiand
distribution. However, pursuant to the Pediatricdidal Device Safety and Improvement Act of 2007 #ralFDA Safety and Innovation Act
2012 (FDASIA), a HUD can be sold for profit if cait conditions are met. Under current law as aredixy FDASIA, an HDE holder can
make a profit on its HUD after receiving HDE appabif the device is intended for the treatmentiagdosis of a disease or condition that
occurs in pediatric patients or in a pediatric safagation, and such device is labeled for use digigc patients or in a pediatric subpopulation
in which the disease or condition occurs; or ismated for the treatment or diagnosis of a diseaseraition that does not occur in pediatric
patients or that occurs in pediatric patients ichsaumbers that the development of the deviceudoh patients is impossible, highly
impracticable, or unsafe. If the FDA makes a deteation that a HUD meets the eligibility critertag HUD is permitted to be sold for profit
after receiving HDE approval as long as the nundfelevices distributed in any calendar year doe®roeed the Annual Distribution Number
(ADN) for the device. The ADN is determined by F/en it approves the original HDE application, drem the agency approves an HDE
supplement for an HDE approved before the enactofdiiDASIA, if the HDE holder seeks a determinationthe HUD in an HDE
supplement based upon the profit-making eligibititigeria, and FDA determines that the HUD meegsdligibility criteria.

We are currently investigating Epicel’s eligibilityr an exemption from the profit prohibition anave requested a pre-submission meeting
with the FDA to discuss the process and requiréd fis submitting an HDE supplement to obtain aeregtion from the profit prohibition.

Epicel is currently being sold at a price thateefs the cost of research and development, falmicand distribution.

Also, up until July, 2014, we had one sales repragive selling Epicel and two partially dedicatdddical Scientific Liaisons supporting
Epicel inquiries.
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MACI

MACI is a third-generation ACI product for the ttegent of focal chondral cartilage defects in the&kn MACI received marketing
authorization in Europe in July 2013 by meetingrimguirements of the Advanced Therapy and Medidinatiuct (ATMP) guidelines. MACI
has been commercially available in the EU sinceB198s part of the June 2014 restructuring we tenauily suspended sales of MACI in
August 2014, primarily due to low utilization and anfavorable pricing environment. We believe tM&CI has significant revenue potential
in the U.S., and we are planning to discuss appregairements with the FDA. The timing and procesgain approval in the U.S. is the
subject of a Type B meeting with the FDA whichdtaduled for the middle of the second quarter. fithing and strategy for and a possible
reintroduction in select EU countries have nothedn determined.

MACI was obtained by Sanofi by acquiring Verigen AZerigen) in 2005 . As part of Sanofi's acqusitiof Verigen, Sanofi agreed to
make cash payments to Verigen upon the achieveofiel@velopmental milestones relating to regulatomg commercialization of MACI in tt
United States. In connection with our acquisitiéihe@ CTRM business from Sanofi, we agreed thateiffurther developed MACI in the U.S.,
we would be obligated to pay these milestone pays@&uring the third quarter of 2014, at the requoéshe Company, Sanofi entered into a
settlement agreement with the former shareholdev®ngen whereby these shareholders agreed thalige all obligations related to these
MACI milestone payments in exchange for a one-tiagh payment of €2.5 million (approximately $3.2iomn) due within two months from
the date of the settlement agreement. We paicath@unt in full on October 17, 2014 .

Ixmyelocel-T

Our preapproval stage portfolio also includes ixlogel-T, a unique patient-specific multicellulaethpy derived from an adult patient’s
own bone marrow which utilizes our proprietary,hljgautomated and scalable manufacturing systemp@prietary cell manufacturing
process significantly expands the mesenchymal stkeslls (MSCS) and M2-like anti-inflammatory maghages in the patient’s bone marrow
mononuclear cells while retaining many of the herpatetic cells. These cell types are known to regulhe immune response and play a key
role in tissue repair and regeneration by resolpathologic inflammation, promoting angiogenesig] emodeling ischemic tissue. The
novelty and advantage of using ixmyelocel-T isekpansion of a unique combination of cell populadiancluding MSCS and M2-like
macrophages, which secrete a distinct combinati@mgiogenic and regenerative factors, and pogkessbility to remain anfihflammatory ir
the face of inflammatory challenge.

Our lead clinical development program for ixmyele€és focused on severe, chronic ischemic cardioutar diseases. We are currently
conducting the Phase 2b ixCELL-DCM study, which imndomized, double-blind, placebo-controlledicéhtrial for patients with advanced
heart failure due to ischemic DCM. Ixmyelocel-T l&en granted a U.S. Orphan Drug designation bz for the treatment of DCM. We
also have an ongoing ixmyelocel-T clinical progriamthe treatment of craniofacial reconstructiod &aave conducted clinical studies for the
treatment of critical limb ischemia.

The ongoing Phase 2b ixCELL-DCM clinical study br@ated 114 patients at 28 sites in the U.S. amdi@a Patients will be followed for
12 months for the primary efficacy endpoint of MA@#ents, defined as all-cause deaths, all-caugsthlizations, and unplanned outpatient
or emergency department visits for IV treatmera@ite worsening heart failure. Secondary endpaictade clinical, functional, structural,
symptomatic, quality of life, and biomarker measuae3, 6 and 9 months. Patients will be followadain additional 12 months for safety. We
completed enroliment of the iXxCELL-DCM study in dany 2015, and expect to have top-line efficacyltssaround the end of the first quarter
of 2016.

Results of Operations

We have exited the “Developmental Stage” and df@oanmercial Stage” company following the acquisitiof the CTRM Business on
May 30, 2014 and the initiation of commercial saé&bone marrow from our wholly owned subsidiaryrkdav Donation LLC (Marrow
Donation) in June 2014.

Net Loss

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2@tafetd $19.9 million or $2.23 per share. Resultdlie year ended December 31, 2014
include seven months of operating results of th& Business which resulted in net income of $0.4ioni. The results below include
restructuring charges in the US and Denmark of $8lidon of which $2.5 million were recorded in ¢a¥ product sales and $0.5 million was
recorded in selling, general and administrativeesges , other expenses for our discontinued Denmesikess of $0.4 million and a bargain
purchase gain of approximately $3.5 million.
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Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2014 2013

Total revenue: $ 28,79¢ $ 19
Cost of product sale 17,29: 4
Gross profit (loss 11,50: 15
Total operating expens 35,037 20,97¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (23,539 (20,96¢)
Other income (expens 141 5,34:
Bargain purchase ga 3,47:

Total other incomi 3,61¢ 5,342
Net income (loss $ (19,920 $ (15,629

Net Revenue

Net revenues for the year ended December 31, 200 2@13 are shown below.

Year Ended December 31

Revenue by product (In thousands) 2014 2013

Carticel $ 22,267 $ —

Epicel 5,98¢ —

Bone Marrow 354 —

MACI 18¢ —

Other — 19
$ 28,79t $

Net revenues for the year ended December 31, 26t seven months of results from commercial afpens of the CTRM Business.
Period comparisons for net revenues are not yehimgful due to the acquisition of the CTRM Business

SeasonalityCarticel revenue is subject to seasonal fluctuatigith stronger sales occurring in the fourth gerasind second quarter due 1
number of factors including insurance copay linaitsl the time of year patients prefer to start réitaiion. Over the last four years, the
percentage of annual sales by quarter has randgeti@ss: first quarter, 22% to 24%; second quardd% to 25%; third quarter, 21% to 23¢
and fourth quarter, 29% to 33%. Epicel revenudsis subject to seasonal fluctuations mostly assetiaith the use of heating elements du
the colder months, with stronger sales occurringpénwinter months of the first and fourth quartersd weaker sales occurring in the hot
summer months of the third quarter. However, in single year, this trend can be absent due textreme variability inherent with Epicel's
low patient volume of fewer than 100 patients peairy Over the last four years, the percentagemfia sales by quarter has ranged as foll
first quarter, 28%; second quarter, 24%; third tpra20%; and fourth quarter, 28%. The variabitistween the same quarters in consecutive
years has been as high as 10% of the annual volMhiée the number of patients treated per year mesnlaw, we expect these large swing:
revenue in some quarters to continue. These sdasends have caused and will likely continue tass fluctuations in our quarterly results,
including fluctuations in sequential revenue growétes.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Ratio

Year Ended
(In thousands) December 31, 201.
Gross profi $ 11,508
Gross profit % 4C%

Period comparisons for gross profit are not yetmvegful due to the acquisition of the CTRM Busine&ross Profit for the year ended
December 31, 2014 included $2.5 million of restuticly expenses which reduced the gross profit margilO percentage points for the year
ended December 31, 2014.
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Research and Development Cc¢

Year Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2014 2013

Research and development cc $ 21,26: $ 15,10¢

Research and development expenses for the yead Betember 31, 2014 were $21.3 million versus $fllion for the same period a
year ago. The increase in research and developgmprhses resulted from $7.2 million in increasqekases for the ixCEL-DCM clinical
trial, $4.3 million expenses for MACI (including $3million for the Verigen agreement), $0.6 milliohexpenses for Epicel, $0.5 million of
expenses for Carticel all offset by a $6.4 millr@duction in the CLI clinical trial expenses. DANal expenses increased in 2014 versus 201
since most patients were enrolled and treated 14 2Bor CLI, we completed the trial in early 20fidltand as a result, expenses declined.

Our major ongoing research and development proggdatused on the clinical development of ixmyeletéor treatment of advanced
heart failure due to ischemic DCM. The followiradple summarizes the approximate allocation of fmysbur research and development
projects:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2014 2013
Dilated Cardiomyopath $ 15,09¢ $ 7,881
Critical Limb Ischemie 801 7,22:
MACI 3,752 —
Catrticel 1,00¢ —
Epicel 603 —
Total research and development expel $ 21,26: $ 15,10/

Selling, General and Administrative Costs

Year Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2014 2013

Selling, general and administrative cc $ 13,77«  $ 5,87t

Selling, general and administrative expenses fertars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $llBdh and $5.9 million,
respectively. The increase in expenses is prigndrie to approximately $5.4 million in sales andketing expenses from the CTRM
Business, approximately $1.6 million in increasgimation technology, legal, consulting and persdrtosts related to integrating and
managing the CTRM Business in the U.S., an incre&approximately $0.5 million in restructuring cbas, and $1.4 million in general
administrative costs from the Danish subsidiaryiciihas ceased manufacturing operations net afiction of $1.1 million in the acquired
leased facility restoration obligation in Denmafkeither the CTRM Business nor the Danish operatigare part of our business in 2013.

Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2014 2013

(Increase) decrease in fair value of warr: $ 27 $% 5,331
Bargain purchase ga 3,47: —
Foreign currency translation ge 152 —
Net interest incom 18 5
Other income (2) —
Total Other Income (expense) $ 3,614 $ 5,34

The increase in warrant value for the year endezeBder 31, 2014 compared to 2013 was primarilytdake reduction of warrants
outstanding due to the exercise of warrants in 204 partially offset by the reduction in the titbematurity and change in our stock price in
the period. Fluctuations in the fair value of h&rrants due to the reduction in the time to matwand change in our stock price in the future
periods could result in significant non-cash adpestts to the condensed combined consolidated fialastatements, however, any income or
expense recorded will not impact our cash, opegaipenses, or cash flow.

The bargain purchase gain of $3.5 million for tearyended December 31, 2014 is associated witactp@sition of the CTRM Business on
May 30, 2014.

The foreign currency translation gain was the tesfuthe strengthening U.S. dollar and its impatirdercompany balances with the Dar
subsidiary.
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Stock Compensation

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense inclndedearch and development expenses and gergdlialg &nd administrative
expenses is summarized in the following table:

Years Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Research and developm $ 197 $ 75

General, selling and administrative 642 851
Total non-cash stock-based compensation expense $ 83¢ $ 92€

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense foetrs gnded December 31, 2014 and 2013 were canisiste
Liquidity and Capital Resources

We are currently focused on utilizing our technglég identify, develop and commercialize innovatikierapies that enable the body to
repair and regenerate damaged tissues and orgagstdoe normal structure and function. Until stiote as we satisfy, if at all, applicable
regulatory approval requirements for ixmyelocelfid &MACI, we expect the sales of Carticel and Epibelapies to constitute nearly all of our
product sales revenues. Additionally, we are fowusignificant resources to successfully integeatd grow our CTRM Business.

While we believe we will achieve positive cash flaithout needing to raise additional capital, wendd expect to generate positive cash
flows from our consolidated operations for at leagear and then only if we achieve some combinaifasignificant product sales growth,
improved product margins, and lower selling, gehana administrative expenses and research andogenent expenses.

We have raised significant funds in order to congtaur product development programs, and completieal trials needed to market and
commercialize our products. To date, we have fiedrour operations primarily through public and/aie sales of our equity securities. On
September 17, 2014, we completed the sale of 13¥84hares of common stock at an offering price2055 per share, and received net
proceeds of $37.5 million. While we believe thiscaamt of cash will be sufficient to sustain operatiaintil we become cash flow positive, if
actual results differ from our projections, we nm@ed to access additional capital. We have acoeas=rtain amounts of financing through an
agreement with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (Loht Park). We may direct Lincoln Park to purchapeo $15.0 million worth of shares of
our common stock over a 30-month period generalgmounts up to 50,000 shares of our common stoaedain business days under a
Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement) weedriteéo with Lincoln Park on January 21, 2014 (thecoln Park Equity Line). As of
December 31, 2014, we had issued to Lincoln PaBk4®® shares of common stock and raised $3.7 millitowever, there are certain factors,
such as volume of trading in our common stock amdstock price, which limit the amount that canrdised in a short period of time. The
extent to which we rely on the Lincoln Park Equitge as a source of funding will depend on a nundféactors, including the prevailing
market price of our common stock and the extemthich we are able to secure working capital frolmeotsources. Additionally, during the
year ended December 31, 2014, we raised net precgei¥.1 million utilizing our at the market sabggreement (ATM) with MLV & Co.

LLC. The ATM, which as of December 31, 2014 hadaarimg capacity of approximately $7.8 million, alled us to sell our common stock
from time to time under a registration statemenFomm S-3 filed in June 2011, pursuant to whichregistered $100 million of our securities
for public sale. The Form S-3 registration statetfiéad in June 2011 expired in July 2014.

Our cash totaled $30.3 million at December 31, 2@iincrease of $22.3 million from December 311,2Muring the year ended
December 31, 2014, the primary uses of cash indi$@&.4 million for our operations and working daprequirements. This use of funds v
fueled largely by our operating loss. Cash usddvasting activities is the result of the acqudsitiof the CTRM Business. Cash provided by
investing activities is the result of our SeptemP@t4 public offering as well as our Lincoln Paruity Line and ATM activity.

As of December 31, 2014 we had $28.5 million ohcdsposited into an Insured Cash Sweep (ICS) pnogvhich is administered by Bank
of New York Mellon. This program maximizes our Eeal Deposit Insurance Company (FDIC) coverageibigidg our ICS funds into
amounts under the standard FDIC maximum and pthese amounts with other ICS Network member bagish( an FDIC-insured institute).
These funds are placed in savings accounts aémeber banks earning interest while still maintagninsurance coverage.
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While the Company believes that our current cashbeisufficient to sustain operations until thesimess becomes cash flow positive,
actual cash requirements may differ from projectiand will depend on many factors, including camtith scientific progress in our research
and development programs, the scope and resultgafal trials, the time and costs involved in abing regulatory approvals, the costs
involved in filing, prosecuting and enforcing patrcompeting technological and market developmeoists of possible acquisition or
development of complementary business activitiescthst of successfully integrating the CTRM Busénasd the cost of product
commercialization. We do not expect to generasgitipe cash flows from operations for at least arydue to the expected spending for
research and development programs and the cosarietng and commercializing our products and pobdandidates.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in accordance with U.S. generally accepteduating principles (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptionsotidtroaterially impact the consolidated financtatements and disclosures based on
varying assumptions. We believe our estimates aadmptions are reasonable; however, actual resuitshe timing of the recognition of st
amounts could differ from these estimates.

The following is a list of accounting policies tteae most significant to the portrayal of our fineh condition and results of operations
and/or that require management’s most difficulbjsative or complex judgments.

Stock-Based Compensation Our accounting for stock-based compensation reguis to determine the fair value of common stssled
in the form of stock option awards. We use the @afiour common stock at the date of the grartiéncialculation of the fair value of our
share-based awards. The fair value of stock optieft by our employees is determined using a Bidheles option valuation method, which
is a valuation technique that is acceptable foreshased payment accounting. Key assumptions erméting fair value include volatility,
risk-free interest rate, dividend yield and expddtrm. The assumptions used in calculating threvidue of stock options represent our best
estimates, however; these estimates involve inhereertainties and the application of managemedgrent. As a result, if factors change
and different assumptions are used, the stock-bammagensation expense could be materially diffeirettte future. In addition, we are
required to estimate the expected forfeiture ratba@nly recognize expense for those stock optiapseted to vest over the service period. W
estimate the forfeiture rate considering the histbrexperience of our stock-based awards. Ifittaal forfeiture rate is different from the
estimate, we adjust the expense accordingly.

Warrants —Warrants that could require cash settlement or hatiedilution price protection provisions are reged as liabilities at their
estimated fair value at the date of issuance, stithsequent changes in estimated fair value recandettier income (expense) in our statemen
of operations in each subsequent period. In géneaarants are measured using the Black-Scholesitian model. The Black-Scholes model
is based, in part, upon inputs for which therétikelobservable market data, requiring us to dgwelur own assumptions. Inherent in the
model are assumptions related to expected stock-palatility, expected life, risk-free interesteand dividend yield. The assumptions used
in calculating the estimated fair value of the \aats represent our best estimates; however, tistisgages involve inherent uncertainties and
the application of management judgment. As a tegdihictors change and different assumptionsuaesl, the warrant liability and the change
in estimated fair value could be materially diffete

Research and Development Expensefesearch and development costs, including iatemd contract research costs, are expensed as
incurred. Research and development expenses carsiisty of clinical trial costs, manufacturing dinical material, process development
costs, other preclinical studies, pharmacoeconoesiearch, grants to outside investigators includieglical education and personnel costs.

Tax Valuation Allowance— A valuation allowance is recorded if it is moilely than not that a deferred tax asset will netréalized. We
provided a full valuation allowance on our defertaxl assets that primarily consist of cumulativéef@l net operating losses. Due to our three
year cumulative loss position, history of operatiogses and losses expected to be incurred irotksdeable future, a full valuation allowal
against our net deferred tax assets was consideksary.

The summary of significant accounting policies dddae read in conjunction with our consolidatedafinial statements and related notes
and this discussion of our results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements thatdree reasonably likely to have a material eféecbur financial condition.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MakRisk

As of December 31, 2014, we would not expect o@rajing results or cash flows to be affected tosiggificant degree by the effect of a
sudden change in market interest rates or crediditions on our securities portfolio.

We believe that the interest rate risk relateduioazcounts receivable is not significant. We nganthe risk associated with these accounts
through periodic reviews of the carrying value fien-collectability and establishment of appropriatewances. We do not enter into hedging
transactions and do not purchase derivative ingnis:
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We operate in the United States and in Denmarkaa@@xposed to the risk that our earnings, casvsfind equity could be adversely
impacted by fluctuations in foreign exchange. We@imarily exposed to foreign exchange risk wehpect to recognized assets and liabili
Our vendors in countries outside the United Stategypically paid in Euro and/or Danish Krone. Wéenot enter into hedging transactions
do not purchase derivative instruments.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfding

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&@d December 31, 20:

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeragded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol Equity (Deficit) from 2012 to December 31, 2C
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaadled December 31, 2014, 2013, and =
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Vericel Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bzdasheets and the related consolidated statemfeopgi@tions, of shareholders’ equity
(deficit), of comprehensive loss and of cash flgressent fairly, in all material respects, the ficahposition of Vericel Corporation and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and Decemb&(3B, and the results of their operations and ttash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2014 in conformiti &tcounting principles generally accepted inhéed States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany’s management. Our responsibility is taresp an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conductedudits af these statements in accordance with #redsirds of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thstsedards require that we plan and perform thet éamdibtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of maltarisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esé basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemastessing the accounting principles used andfisanmt estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement@méestion. We believe that our audits provide awoeable basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Detroit, Michigan
March 25, 201!
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VERICEL CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands)

December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash $ 30,34: % 8,05¢
Accounts receivable (net of $40 allowance for déulk#ccounts as of December 31, 20 8,191 8
Inventory 1,92( —
Other current assets 1,03¢ 40¢
Total current assets 41,49( 8,47¢
Property and equipment, r 2,897 73¢
Intangible assets 3,191 —
Total assets $ 4757¢ $ 9,21t
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 582¢ % 2,67¢
Accrued expense 4,71¢ 62(
Warrant liabilities 1,081 2,01¢
Other 21C 6
Total current liabilities 11,82¢ 5,321
Long term liabilities 10¢ —
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 14
Shareholder equity:
Series B-2 voting convertible preferred stock, aoymlue: shares authorized and reserved — 39,
shares issued and outstand— 12 38,38¢ 38,38¢
Common stock, no par value; shares authorized -8005and 15,000; shares issued and outstan
— 23,786 and 4,723, respective 305,00t 253,27(
Other comprehensive lo (77) —
Accumulated deficit (307,68 (287,76))
Total shareholders’ equity 35,64 3,89¢
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 4757¢ $ 9,21¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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VERICEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Revenues
Product sales $ 28,79t $ 19 $ 21
Total revenues 28,79¢ 19 21
Costs and expense
Cost of product sales 17,29: 4 6
Gross profit 11,50: 15 15
Research and developme 21,26: 15,10¢ 26,02t
Selling, general and administrative 13,77¢ 5,87¢ 7,75(
Total operating expenses 35,037 20,97¢ 33,77¢
Loss from operations (23,53¢) (20,969 (33,760
Other income (expense
(Increase) decrease in fair value of warr: (27) 5,33 4,24¢
Bargain purchase ga 3,47: — —
Foreign currency translation ge 152 — —
Interest income 24 16 50
Other expens () — —
Interest expense (6) (17) (12)
Total other income (expense) 3,61« 5,34; 4,28¢
Net loss $ (19,920 $ (15,62) $ (29,479
Net loss per share attributable to common sharemsi@Basic and Diluted) (s
note 9) $ (2.2%) ¢ (6.95 ¢ (16.25)
Weighted average number of common shares outsgfBasic and Diluted) 11,64 3,01¢ 2,06(

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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VERICEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
(In thousands)

Accumulated

Other Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Comprehensive  Accumulated  Shareholder¢
Shares Amount Shares Amount Loss Deficit Equity (Deficit)

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 201: — $ — 2,18¢ $ 243,21' $ — $ (27531H % (32,100
Net loss (15,629 (15,627)
Compensation expense related to s

options grante: 92¢ 92¢
Reclassification of Series B-2

Preferred Stock to equi 12 38,38¢ 3,22¢ 41,61:
Reverse stock split, common stock

lieu of fractional share 14 52 (52 —
Exercise of stock purchase warra 367 1,98: 1,98:
Issuance of common stock, net of

issuance costs of $9¢ 2,15: 7,09/ 7,09/
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 201: 12 38,38¢ 4,72:¢ 253,27( (287,76Y 3,89¢
Net loss (29,920 (29,92()
Compensation expense related to s

options grante: 83¢ 83¢
Exercise of stock purchase warra 40¢ 2,49( 2,49(
Issuance of common stock, net of

issuance costs of $3,1 18,65¢ 48,40¢ 48,40¢
Foreign currency translation

adjustmen (712) (72)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 201: 12 $ 38,38¢ 23,78t $ 305,00¢ $ (7H)$ (307,68) % 35,64

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetk8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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VERICEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (19,920 $ (15,62) $ (29,47
Other comprehensive lo
Foreign currency translation (71) — —
Comprehensive loss $ (19,99) $ (15,629 $ (29,479

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetk8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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VERICEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net loss $ (19,920 $ (15,627) $ (29,479
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash fedperating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 752 48¢ 64¢
Stock compensation exper 83¢ 92¢ 3,61(
Change in fair value of warrar 27 (5,339 (4,249
Bargain purchase ga (3,479 — —
Foreign currency translation ge (152) — —
Loss on sale of fixed ass¢ 13¢ — —
Write down of retirement asset obligati (1,109 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Inventory 11¢ — —
Accounts receivabl (8,139 — —
Other current asse (455) (65) 293
Accounts payabl 2,77: (577) 284
Accrued expense 3,007 237 (659)
Other liabilities 17t — —
Net cash used for operating activities (25,41() (19,947 (29,545
Investing activities
Acquisition of CTRM business, net of cash acqu (2,450 — —
Property and equipment purcha (829 (40 (279
Other 101 — —
Net cash used for investing activiti (2,17¢) (40) (2793)
Financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock andawes 49,93« 14,43¢ 34¢
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred s — — 37,62(
Payments on lor-term debt (8) (34) (40)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 49,92¢ 14,40« 37,92t
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (54) — —
Net increase (decrease) in Ci 22,28« (5,579 8,10¢
Cash at beginning of peric 8,05¢ 13,63¢ 5,53(
Cash at end of peric $ 30,347 $ 8,05¢ § 13,63¢
Supplemental cash flow information (r-cash):
Accretion of convertible preferred sto $ — $ 1,26 $ 3,99¢
Warrants exchanged for common st $ 9%t $ — 3 10,38:
Additions to equipment in process included in actsyayable $ 19¢ $ — 3 =
Equipment acquired under capital le. $ 15z $ — % —

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these statements.

60




Table of Contents
VERICEL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization

Vericel Corporation (the Company or Vericel, whighs formerly known as Aastrom Biosciences, Inc.3 waorporated in March 1989
and began employee-based operations in 1991. Or30la3014, Vericel completed the acquisition otaierassets of Sanofi, a French société
anonyme (Sanofi), including all of the outstandarity interests of Genzyme Biosurgery ApS (Genzeamark), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sanofi, and over 250 patents andnpatgplications of Sanofi and certain of its sulasids and assumed certain liabilities for
purposes of acquiring the portion of the cell tipgrand regenerative medicine business (the CTRMnBas), which researches, develops,
manufactures, markets and sells Cartfcel , MARCI d Epicel® (the CTRM Transaction). The CTRM Businessearches, develops,
manufactures, markets and sells the Carticel, M&@ Epicel products. As a result, the Company éxtie development stage, and is now a
fully integrated, commerciatage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to #mifctation, development and commercializatiorinofovative
therapies that enable the body to repair and regendamaged tissues and organs to restore nommetuse and function. Vericel has
marketed products as well as developmental stagguipt candidates and the Company’s goal is to bedbmleader in cell therapy and
regenerative medicine by developing, manufactuaing marketing best-in-class therapies for patieitts significant unmet medical needs.

The Company operates its business primarily iftt& in one reportable segment — the researchuptattvelopment, manufacture and
distribution of patient-specific, expanded cellulagrapies for use in the treatment of specifieaées.

Successful future operations are subject to setechhical hurdles and risk factors, includingsfatitory product development, timely
initiation and completion of clinical trials, reguibry approval and market acceptance of the Comggngducts, and the successful integratior
and profitability of the CTRM Business.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidatio

The consolidated financial statements include twants of Vericel and its wholly-owned subsidiaridastrom Biosciences GmbH,
located in Berlin, Germany, Marrow Donation, LLG¢ated in San Diego, California, and Astrom BIOSETES DK ApS, in Kastrup,

Demark (collectively, the Company). All inter-coany transactions and accounts have been elimifratthsolidation. Aastrom Biosciences
GmbH ceased operations in 2014.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accocdamith accounting principles generally acceptethénUnited States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenetttae reported amounts of assets and liakslgied disclosures of contingent assets ar

liabilities at the date of the financial statemeantsl the reported amounts of expenses during puetesl period. Actual results could differ fr
those estimates.

Inventory

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost aketaalue. Cost is calculated based upon stanclastiwhich approximates costs
determined on the first-in, first-out method. Wltion reserves are established for estimatedledsence or un-marketable inventory in an
amount equal to the cost of inventory.

Accounts Receivab

Accounts receivable is initially recorded at thetractual amount owed by the customer. Allowarfoesloubtful accounts are established
when the facts and circumstances indicate thateivable may not be collectible.

Property, Plant and Equipme
Property, plant and equipment are initially meadured recognized at acquisition cost, including dingctly attributable cost of preparing
the asset for its intended use or, in the casss#ta acquired in a business combination, at &irevas at the date of the combination. After

initial measurement, property, plant and equipnaeatcarried at cost less accumulated depreciatidrimapairment. Repair and maintenance
costs of property, plant and equipment are expeasédcurred.
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The depreciable value of property, plant and egeipimet of any residual value, is depreciated stnaaght line basis over the useful life
the asset. The useful life of an asset is usuallyvalent to its economic life. The useful livespsbperty, plant and equipment are as follows:

. Equipment and computers: 3 to 5 years
. Furniture and fixtures: 5 years
. Building improvements and leasehold improveme@korter of the remaining life of the lease or 7rgea

The costs of assets retired or otherwise disposaddthe accumulated depreciation thereon arevethfsom the accounts, with any gain
or loss realized upon sale or disposal creditetharged to operations.

Intangible Assets and Other Long Lived As

Intangible assets are initially measured at actioiscost, including any directly attributable cosf preparing the asset for its intended use
or, in the case of assets acquired in a busingabioation at fair value as at the date of the coratidn. Identifiable intangible assets relate
commercial rights are amortized on a straight tiasis over their expected useful lives. Amortizatd intangible assets is recognized in these
financial statements under Costs of product sales.

Intangible assets and long-lived assets are agskfmsgotential impairment when there is eviderie® events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset nuayoa recovered. An impairment loss would be recaghwhen an asset’s fair value,
determined based on undiscounted cash flows expéxtee generated by the asset, is less thanritgrog amount. The impairment loss would
be measured as the amount by which the assetigrg@rmalue exceeds its fair value and recognizethése financial statements. Intangible
assets are carried at cost less accumulated aat@tizand impairment.

Foreign Currency Translatio

Assets and liabilities of Genzyme Denmark are tediad from Danish Krone into U.S. dollars using émplicable exchange rates in effect
at the period end. Expenses of the operationeimirk are translated from the applicable curranci® U.S. dollars using average exchang
rates for the reported period.

Revenue Recognitic

Total revenues are comprised of product sales dfd@g Epicel, MACI, bone marrow and surgical kitRevenue is recognized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement existsabeésgare shipped or delivered, depending on shgpgeirms, title and risk of loss pass to the
customer and collectability is reasonably assusipping and handling costs are included as a cosgmf revenue.

Revenue is recorded net of a provision for rebatescash discounts. These rebates and cash dis@ergstablished by the Company at
the time of sale, based on historical experiengastet] to reflect known changes in the factors ith@@ct such reserves. For instance,
distributors are entitled to chargeback incentieeservices that are provided for based on thHinggbrice to the end customer, under specific
contractual arrangements. Cash discounts may aelgpamted for prompt payment.

Research and Development Expe

Research and development activities represenin#fisant part of the Company’business. These expenditures relate to theajaweht of
new products, improvement of existing productshiéeal support of products and compliance with goreental regulations for the protection
of consumers and patients. Research and develdamxpenses are expensed as incurred.

Diversity of Credit Risl

The Company has established guidelines relatidiviersification in an effort to limit risk. Theseiiglelines are periodically reviewed and
modified to take advantage of trends in yields imterest rates.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company’s accounting for stock-based compemsatiquires it to determine the fair value of commstock issued in the form of stock
option awards. The Company uses the value of itswon stock at the date of the grant in the calmnatf the fair value of its share-based
awards. The fair value of stock options held byah®loyees is determined using a Bl&itioles option valuation method, which is a vatn
technique that is acceptable for share-based payaceaunting. Key assumptions in determining failue include volatility, risk-free interest
rate, dividend yield and expected term. The assiampused in calculating
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the fair value of stock options represent the Camsabest estimates, however; these estimatesviavoherent uncertainties and the
application of management judgment. As a redulactors change and different assumptions are,ubedstock-based compensation expense
could be materially different in the future. Indiibn, the Company is required to estimate thecetgu forfeiture rate and only recognize
expense for those stock options expected to vestthe service period. The estimated forfeitute cansiders the historical experience of the
Company’s stock-based awards. If the actual fanfeirate is different from the estimate, expessadjusted accordingly.

Income Taxe

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductiiporary differences and tax credit carryforwans deferred tax liabilities are
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Defktax assets are reduced by a valuation allosveuien, in the opinion of management, it
is more likely than not that some portion or altloé deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Sharehs

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated ubigwo-class method, which is an earnings allongbrmula that determines earnings
(loss) per share for the holders of the Compangraroon shares and holders of the Series B prefetostt. The Series B preferred stock
shares contain participation rights in undistrilbugéarnings, but do not share in the losses of tiagany. The accumulated but undeclared
dividends on the Series B preferred stock of $6I0om are treated as a reduction of earningslaitable to common shareholders.

Financial Instrument:

The Companys financial instruments include receivables forahithe current carrying amounts approximate maréikete based upon th
short-term nature.

Warrants

Warrants that could be cash settled or have ahtiial price protection provisions are recordediasilities at their estimated fair value at
the date of issuance, with subsequent changesiimagsed fair value recorded in other income (expgms our statement of operations in each
subsequent period. In general, warrants are megsising the Black-Scholes valuation model. Théhowplogy is based, in part, upon inputs
for which there is little or no observable markata] requiring the Company to develop its own agtioms. The assumptions used in
calculating the estimated fair value of the warsaepresent our best estimates; however, theseatst involve inherent uncertainties and the
application of management judgment. As a reduidctors change and different assumptions are,ubedvarrant liability and the change in
estimated fair value could be materially different.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBq&ASB) issued authoritative guidance requiringtees to apply a new model for
recognizing revenue from contracts with customéng guidance will supersede the current revenusgrétion guidance and require entities
evaluate their revenue recognition arrangementgyusiive step model to determine when a custorbtis control of a transferred good or
service. The guidance is effective for annual répgrmeriods beginning after December 15, 2016raag be adopted using a full or modified
retrospective application. The Company is curreimlihe process of evaluating its revenue arrangésmender the issued guidance and has nc
yet determined the impact to its consolidated fai@rstatements

Going Concern Assessment

The FASB has issued authoritative guidance for mameent on how to assess whether substantial dgigté eegarding an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern and guidance ontb@separe related footnote disclosures. The guaielavill require management to evaluate
whether there are conditions or events that raibstantial doubt about an entity’s ability to coni as a going concern for one year from the
date the financial statements are issued. The goéds effective for annual reporting periods bagig after December 15, 2016. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company does not expegiildance to impact future disclosures.
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4. Acquisitions
CTRM Business acquisition

On May 30, 2014, Vericel completed its acquisitifrcertain assets of Sanofi, including all of thestanding equity interests of Genzyme
Denmark, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sanofi, andrd250 patents and patent applications and assuar&ln liabilities for purposes of
acquiring portions of the CTRM Business. Vericer@oration is a leader in developing patient-speekpanded cellular therapies for use in
the treatment of patients with severe diseasegsanditions. The CTRM Business, also a leading dmesl of patienspecific expanded cellul
therapies, expands the Company’s portfolio of ¢altherapies to include products which treat severns and as well as cartilage defects.
The CTRM Business is a commercial business, wahufacturing, marketing and sales capabilitiesis®ant to the terms of the asset
purchase agreement, the Company paid a total peeghréce of $6.5 million, including $4.0 million gash and a $2.5 million promissory note
which was repaid on July 30, 2014.

The total purchase price consideration is as fatow

Acquisition consideration (In thousands): Fair Value

Cash paymer $ 4,00(
Promissory not 2,50(
Total acquisition consideratic $ 6,50(

The Company recognized tangible and intangibletass®l liabilities acquired based upon their respeestimated fair values as of the
acquisition date. The table below shows the fawesmassigned to the assets acquired and liabiissumed. Based on this analysis, the
transaction resulted in a bargain purchase gain.

The final purchase price allocation is as follows:

Purchase price allocation (In thousands) Fair Value

Cash $ 5,05(
Accounts receivabl 53
Inventory 2,03¢
Other current asse 19z
Accounts payable and accrued expei (939)
Asset retirement obligatic (1,600
Property and equipme 1,81¢
Intangible asset 3,36(
Bargain purchase gain (3,479
Total consideration $ 6,50(

As part of the acquisition, the Company received $8illion in cash from Sanofi in order to fundestructuring of the Denmark operations
and close the facility. As of December 31, 2014, @ompany has recorded restructuring charges 6friBlion. See Note 5 “Restructuring ”
below for additional information.

The intangible assets acquired represent commersgatights for certain products acquired in taegaction. This fair value of $3.4 million
was determined using the income approach basedogecied cash flows attributed to the commercights. The calculated value of the
commercial rights intangible assets are amortizédguthe straight line method over an estimatefuliite of twelve years.

Revenue and net income included in the condensesbtidated financial statements include seven nwotfoperations related to the
CTRM Business since the May 30, 2014 acquisiticthae $28.4 million and $0.4 million, respectiveljre net income related to the CTRM
Business includes the restructuring costs of $3ll@mdescribed in Note 5 as well as $0.4 milliohother expenses from the Danish subsic
that the Company is in the process of shutting down

The following pro forma condensed combined infoliorafor the year ended December 31, 2014, and 2@%pgectively are presented as if
the acquisition of the CTRM Business had occurmedanuary 1, 2013.

In management’s opinion, all adjustments necedsargflect the significant effects of this transasthave been made. These statements a
based on assumptions and estimates consideredoaigpedy management; however, they are not neglyssand should not be assumed to
an indication of Vericel's financial position orsdts of operations that would have been achiewaeldthe acquisitions been completed as of th
dates indicated or that may be achieved in thedutu
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Year Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Pro forma revenu $ 44,79  $ 43,86
Pro forma net los (26,10¢) (49,129
Pro forma net loss per she— basic and dilute $ 271 $ (18.0¢)

5. Restructuring
Acquisition Restructuring

In June 2014, the Company announced a strategid@laaximize the profitability and growth potehtddthe CTRM Business (the Plan).
Under the Plan, the Company discontinued manufactMACI in Denmark, temporarily suspended saleM#éfCI in Europe, and
significantly reduced research and developmentmesggassociated with MACI. Furthermore, the Commdiminated approximately 80 full
time employee positions, which represented apprateiy 30% of the Company’s current total workforé&mployees terminated as part the
Plan were provided with severance payments andamngment assistance.

As a result of the Plan, the Company recordedtauctaring charge of $3.0 million for the year edd@ecember 31, 2014, related to the
operations in the United States and Denmark, pifynaapresenting cash payments for severance drat personnel-related expenses. Of the
total restructuring charge, $2.5 million was re@atih cost of product sales, and $0.5 million waorded in selling, general and administre
expenses. There was no restructuring reserve Resadmber 31, 2014 as a result of cash payments foadeverance and other personnel-
related expenses. In addition to restructuring @ésrecorded thus far, the Company may incur additilease and other contract termination
costs associated with current contracts associgtadhe Danish operations.

R&D Restructuring

In March, 2013, the Company announced a stratdginge in its research and development progranetesfon the clinical development
of ixmyelocel-T for the treatment of advanced héaiftire due to ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy @C The Company previously received
a U.S. orphan drug designation for the use of iXoga-T in the treatment of DCM. As a result oé tstrategic change, the Company stopped
enrollment of the Phase 3 REVIVE clinical trialpatients with critical limb ischemia (CLI). In adidin, the Company executed a corporate
restructuring that reduced staff and operating egps. Employees directly affected by the restrirguplan were provided with severance
payments and outplacement assistance. As a réshk oeasing of enrollment in the Phase 3 REVINii@al trial, the Company recorded a
onetime restructuring charge of $0.4 million in thesfiquarter of 2013 in research and developmergresgs. The restructuring accrual for
strategic changes decreased to less than $0.bmelli of December 31, 2013 as a result of cash gratgnrmade for severance and other
personnel-related expenses. There was no restingt@serve related to the strategic change asoédber 31, 2014.

6. Selected Balance Sheet Components

Inventory as of December 31, 2014:

(In thousands) 2014

Raw materials $ 1,07¢
Work-in-process 45¢
Finished goods 384
Inventory $ 1,92(

Property and Equipment, net as of December 31, 20842013 :

(In thousands) 2014 2013
Machinery and equipme! $ 3,13t $ 2,54
Furniture, fixtures and office equipme 777 761
Computer equipment and softw 667 50C
Leasehold improvemen 1,691 1,01¢
Construction in process 1,01¢ —
7,28¢ 4,82¢
Less accumulated depreciation (4,397%) (4,087%)
$ 2,89: ¢ 73¢

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@034, 2013 and 2012 were $0.8 million, $0.5ionlland $0.6 million, respectively.
Intangible assets, net as of December 31, 2014:
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(In thousands) 2014

Commercial right: $ 3,36(

Less accumulated amortization (163
$ 3,19

Amortization expense was $0.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2014. There was no amortizatipense in 2013. The increase in
intangible assets from December 31, 2013 to DeceBhe2014 is due to the acquisition of the CTRMsBess.

Estimated future amortization expense is as follows

Calendar Years Ending December 31, (In thousand:

2015 $ 28C
2016 28C
2017 28C
2018 28C
2019 28C
Thereafter 1,79
Total $ 319

Accrued Expenses as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :

(In thousands) 2014 2013
Bonus $ 2,04¢ $ 387
Employee related accrue 1,281 23¢
Accrued expense 60= —
Asset retirement obligatic 34¢ —
Other 43€ —
$ 4,712 § 62C

The Company acquired an asset retirement obligafi&i1.6 million related to the obligation to restdhe Denmark facility to its original
state which was reduced to $0.3 million duringftheth quarter of 2014 due to a change in estimate.

7. Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Option and Equity Incentive Plans

The Company has historically had various stockritige plans and agreements that provide for thesisse of nonqualified and incentive
stock options as well as other equity awards. Swedrds may be granted by the Company’s Board @fdiirs to certain of the Company’s
employees, directors and consultants. Optionstgdaimder these plans expire no later than tersyfe@m the date of grant, and other than
those granted to non-employee directors, genebaltlpme exercisable over a four-year period, undgaded-vesting methodology, following
the date of grant. The Company generally issuasstares upon the exercise of stock options.

The 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2009 Plan) pravideentives through the grant of stock optionsclseppreciation rights, restricted
stock awards and restricted stock units. The éseqrice of stock options granted under the 20 Bhall not be less than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the datgrait. The 2009 Plan replaced the 1992 Stock @fitlan, the 2001 Stock Option Plan
and the Amended and Restated 2004 Equity InceRiave (Prior Plans), and no new awards will be grdninder the Prior Plans. However,
the expiration or forfeiture of options previouglsanted under the Prior Plans will increase therdsvavailable for issuance under the 2009
Plan.

As of December 31, 2014, there were 4,011,608 shevailable for future grant under the 2009 Plan.
Service-Based Stock Options
During the period ended December 31, 2014, the @omgranted 242,025 service-based options to psectammon stock. The exercise
price of the options is the fair market value geare of common stock on the grant date, genereliy ever four years (other than 12,000 non-
employee options which generally vest over one)yaad have a term of ten years. The weighted geegeant-date fair value of service-basec
options granted during the years ended Decembe@®H4, 2013 and 2012 was $2.85, $14.07 and $2¢&6pectively.
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The net compensation costs recorded for the sebased stock options related to employees andtdise@including the impact of the
forfeitures) for the years ended December 31, 22043 and 2012 were $0.8 million, $0.9 million &&16 million, respectively.

The fair value of each service-based stock optramtgfor the reported periods is estimated on #te df the grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model using the weighted averageiaggions noted in the following table.

Year Ended December 31

Service-Based Stock Options 2014 2013 2012
Expected dividend raf 0% 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatilit 82.4%- 88.2% 74.0%—87.9% 73.9%—79.1%
Risk-free interest rat 1.66%- 2.2% 0.1%-2.1% 0.9%-1.5%
Expected life (years 5.5-6.3 5.0-6.3 5.5-6.3

The following table summarizes the activity for\dee-based stock options for the indicated periods:

Weighted Average Aggregate
Weighted Average Remaining Intrinsic

Service-Based Stock Options Options Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 403,98: $ 47.6( 84 $% 674,00(
Grantec 273,37. $ 44.2(

Exercisec (7,20¢) $ 29.6( $ 52,00(
Cancellec (52,88Y $ 40.6(

Forfeited or expired (117,889 $ 43.6(

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 499,37 $ 47.6( 75 $ —
Grantec 75,751 $ 21.32

Exercisec — 3 — $ —
Expired (164,189 $ 51.7¢

Forfeited (113,07 $ 45.3¢

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 297,86( $ 39.5: 7¢ $ —
Grantec 242,028 $ 3.91

Exercisec — $ — $ —
Expired (32,019 $ 42.6:

Forfeited (30,34) $ 32.18

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 477,530 $ 21.7¢ 8C $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 209,37¢ $ 36.4% 65 $ _

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximatel8 8dllion, of total unrecognized compensation aetated to non-vested service-
based stock options granted under the 2009 Plathanérior Plans. That cost is expected to begrized over a weighted-average period of
2.82 years.

The total fair value of stock options vested far $fears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2013MWasnillion, $2.3 million $3.0
million, respectively.

8. Shareholders’ Equity
2013 Stock and Warrant Sale

On August 16, 2013, the Company completed thedafales million shares of common stock and warramtsurchase up to an aggregate of
1.5 million shares of common stock (including 5@ @bares of common stock and warrants sold tortdenwriter pursuant to the exercise of
its over-allotment option). Each share of commimelsand its associated warrant was sold at a poffiering price of $6.00 per share. The
Company received $8.2 million in net proceeds ftomsale of the shares of common stock and war(aisiding the partial exercise of the
over-allotment option), after underwriting discountspuaissions and other offering expenses. The tatahfiarket value of the warrants at
date of issuance was $5.9 million. The sales md&evere first allocated to the warrants basedendtal fair market value and the residual
amount of the sales proceeds were allocated to amstock.

2014 Warrant Exercises
On July 9, 2014, the Company entered into a WakEagtcise Agreement with one holder of warrantadssby the Company on August
2013 (the 2013 Warrants) to purchase an aggre@@2¢600 shares of the Company’s common stockanoalue. Pursuant to the Warrant

Exercise Agreement, the holder agreed to exerbs@®13 Warrants at the existing exercise prick4a0.
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The net proceeds to the Company in connection tivéttexercise of the 2013 Warrants, after dedu@ingrrant inducement payment and
expenses, were approximately $1.5 million.

2014 Stock Purchase Agreement

On January 21, 2014, the Company entered into @pee agreement (Purchase Agreement), togetheawdthistration rights agreement,
for the sale of up to $15.0 million of shares efabmmon stock to Lincoln Park, subject to certianitations, from time to time over a 30-
month period, which began on April 3, 2014 and esrd©ctober 3, 2016. The Company may direct Linédrk, at its sole discretion, to
purchase up to 50,000 shares of common stock idaegurchases, increasing to amounts of up to0D@0shares depending upon the closing
sale price of the common stock. In addition, tleenpany may direct Lincoln Park to purchase additi@mounts as accelerated purchases if
on the date of a regular purchase the closingpae of the common stock equals or exceeds $308hmre. The purchase price of shares of
common stock related to the future funding willdeesed on the prevailing market prices of such staréhe time of sales (or over a period of
up to 10 business days leading up to such time)ntmo event will shares be sold to Lincoln Parkaoday the common stock closing price is
less than the floor price of $2.50, subject to stiient. The Company controls the timing and amofiahy sales of common stock to Lincoln
Park. The Compang’sales of shares of common stock to Lincoln Padeuthe Purchase Agreement are limited to no rinane the number ¢
shares that would result in the beneficial owngrdtyi Lincoln Park and its affiliates, at any singlgnt in time, of more than 9.99% of the then
outstanding shares of the common stock. For thegmded December 31, 2014, the Company issued @BSkhares of common stock to
Lincoln Park and raised gross proceeds of $3.74aniljwith the ability to sell up to an additiondl %3 million more in common stock).

At-the-Market Sales Agreement

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 208 ompany raised net proceeds of $7.1 million&h8 million utilizing the At-the-
Market Sales Agreement (ATM) with MLV & Co. LLC (famerly McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak) (MLV). The Companyrgginally entered into the
ATM with MLV in June 2011 in which the Company msgll shares of its common stock through MLV, agsalgent, in registered
transactions from its shelf registration statenfibed in July 2011, for aggregate proceeds of u26.3 million. Shares of common stock sold
under the ATM are to be sold at market prices. Thmpany will pay up to 3% of the gross proceeddlt as a commission. At
December 31, 2014 there was approximately $7.8amibf net capacity remaining on the ATM.

2014 Public Equity Offering
On September 17, 2014, the Company closed on &mdlity offering whereby it sold 15,784,313 slsané common stock at an offering
price of $2.55 per share (the 2014 offering). Preceeds of $37.5 million, net of $2.4 million afderwriters’ discount and $0.3 million of
issuance costs consisting primarily of legal anzbaating fees, were recorded as a common stoclnssu
Dividends
No cash dividends have been declared or paid bZtmepany since its inception.

9. Net Loss Per Common Share

The following reflects the net loss attributablectommon shareholders and share data used in theadmabkdiluted earnings per share
computations using the two class method:

Year Ended December 31

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amount 2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss $ (19,9200 $ (15,627 $ (29,472
Less: earnings attributable to convertible prefiéstck 6,00t 5,352 3,99:
Numerator of basic and diluted EPS $ (25,92%) $ (20,979 $ (33,46))

Denominator:
Denominator for basic and diluted EPS: weightedrage

common shares outstandi 11,64: 3,01¢ 2,06(
Net loss per share attributable to common sharensld )
(basic and dilutec $ (229 $ (6.99 $ (16.2%)

Common equivalent shares are not included in thutedi per share calculation where the effect oif inelusion would be antiilutive. The
aggregate number of common equivalent sharesdtktatoptions, warrants and preferred stock) thaetbeen
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excluded from the computations of diluted net jpsscommon share for the years ended Decembe34, 2013 and 2012 was 2.3 million,
2.4 million and 1.4 million, respectively.

10. Stock Purchase Warrants

The Company has historically issued warrants telpase shares of the Company’s common stock in ctionewith certain common stock
offerings. The following warrants were outstandéhging the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h?, and include provisions that
could require cash settlement of the warrants e faati-dilution price protection provisions reduir each to be recorded as liabilities of the
Company at the estimated fair value at the datesofance, with changes in estimated fair valuerdszmbas non-cash income or expense in the
Company’s statement of operations in each subs¢geeiod:

January 2010 Class A December 201( August 2013
Warrants Warrants Warrants
Exercise price $ 7.8¢ $ 258§ 4.8(C
Expiration date July 21, 201 December 15, 20: August 16, 201
Total shares issuable on exerc 226,29¢ 15,40¢ 724,95(

The fair values of the warrants are measured ubim@lack-Scholes valuation model. The methodolsdyased, in part, upon inputs for
which there is little market data, requiring then@@mny to develop its own assumptions. The assungptised in calculating the estimated fair
value of the warrants represent the Company’sdsghates, however; these estimates involve inherarertainties and the application of
management judgment. As a result, if factors chayl different assumptions are used, the waiiailiies and the change in estimated fair
value of the warrants could be materially different

Inherent in the Black-Scholes valuation model asumptions related to expected stock-price vaatiixpected life, risk-free interest rate
and dividend yield. The Company estimates thetilityaof its common stock based on historical \wdity that matches the expected remair
life of the warrants. The risk-free interest ristbased on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yieldecan the grant date for a maturity similar to
the expected remaining life of the warrants. Tkgeeted life of the warrants is assumed to be edgmt to their remaining contractual term.
The dividend rate is based on the historical natéch the Company anticipates to remain at zero.

The assumptions used by the Company are summanizled following tables:

January 2010 Class A Warrants December 31, 201. December 31, 201
Closing stock prici $ 3.0 % 3.2¢
Expected dividend raf 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatilil 45.1% 84.6%
Risk-free interest rat 0.1% 0.2%
Expected life (years 0.5t 1.5C
December 2010 Warrants December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Closing stock prici $ 3.0 % 3.2¢
Expected dividend raf 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatilil 99.7% 80.4%
Risk-free interest rat 0.2% 0.4%
Expected life (years 0.9¢ 1.9¢
August 2013 Warrants December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Closing stock prici $ 3.0 % 3.2¢
Expected dividend raf 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatilil 83.2% 77.5%
Risk-free interest rat 1.2% 1.€%
Expected life (years 3.6: 4.6:

11. Fair Value Measurements

The Company'’s fair value measurements are cladsafiel disclosed in one of the following three catexs:

» Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement datediotiédl, unrestricted assets or
liabilities;

* Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are nowactr inputs which are observable, either direstlyndirectly, for substantially the
full term of the asset or liability;
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» Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjiniputs that are both significant to the fair wafneasurement and unobservable
supported by little or no market activity).

The following table summarizes the valuation of @@mpany’s investments and financial instrumerds #ne measured at fair value on a
recurring basis:

December 31, 201. December 31, 201
Fair value measurement categon Fair value measurement categon
(In thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities :
Warrant liabilities $ 1,081 $ — $ 1061 $ 200 $ 2,01¢ 3 — $ 193 $ 8t

The fair values of the warrants are measured ubim@lack-Scholes valuation model. See Note 1@uidher discussion of the significant
observable inputs use to measure the warrantitiabil

The following table summarizes the change in thieneded fair value of the Company’s warrant liaigk:

Warrant Liabilities (In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 20 $ 1,99t
Warrant issuanc 5,87¢
Warrant exercise (513
Decrease in fair value (5,339
Balance at December 31, 2013 2,01¢
Warrant issuanc —
Warrant exercise (965)
Increase in fair value 27
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 1,081

A reconciliation of beginning and ending balanaasthe Company'’s fair value measurements using IL2ugputs is as follows:

Warrants :
Year Ended
(In thousands) December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Beginning balanc $ 85 % 1,99¢
Decrease in fair value (65) (1,910
Ending balance $ 20 $ 85

12. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes for U.S and ndd-dperations was as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

U.S. loss $ (18,079 $ (15,629 $ (29,47

Non U.S. los:¢ (1,847) — —
$ (19,920 $ (15,629 $ (29,47

A reconciliation of income taxes computed usingfaderal statutory rate to the taxes reported éncttnsolidated statements of operatio
as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Loss before income tax $ 19,92( $ 15,62: $ 29,47
Federal statutory ra 34% 34% 34%
Taxes computed at federal statutory | (6,777%) (5,31)) (10,02
State taxes (net of federal bene (463) — —
Warrants (10 (1,81%) (1,44%)
Nondeductible stock compensati 48 81 872
Michigan NOL benefi — (791) (1,229
Net operating loss expiratiol 65E 612 612
Write-off of Section 382 limited NO's 67,78: — —
Write-off of Section 383 limited R&D credit 1,60( — —
Other 352 27 30C
Change in valuation allowance (63,190 7,251 10,91:

Reported income taxes $ — 3 — 3 —




Deferred tax assets consist of the following:
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Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2014 2013

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 709 $ 70,73¢
Research and development credit carryforw. — 1,60(C
Employee benefits and stock compensa 1,89 1,65¢
Research and development cc 2,18¢ —
Fixed asset 254 —
Intangible asset (510 —
Asset Retirement obligatic 127 —
Other, net 301 524
Total deferred tax assets 11,34¢ 74,51,
Valuation allowance (11,345 (74,517
Net deferred tax asse $ — % —

On September 17, 2014, the Company underwent aggehiarcontrol as defined by Section 382 of thermeRevenue Code. A change in
control is generally defined as a cumulative charfgg0% or more in the ownership positions of dartaockholders during a rolling three year
period. This change in control resulted in suliihhimitations being placed on certain tax afiitiés including net operating losses and tax
credit carryforwards. The limitations are compub@aded upon several variable factors includingsélee of the Company on the date of the
change in control. The projected annual limitationthe use of the net operating losses that ekgier to September 17, 2014 is $0.8 milli
As a result, a significant portion of the net opieialosses and tax credit carryforwards will egprior to their utilization, regardless of the
level of future profitability. Accordingly, the @apany reduced our net operating losses and tax caatdyforwards (with a corresponding
adjustment to our valuation allowance) to refléet amount available to offset future profits.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s U.S. fedaral state tax net operating loss carryforwarddale to offset future profits, after
considering the aforementioned annual Section B&2, lare $19.3 million and $7.8 million, respeefy. These net operating loss
carryforwards will expire between 2015 and 2034.

In accordance with the accounting guidance forrmedaxes, the Company estimated whether recovityadifiits deferred tax assets is
“more likely than not,’based on forecasts of taxable income in the relabeglirisdictions. In this estimate, the Compasgs historical resul
projected future operating results based upon agprbusiness plans, eligible carry forward peridals planning opportunities and other
relevant considerations. Based on these facturkiding historical losses incurred by the Companfull valuation allowance for the deferred
tax assets, including the deferred tax assethéoatorementioned net operating losses and crédissbeen provided since they are not more
likely than not to be realized. If the Companyiaghs profitability, these deferred tax assets bmgvailable to offset future income taxes.
decrease in the valuation allowance was $63.2anillor the year ended December 31, 2014 and arfiifli8n increase for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

The Company assesses uncertain tax positions ardartce with the guidance for accounting for uragertax positions. This
pronouncement prescribes a recognition threshalcha@asurement methodology for recording withinfthencial statements uncertain tax
positions taken, or expected to be taken, in the@amy’s income tax returns. To the extent the tagetax positions do not meet the “more
likely than not” threshold, the Company has dere@ed such positions. To the extent the uncertaimbsitions meet the “more likely than
not” threshold, the Company has measured and reddle highest probable benefit, and have estaldliappropriate reserves for benefits tha
exceed the amount likely to be sustained upon exation.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amsurftuncertain tax provision is as follows:

Unrecognized

Income Tax
(In thousands) Benefits
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 2,10¢
Decrease in prior year tax positions (1,200
Balance at December 31, 2013 90C
Decrease in prior year tax positions (900

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ —

It is not anticipated that the unrecognized taxafiénwill significantly increase or decrease wittihe next twelve months.

The Company files U.S. federal, Michigan and Catifa income tax returns. Due to the Company’s petrating loss carryforwards,
Federal income tax returns from incorporation #itessibject to examination. Michigan tax returmms the year ended December 31, 2012 and
forward are subject to examination. California teturns for the year ended December 31, 2012 amehfd are subject to examination.
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13. Concentration of Credit

Revenue from one customer, a distributor in the, Uepresented approximately 76% of total revenureng the year ended December 31,
2014. Excluding that distributor, the largest oustr represented approximately 10% of revenuehiyear ended December 31, 2014 and ne
other customer accounted for more than 10% of ieyeeported. Revenue primarily reflects salesedl# the acquisition of the CTRM
Business from Sanofi since May 30, 2014.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Licenses, Royalties and Collaborative Agreements

University of Michigan— In 1989, the Company entered into a researcheaggat with the University of Michigan (the Univeygiand in
1992, as provided for under the research agreermen€ompany also entered into a license agreefoetite technology developed under the
research agreement. The license agreement, asladhgmovides for a royalty to be paid to the Ursity equal to 2% of net sales of products
containing the licensed technology sold by the Camyp Such royalties have been nominal since lnmepfThis license agreement expired in
2014.

Corning Incorporated— In December 2002, the Company entered into apesgent with Corning Incorporated (Corning) thainged
Corning an exclusive sublicense relating to the gamy’s cell transfection technology. Under thengof the agreement, the Company retain
exclusive rights to the applications of the teclg@ds involving cells for therapeutic applicatioria.addition, the agreement provides for fu
royalty payments on net sales of licensed prodsmts under the sublicense amounting to 5% of satdsap to $50,000,000. However, the
Company does not expect to receive material revéouoethis source for several years, if ever.

RealBio Technologies 4/ May 2009, the Company entered into an agreemihtRealBio Technologies, Inc. (RealBio) that gexh
RealBio an exclusive license to utilize our tecluggl outside of the Company’s core area of focusradin regenerative medicine. In return for
this license, the Company received a minority ggmiterest in RealBio, which was not material aPetember 31, 20142013.

Manufacture, Supply and Other Agreement3he Company has entered into various agreementingko the manufacture of its products
and the supply of certain components. If the mactufing or supply agreements expire or are ottsertérminated, the Company may not be
able to identify and obtain ancillary materialstthee necessary to develop its product and sucinagdqm and termination could have a materia
effect on the Company’s business.

Operating Leases

The Company renewed their operating lease in AroAmMichigan to extend the term of the lease fomdditional five years, which began
on May 1, 2013. The Company has a right to terteioa the third anniversary of the renewal, andtiasfive-year market value renewal
options. In March 2015, the Company subleased @opoof the property in Ann Arbor which is refledté the future minimum payments
below. The Company also leases property in Cameérilfthssachusetts and Kastrup, Denmark which ekplrebruary 2017. The Company
has a right to extend the Cambridge operating l&assvo three-year market value renewal optionsaddition to the property leases, the
Company also leases various vehicles and compgtgprent.

As of December 31, 2014, future minimum paymentgted to Vericel's operating and capital leasesaaréollows:

Payments Due by Perioc

More than
Contractual Obligations Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 5 Years
Operating lease $ 9,80¢ $ 421t $ 4,02: $ 1,32 % 248 $ —
Capital leases 152 43 43 43 23 —
Total $ 9,961 $ 4,25¢ $ 4,066 $ 1,366 $ 271 $ —
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Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2012, was $2.5 million, $1.0 million &1id1 million, respectively.
15. Employee Savings Plan

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan that allawsqipating employees to contribute a portiontedit salary, subject to annual limits
and minimum qualifications. The Board may, asitée discretion, approve Company matching contigbgtto the plan. The Company made
contributions of $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $omillion for the years ended December 31, 2014328nd 2012, respectively.

16. Preferred Stock
Shareholder Rights Plan

In August 2011, the Board of Directors of the Compadopted a Shareholder Rights Plan, as setifottie Shareholder Rights Agreement
between the Company and the rights agent, the parpbwhich is, among other things, to enhanc&ted’s ability to protect shareholder
interests and to ensure that shareholders recaivedatment in the event any coercive takeovengit of the Company is made in the future.
The Shareholder Rights Plan could make it morecditf for a third party to acquire, or could discage a third party from acquiring, the
Company or a large block of the Company’s commonlkst In March 2012, the Board approved an amendtoehe Shareholder Rights Plan
to enable Eastern Capital Limited and its affilsate purchase up to 49.9% of the shares of comitock 8f the Company without becoming an
“acquiring person” and thereby triggering the staalkler rights, with the limitations under the Shieler Rights Plan remaining in effect for
all other stockholders of the Company.

In connection with the adoption of the SharehoRlights Plan, the Board of Directors of the Compdeglared a dividend distribution of
one preferred stock purchase right (Right) for ematstanding share of common stock to stockholderscord as of the close of business on
August 15, 2011. In addition, one Right will autatmally attach to each share of common stock $&etween August 15, 2011 and the
distribution date. As a result of the October 204 rse stock split, the number of Rights assediatith each share of common stock was
automatically proportionately adjusted so thatwinty rights were then associated with each oodétg share of common stock and (ii) so
long as the Rights are attached to the common staekty rights shall be deemed to be deliverecefmh share of common stock issued or
transferred by the Company in the future. The Riglirrently are not exercisable and are attaahead trade with the outstanding shares of
common stock. Each Right entitles the registerddr of common stock to purchase from the Comgaapyit consisting of one ten-
thousandth of a share (Unit) of Series A Junioti€ipating Preferred Stock, no par value per shaire, cash exercise prices of $30.00 per |
There are currently 45,000 shares authorized ardigeued and outstanding. Under the Shareholdgnt&®Plan, the Rights become
exercisable if a person or group becomes an “acgurerson” by acquiring 15% or more of the outdtag shares of common stock or if a
person or group commences a tender offer that wasldlt in that person owning 15% or more of theagmn stock. If a person or group
becomes an “acquiring person,” each holder of &Rigther than the acquiring person and its affkaassociates and transferees) would be
entitled to purchase, at the then-current exemime, such number of shares of the Compsupyeferred stock which are equivalent to shar
common stock having a value of twice the exerciggef the Right. If the Company is acquired imarger or other business combination
transaction after any such event, each holderRifat would then be entitled to purchase, at tleatburrent exercise price, shares of the
acquiring company’s common stock having a valuewvide the exercise price of the Right.

The Rights may be redeemed in whole, but not ity pa& price of $0.001 per Right (payable in casimmon stock or other consideration
deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors) leyBbard of Directors only until the earlier of lije time at which any person becomes an
“acquiring person” or (ii) the expiration date betRights Agreement. Immediately upon the actioih® Board of Directors ordering
redemption of the Rights, the Right will terminated thereafter the only right of the holders oftRsgwill be to receive the redemption price.
The Rights will expire at the close of businessdoigust 15, 2021, unless previously redeemed orangéd by the Company as described
above.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

On March 9, 2012, the Company completed the sal® @08 shares of Series B-1 Non-Voting Convertitrieferred Stock (Series B-1
preferred stock) at an offering price of $3,250 gleare. In addition to the Series B-1 preferredistwhich was issued at the closing, the
Company also authorized Series B-2 Voting Conviertilneferred Stock (Series B-2 preferred stock)e Beries B-1 preferred stock and
Series B2 preferred stock collectively are referred tolas $eries B preferred stock. The Series B prafestack is convertible, at the optior
the holder thereof at any time after the five yaamiversary of the closing of the offering, int@sts of common stock at a conversion price of
$3.25 per share of common stock, at a conversikimafione share of preferred stock for fifty steaof common stock. At any time after the
five year anniversary of issuance, the Company ebegt to convert any or all outstanding sharesenieS B preferred stock into shares of
common stock, subject to certain limitations. Demds on the Series B
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preferred stock will be cumulative and compoundydait a rate of 11.5% per annum, payable upon ecsien, liquidation, redemption or ott
similar events, and payable in cash or Series Beflepred stock until the five year anniversaryssuance. As of December 31, 2014, there at
235,077 accumulated but undeclared Series B-1alindd. Unless prohibited by Michigan law governilggributions to shareholders, the
Series B-1 preferred stock shall be redeemableeabption of holder of the Series B-1 preferrealstmommencing at any time after the five
year anniversary of issuance, liquidation, windiipg dissolution or other similar events, subjeatédain terms and limitation

The Series B preferred stock does not, in its etytirequire liability classification and was eatled for embedded features to determine i
those features require bifurcation and separassifigation as derivative liabilities. The Seri@preferred stock host contract was evaluate
equity or mezzanine classification based upon #tere of the redemption and conversion featuremne@lly, any feature that could require
cash redemption for matters not within the Compsuagntrol, irrespective of probability of the evewturring, requires classification outside
of shareholders’ equity. The Series B preferredistvas initially recorded as mezzanine in the ©bdated Balance Sheets and was accretec
to its redemption value through charges to accutedldeficit using the effective interest method.

On August 12, 2013, the Company amended the Snesferred stock agreement to remove the cashmgtilen provision, modify the
liquidation preferences for the Series B-2 preféstck and to increase the redemption price ®iSéries B-1 preferred stock. The
redemption price, prior to the five year anniveysé now equal to $7,430 multiplied by the numbgSeries B-1 preferred shares redeemed
minus the Company’s closing stock price multiplsdthe number of common shares into which the antihg Series B-2 preferred stock are
convertible. The redemption price, after the fpear anniversary, is the amount equal to the gredtihne Series B offering price plus accrued
dividends or the conversion value in common sto&k.a result of the amendment to the agreementpthbamount of $38.4 million Series B
preferred stock was reclassified from mezzanine shiareholders’ equity.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure
There are none to report.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has established disclosure controlpeowkdures designed to ensure that informationired, to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports that it files or submitsemithe Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as dete(the “Exchange Act”), is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pienimds specified in SEC rules and forms and thelh snformation is accumulated and
communicated to management of the Company, witlpéngcipation of its Chief Executive Officer andi€f Financial Officer (its “Certifying
Officers”), as appropriate, to allow timely decissoregarding required disclosure.

Management of the Company, with the participatibitsocertifying officers, evaluated the effectivess of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a)1d5(d 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Basethem®valuation as of December 31, 2014,
our Certifying Officers concluded that the Companglisclosure controls and procedures were notteféebecause of the material weakness il
our internal control over financial reporting ddébed below.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rule 13a-15
() under the Exchange Act). Our internal contregofinancial reporting is a process designed utttesupervision of our CEO and CFO to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabilfinancial reporting and the preparation of dinancial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accountingipes. Management evaluated the effectivenesaininternal control over financial
reporting using the criteria set forth by the Cottea of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwasn@gsion (COSO) itnternal Control—
Integrated Framewor(2013). Management, under the supervision and twétparticipation of the CEO and CFO, assessedffhetiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting asidcember 31, 2014 and concluded that it was fiettfe because of a material weakness in
our internal control over financial reporting ascebed below.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatif deficiencies, in internal control over fingalaeporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstaternéttte Company’s annual or interim financial sta¢mts will not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. The material weakness relatesg@taluation of significant transactions and tharficial close process. Specifically, we did
have a sufficient level of accounting and supemyigrsonnel nor did we have the appropriate let&tchnical accounting experience and
training necessary for our financial reporting rieguments. This material weakness contributed tasigjents identified by our independent
registered public accounting firm during the quaeteded June 30, 2014. This control deficiency @oesult in a material misstatement in the
consolidated financial statements that would ngbteeented or detected.
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Notwithstanding the material weakness described@hwoe believe the Company’s financial statememtkided in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respedts&e Company’s financial position, results of opieres, shareholders’ equity (deficit),
statements of comprehensive loss and cash flowthéoperiods presented.

Plan for Remediation of Material Weakness

With the oversight of senior management and ouit @ednmittee, we have taken steps to remediatentdterial weakness noted above. We
initiated a plan to remediate the weakness, bu¢ Imav yet fully eliminated this weakness. During fecond quarter, we hired a Chief Finar
Officer (CFO), who has extensive finance experietcaddition, in Q4 we have hired a Director ofi&ice with extensive control and system
implementation knowledge and a qualified Controléth substantial SEC reporting expertise to augneen accounting staff and to provide
more resources to support effective internal cdsitibhe CFO hired in June remains with the orgdiimaand is leading our financial reporting
activities with the assistance from the Controlldtanagement believes that hiring qualified accimgnpersonnel increased the level of
technical accounting knowledge and improved thealeystem of internal controls and which will futemediate this material weakness.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, there shanges made in our internal control over fir@meporting (as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Bange Act), described in the “Plan for RemediatbMaterial Weakness,” that have
materially affected, or are reasonable likely tdemal affect, our internal control over financraporting, related to the remediation of the
material weakness.
Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

PART III

Certain information required by Part Il is omitteBdm this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and is immmmated by reference to our definitive
Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities BRdhange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14¢oimection with our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders scheduled for May 12, 2015.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

The information relating to our directors is incorgted by reference to the Proxy Statement aogétdinder the caption “Election of
Directors.” Information relating to our executigicers is set forth in Part | of this Report undlee caption “Executive Officers.”

Information with respect to delinquent filings puasit to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporalgdeference to the Proxy Statement as
set forth under the caption “Section 16(a) Benafi€iwnership Reporting Compliance.”
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information relating to executive compensaisimcorporated by reference to the Proxy Statemeder the caption “Executive
Compensation and Related Information.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ainagement, and Related Shareholder Matters

The information relating to ownership of our equggcurities by certain beneficial owners and mamege is incorporated by reference to
the Proxy Statement as set forth under the caftotk Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andridgement.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abatector Independence

The information relating to certain relationshipslaelated person transactions is incorporatecfarence to the Proxy Statement unde
caption “Certain Relationships and Related Pargn$actions.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information relating to principal accountarggeand services is incorporated by reference t@tbey Statement under the caption
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Regrsig Public Accounting Firm.”

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ thnnual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Financial Statements (see Item 8).
2. All information is included in the Financial &aents or Notes thereto.
3. Exhibits:
See Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: March 25, 201
Vericel Corporatior

/s/ DOMINICK C. COLANGELO
Dominick C. Colangelt
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10ds§ been signed on behalf of the
registrant on March 25, 2015 by the following p&sm the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ DOMINICK C. COLANGELO President and Chief Executive Officer, Director
Dominick C. Colangel (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl GERARD J. MICHEL Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
Gerard J. Miche of Corporate Development

(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/sl ROBERT L. ZERBE, M.D Chairman of the Board of Directors
Robert L. Zerbe, M.D
/s/ NELSON M. SIMS Director
Nelson M. Sims
/s/ ALAN L. RUBINO Director
Alan L. Rubino
/s/ HEIDI M. HAGEN Director
Heidi M. Hager
/s/ STEVEN C. GILMAN Director

Steven C. Gilmau

/s/ KEVIN F. MCLAUGHLIN Director
Kevin F. McLaughlin

/sl PAUL K. WOTTON Director
Paul K. Wottor
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Description
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Compditgd as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Reémor Form 8-K filed on
December 17, 2009, incorporated herein by refere
3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles afdrporation of the Company dated February 9, 262, as Exhibit 3.2 to th
Compan’s Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to For-1 filed on March 31, 2010, incorporated herein éfgrence
3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles afdmoration of the Company dated March 22, 20t&ached as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 25, 2011, incorporated herein bference
3.4 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Articlétncorporation of the Company, dated November22il4, attached as
Exhibit 3.1 to Verice's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2014, incorporated hergjrrdference
3.5 Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Righftthe Company classifying and designating théeSek Junior Participating
Cumulative Preferred Stock, attached as Exhibit@the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-A fitedAugust 12, 2011,
incorporated herein by referen:
3.6 Amended and Restated Certificate of DesignatiorefeRences and Rights, of the Company classifyimydesignating the
Series B-1 Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stonl ¢he Series B-2 Voting Convertible Preferred Btattached as
Exhibit 3.1 to the Compars Current Report on For8-K filed on August 12, 2013, incorporated hereinréference
3.7 Bylaws, as amended, attached as Exhibit 3.1 t&€tmpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Nowbem12, 2010,
incorporated herein by referen:
4.1 Form of Senior Indenture for Senior Debt Securjtiiéad as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registratétatement on Form S-3
filed on June 16, 2011 and incorporated hereirelfgrence
4.2 Form of Indenture for Subordinated Debt Securifidsg as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registratitatement on Form S-3
filed on June 16, 2011 and incorporated hereirelfgrence
4.3 Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of Augus2d11, between the Company and Continental Stoaksfer & Trust
Company, as Rights Agent, attached as Exhibit@tBé Company’s Current Report on Form 8-A filedfargust 12, 2011,
incorporated herein by referen:
4.4 Amendment to Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated Karch 9, 2012, between the Company and Contah&tock
Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent, attace&xhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current ReporfForm 8-K filed on
March 9, 2012, incorporated herein by refere
10.1 # Form of Indemnification Agreement, attached as BixHi0.1 to the Company’s Registration StatemenfFomm S-1 (No. 333-
15415), filed on November 1, 1996, incorporatecthmeby reference
10.2 # Amended and Restated 1992 Incentive and Non-Qedl8itock Option Plan and forms of agreements theley attached as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration StatetmenForm S-1 (No. 333-15415), filed on Novembet 496, incorporated
herein by referenct
10.3 # Form of Employment Agreement, attached as Exhibi8 1o the Company’s Registration Statement on F&vin(No. 333-
15415), filed on November 1, 1996, incorporatecthmeby reference
10.4 License Agreement, dated March 13, 1992, betweei€timpany and the University of Michigan ¢
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amendments thereto dated March 13, 1992, Octold&99 and June 21, 1995, attached as Exhibit 0. Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 (No. 33:-15415), filed on November 1, 1996, incorporatectheby reference

105 # 2001 Stock Option Plan, attached as Exhibit 100nké¢ Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forykar ended June 30,
2002, incorporated herein by referer

10.6 # 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, attached as Exhibi82@o Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Quarterlpdkeon Form 10Q/A
for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, incotgaitzerein by referenc

10.7 # Form of Option and Restricted Stock Award Agreeradot Grants under 2004 Equity Incentive Planchiga as Exhibit 10.84
to the Compar’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended June 30, 2005, incorporateeitdy reference

10.8 Amendment dated December 5, 2002 to License Agreewith the University of Michigan, attached as Exh10.87 to the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended June 30, 2005, incorporateeil®y reference

109 # 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, attaché&habit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report onnfr8-K filed on
November 8, 2006, incorporated herein by refere

10.10 # Forms of Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreementrants under 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as aménattached as
Exhibit 99.2 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 8, 2006, incorporated hereinrdfgrence

10.11 Form of Purchase Agreement, attached as Exhilit tbGthe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K fitedOctober 16,
2007, incorporated herein by referer

10.12 Form of Warrant, attached as Exhibit 10.4 to then@any’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Octob&y 2007,
incorporated herein by referen:

10.13 Standard Lease between the Company and DominorssH@ffice Park, L.L.C. dated January 31, 2007achted as
Exhibit 10.96 to Amendment No. 1 to the Companyrsaal Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Jun€307,
incorporated herein by referen:

10.14 # 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan, attached as Appendocthe Company’s Proxy Statement filed on Octdhe2009,
incorporated herein by referen:

10.15 Class A Warrant Agreement, dated as of Januarg@10Q, by and between the Registrant and Contin&ttak Transfer &
Trust Company (incorporated herein by referendexaibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on F&i filed with the
SEC on January 27, 201!

10.16 Class B Warrant Agreement, dated as of Januar@@10, by and between the Registrant and Contin&ttak Transfer &
Trust Company (incorporated herein by referendexaibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on F& filed with the
SEC on January 27, 201!

10.17 Underwriting Agreement, dated as of January 1502@mhd between the Registrant and Oppenheimer &n€o(incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Comy’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on January 15, 201

10.18 # Form of indemnification agreement entered into leefvthe Company and each of its directors, attaabétkhibit 10.1 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on August 31, 2010, incorporated hereinréference

10.19 Amended Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, athak Exhibit 14.1 to the Compé¢s Current
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10.20*

10.21

10.22

10.23#

10.24#

10.25#

10.26#

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32#

10.33#

10.34#

Report on Form-K filed on August 31, 2010, incorporated hereinrdference

Contract Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, datedf November 8, 2010, by and between Vention bédformerly
ATEK Medical, LLC) and the Company (incorporateddir by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Compaiysiual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 20:

Warrant agreement, dated as of December 15, 2@1dhdbbetween the Registrant and Continental Stoaksfer & Trust
Company (incorporated herein by reference to ExHildi to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8kdfwith the SEC on
December 16, 2010

Underwriting Agreement, dated as of December 1@02and between the Registrant and Stifel, Nicokaus
Company, Incorporated, Needham & Company, LLC aathapital Partners (incorporated herein by refegdo Exhibit 1.1
to the Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 201

Amendment to the 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan, distaecth 21, 2011 (incorporated herein by referendexhibit 10.4 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed on March 25, 2011

Employment Agreement with Ronnda L. Bartel, PhOiedaviarch 22, 2011 (incorporated herein by refezendeExhibit 10.1 to
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed on March 25, 2011

Employment Agreement with Sharon Watling, Pharm&ted March 22, 2011 (incorporated herein by refezen Exhibit 10.2
to the Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed on March 25, 2011

Senior Executive Incentive Bonus Plan (incorpordtexkin by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Compa@urrent Report on
Form &K, filed on March 25, 2011

At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated JungQlld,, by and among the Company and MLV & Co. LL®II(V”)
(formerly McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak LLC),(incorporatedherein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the CompaBurrent Report on
Form &K filed on June 16, 2011

Master Services Agreement by and between the Coyrgrach PPD, made and entered into as of Septemb2023 (the
“Master Services Agreement”) (incorporated hergimdference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s ArrReport on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 20:

Project Addendum to the Master Services Agreentiated as of November 16, 2011 (incorporated hdrgireference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC November 22, 201.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 9, 20&Ryeen the Company and Eastern Capital Limitedclaed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 9, 2012, incorporated herein bierence.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Mar2@12, by and between the Company and EasternaCapitited
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedhwthe SEC on March 9,
2012).

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2013ahgl between the Company and Daniel R. Orlandoi(rwrated herein k
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 9, 2013)

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 26, 200 2nd between the Company and Brian Gibson (purated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on October 26, 201

Amendment to the 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan, disted 3, 2012 (incorporated herein by referencexbilit 10.1 to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed on August 7, 2012
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10.35 Form of Warrant Exchange Agreement, dated Jun2@I2 (incorporated herein by reference to ExhibitLo the Company’s
Report on Form-K, filed on June 27, 2012

10.36# Executive Resignation Agreement, executed on Deeeitd, 2012, by and between the Company and Tiragleben
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@3ée Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year ended December
31, 2012, filed on March 18, 201:

10.37# Executive Employment Agreement, executed March0432and effective March 1, 2013, by and betweerCihvpany and
Dominick C. Colangelo (incorporated herein by refere to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Report om¥8¢K, filed on
March 9, 2013)

10.38 Form of Warrant Exercise Agreement, dated Septer@be2013 (incorporated herein by reference to ki to the
Compan’s Report on Form-K, filed on September 27, 201:

10.39 Consulting Services Agreement, executed Janua2@®} and effective January 1, 2014, by and betwseCompany and
Ronnda L. Bartel (incorporated herein by refereiocExhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Report on Form &iked on January 14,
2014).

10.40 Underwriting Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2@/3and between the Company and Aegis Capital Gorporporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Compaiegjistration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3881B6) filed on
August 13, 2013)

10.41 Amendment No.1 to At Market Issuance Sales Agreéntated November 29, 2013, by and between the Goynand MLV
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1.1this Compan’s Report on Form-K, filed on November 29, 2013

10.42 Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 21, 2@9hdbetween the Company and Lincoln Park Capital, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.the Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 27, 2014

10.43 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Jan2hyp014, by and between the Company and Lincalk €apital Fund, LL(
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.2hie Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 27, 2014

10.44 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 194 20 and between the Company and Sanofi (incotpdiaerein by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 2, 2014

10.45# Employment Agreement, dated May 13, 2014, by amdéden the Company and Gerard Michel (incorporatéih by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 4, 2014

10.46 Transition Services Agreement, dated as of May28@4, by and between the Company and Genzyme Giipor
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.thie Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 2, 2014

10.47 Transition Supply Agreement, dated as of May 30,420y and between the Company and Genzyme Coipoi@icorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comj's Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 2, 2014

10.48 Form of Warrant Exercise Agreement, dated July0342incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitd.the Company’s
Report on Form-K, filed on July 11, 2014

10.49# Employment Agreement, dated as of March 27, 20¢4rd between the Company and Ross Tubo (incogubtarein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 1, 2014)
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10.50#

10.51#

10.52#

10.53#

10.54#

10.55#

211

23.1

31.1

31.2

321

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.LAB

101.PRE

101.DEF

Employment Agreement, dated as of March 27, 20¢4nd between the Company and David Recker (incated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 1, 2014)

Employment Agreement, dated September 25, 2014ntybetween the Company and Ross Tubo (incorponatein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 25, 201«

Employment Agreement, dated September 25, 201dntybetween the Company and David Recker (incorpaizerein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 25, 201«

Second Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus Incepiawe(previously filed as Appendix Il to the Compandefinitive prox
statement on Schedule 14A, filed on October 214201 incorporated herein by referen:

Employment Agreement, dated November 6, 2014, bybetween the Company and Gerard Michael (incotpdraerein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 12, 2014

Amended and Restated Non employee Director Comfiengauidelines

Subsidiaries of Registrar

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of theb@ae-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Documert

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docum

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrapgecovering executive officers or directors ofidel.
*  Confidential treatment status has been requesttmastain portions thereto, which portions arettad and filed with Securities and
Exchange Commission.
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TERM

GLOSSARY

DEFINITION

Adverse Event

Autologous (Patient Specifii

BLA — Biologics License Application
CLI — Critical Limb Ischemia

CMC — Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control

Controlled Clinical Trial

DCM — Dilated Cardiomyopathy
Double-Blind Clinical Trial

FDA — Food & Drug Administration

GMP — Good Manufacturing Practice

Hematopoietic Stem Cells
IMPACT-DCM

IND — Investigational New Drug
Ischemia

LVEF — Left Ventricular Ejection Fractio
Mesenchymal stromal cells

M2 anti-inflammatory macrophages
Open-label Clinical Trial

Orphan Drug Designation

Any adverse change in health or “side-effect” thaturs in a person participating in a
clinical trial, from the time they consent to jaigi the trial until a pre-specified period of
time after their treatment has been comple

Originating from the patient receiving treatmenexicel uses only autologous cel

An application containing product safety, efficaryd manufacturing information required
by the FDA to market biologics products in the L

A vascular disease characterized by insufficieab8Iflow in the lower extremities that
causes severe pain, tissue loss or k

The composition, manufacture, and control of thegdsubstance and the drug product.
information on the identification, quality, puritgnd strength of the investigational
product.

A clinical study that compares patients receivirgpacific treatment to patients receiving
an alternate treatment for the condition of inter€ke alternate treatment may be anothel
active treatment, standard of care for the comuligind/or a placebo (inactive) treatme

A chronic cardiac disease where expansion of thienis heart reduces the pumping
function to a point that the normal circulationbddod cannot be maintaine

Clinical trials in which neither the patient noetphysician know if the patient received
experimental treatment or a control/place

The U.S. FDA ensures that medicines, medical deyied radiation-emitting consumer
products are safe and effective. Authorized by Cesgto enforce the Federal Food, D
and Cosmetic Act and several other public healilsJahe agency monitors the
manufacture, import, transport, storage, and g8 drillion worth of goods annuall
GMP regulations require that manufacturers, praossand packagers of drugs, medical
devices, some food, and blood take proactive stepasure that their products are safe,
pure, and effective. GMP regulations require aityuapproach to manufacturing, enabl
companies to minimize or eliminate instances otawmination, mi-ups, and error:

Stem cells that give rise to all the blood cellggpncluding myeloid (monocytes and
macrophages, neutrophils, basophils, eosinophifthm@cytes, megakaryocytes/platelets,
dendritic cells), and lymphoid lineages-cells, E-cells, NK-cells).

Vericel's U.S. Phase 2 dilated cardiomyopathy clinical.t

An application submitted to the FDA for a new dargbiologic that, if allowed, will be
used in a clinical trial

A shortage or inadequate flow of blood to a bodst fdmmonly an organ or tissue)
caused by a constriction or obstruction of the 8leessels supplying i

The fraction of blood pumped out of the left verigiwith each heartbee

Connective tissue cells that, in the case of boagow derived MSC, function to support
blood forming cells and secrete inflammatory factors

Specialized blood cells that remove damaged tiasdebacteria and secrete anti-
inflammatory factors

A trial in which both the treating physician ane fhatient know whether they are
receiving the experimental treatment or controtlplzo treatmen

“Orphan drug” refers to a drug or biologic thatrigended for use in the treatment of a rare
disease or condition. Orphan drug designation fiteenU.S. Food and Drug Association
(FDA) qualifies the sponsor to receive certain lfigh&om the Government in exchange
for developing the drug for a rare disease or dwrdi The drug must then go through the
FDA marketing approval process like any other dyubiologic which evaluates for safe
and efficacy. Usually a sponsor receives a quiokeiew time and lower application fees
for an orphan produc
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TERM

DEFINITION

Phase 1 Clinical Trial
Phase 2 Clinical Trial
Phase 2b Clinical Trial

Phase 3 Clinical Trial

Prospective Clinical Trial
Randomized Clinical Trial
Somatic Cell

Stem Cell

A Phase 1 trial represents an initial study in albgroup of patients to test for safety and
other relevant factor:

A Phase 2 trial represents a study in a moderateruof patients to assess the safety an
efficacy of a product

A Phase 2b trial is a moderately-sized Phase Rld is more specifically designed
assess the efficacy of a product than a PhaséaPe

Phase 3 studies are initiated to establish safetyefficacy in an expanded patient
population at multiple clinical trial sites and ayenerally larger than trials in earlier phe

of development

A clinical trial in which participants are idengfi and then followed throughout the study
going forward in time

A clinical trial in which the participants are agséd randomly to different treatment
groups.

Any of the cells responsible for forming the bodyan organism such as internal organs,
bones, skin, connective tissues and bl

Unspecialized (undifferentiated) cells that retdi@ ability to divide throughout a lifetime
and give rise to more specialized (differentiategl)s which take the place of cells that die
or are lost. In culture, these undifferentiatedscpbssess the ability to divide for indefin
periods in culture and may give rise to highly sakzed cells.
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Exhibit 10.55
Nonemployee Director Compensation Guidelines

Following a review conducted by the Compensatiom@ittee (the “Compensation Committee”) of the Boaf@directors (the
“Board”) of the Company of changing practices fompensating outside directors, on March 20, 20i&Board approved a new
compensation arrangement for recognizing the sewioutside directors and more closely aligningrtbverall compensation with the
interests of other shareholders. The ChairmaheBboard will continue to receive an annual fe8&03,000 paid in equal quarterly incremer
Each nonemployee director will receive an annualde$40,000 paid in equal quarterly incrementke hairperson of the Audit Committee
the Board (the “Audit Committee”) will receive anraual fee of $18,000, and each non-chair memb#reoAudit Committee will receive an
annual fee of $8,000, payable quarterly. The Cleasgn of the Compensation Committee will receivammual fee of $12,500, and each non-
chair member of the Compensation Committee willticwre to receive an annual fee of $5,000, payabéatgrly. The Chairperson of the
Governance and Nominating Committee of the Bodre {Governance Committee”) will receive an annea 6f $10,000, and each non-chair
member of the Governance Committee will continueetive an annual fee of $5,000, payable quartBitgctors will not be paid a separate
amount for each board or committee meeting attené@dh nonemployee director who continues to seey®nd an Annual Shareholder
Meeting will also receive a stock option to puraha8s,000 shares granted on Januaiy 1  of eaclh yisag with an exercise price equal to the
fair market value of the common stock on the déigrant, and will vest in equal quarterly incremgeaver a period of one year. Any
nonemployee director joining the Board mid-yead ¥ provided a pro-rata annual grant for servigt the next Annual Meeting. In addition,
each current nonemployee director received a one-$itock option to purchase 15,000 shares on M2cB015, and any future nonemployee
director who joins the Board will also receive a&dime stock option to purchase 15,000 shares@ddke of such director’s appointment, with
an exercise price equal to the fair market valuthefcommon stock on the date of such grant, anégsbin equal monthly installments over a
period of three years. These equity grants wiliiaele under the terms of the existing equity comg@s plans. These new arrangements
replaced the previous nonemployee director compiemnsgrogram.




EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT
Aastrom Biosciences GmbH, Germany

Marrow Donation, LLC
Astrom BIOSCIENCES DK ApS




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No8-B37346, 333-174758, 333-163832,
333-140624, 333-121006, 333-115505, 333-81340,53F556, 333-38886 and 333-25021) of Vericel Corponaiof our report dated
March 25, 2015 relating to the consolidated finahsiatements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
Detroit, Michigan
March 25, 201!




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Dominick C. Colangelo, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fK/ericel Corporation for the year ended Decen8ier2014;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) iflas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alndave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DOMINICK C. COLANGELO
Dominick C. Colangel
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 25, 201




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Gerard J. Michel, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fK/ericel Corporation for the year ended Decen8ier2014;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) iflas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alndave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl GERARD J. MICHEL
Gerard J. Miche
Chief Financial Officer and Vice Preside
of Corporate Developme
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 25, 201




EXHIBIT 32.1

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Vericel @oration (Company) on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2014, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelsatof (Report), each of the undersigned officéth@ Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Section) 9@ following:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities ErgleaAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of
Company.

/s/ DOMINICK C. COLANGELO
Dominick C. Colangelt
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

/s| GERARD J. MICHEL
Gerard J. Miche
Chief Financial Officer and Vice Preside
of Corporate Developme
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 25, 201

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to Vericel Catan and will be retained by Vericel
Corporation and furnished to the Securities anchBErge Commission or its staff upon request.
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